UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO

Singularities and Complexity in CR Geometry

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

 in

Mathematics

by

Jiří Lebl

Committee in charge:

Professor Peter Ebenfelt, Chair Professor Salah Baouendi Professor Linda Preiss Rothschild Professor Joel Sobel Professor Ross Starr

2007

Copyright Jiří Lebl, 2007 All rights reserved. The dissertation of Jiří Lebl is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm:

Chair

University of California, San Diego

2007

Markétě

My hovercraft is full of eels! —Monty Python

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Signature Page		
Dedication			
	Table of Contents v		
	Acknowledgements		
	Vita and Publications		
	Abstract of the Dissertation		
1	Introduction11.1Complex variables background31.2Submanifolds and subvarieties61.3Semialgebraic and subanalytic sets81.4CR geometry101.5Levi-flat submanifolds and subvarieties14		
2	Singularities of Levi-flat hypersurfaces162.1Submanifolds of the singularity162.2Proof of Theorem 2.2182.3Invariants of the singularity232.4Examples29		
3	Submanifolds inside Levi-flat hypersurfaces323.1Uniqueness property for holomorphic functions323.2Submanifolds inside Levi-flat hypersurfaces373.3Algebraic submanifolds40		
4	Almost minimal submanifolds424.1Almost minimal submanifolds and Levi-flat hypersurfaces424.2Algebraic submanifolds444.3Infinitesimal CR automorphisms454.4Example50		
5	Boundaries of Levi-flat hypersurfaces535.1Main results535.2Locally flat boundaries565.3Extension across flat boundaries605.4Counterexamples625.5Almost minimal submanifolds64		

	5.6	Almost minimal example
	5.7	Subanalytic hypersurfaces
	5.8	Algebraic boundaries
6	Prop	er mappings between balls
	6.1	General problem $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	6.2	Monomial mappings
	6.3	Bound for all monomial mappings
	6.4	Bound for large source dimension
	6.5	Optimal polynomials
	6.6	Rational and polynomial proper mappings
	6.7	Relating monomial and polynomial proper mappings $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ 95$
Bil	oliogr	aphy

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Peter Ebenfelt for many fruitful discussions, guidance, and patience in the past several years that he has been my adviser.

I would like to thank John D'Angelo and Han Peters for being wonderful to work with as my coauthors on the proper ball mapping problem, and I am looking forward to working with them further refining our results.

I would also like to thank Salah Baouendi, Nordine Mir, Linda Preiss Rothschild and Dmitri Zaitsev for many useful comments, suggestions, help and improvements on these, and other, results.

I would like to thank Professors Salah Baouendi, Linda Preiss Rothschild, Joel Sobel and Ross Starr for being on my committee.

Finally, I am grateful to Markéta for just being there for me. And for putting up with me, when I am spaced out thinking about random nonsense (mathematics).

VITA

January, 1978	Born, Prague, Czechoslovakia
2001	B. A., San Diego State University
2002	Teaching assistant, Department of Mathematics, San Diego State University
2003	M. A., San Diego State University
2004–2007	Teaching assistant, Department of Mathematics, University of California San Diego
2007	Ph. D., University of California San Diego

PUBLICATIONS

Jiří Lebl, *Extension of Levi-flat hypersurfaces past CR boundaries*, Indiana Univ. Math. J., to appear. preprint arXiv: math.CV/0612071.

John P. D'Angelo, Jiří Lebl, and Han Peters, *Degree Estimates for Polynomi*als Constant on a Hyperplane, Michigan Math. J., to appear. preprint arXiv: math.CV/0609713.

Jiří Lebl, Nowhere minimal CR submanifolds and Levi-flat hypersurfaces, J. Geom. Anal., **17** (2007), no. 2, 321–342. preprint arXiv: math.CV/0606141.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Singularities and Complexity in CR Geometry

by

Jiří Lebl Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

University of California San Diego, 2007

Professor Peter Ebenfelt, Chair

Several related questions in CR geometry are studied. First, the structure of the singular set of Levi-flat hypersurfaces is investigated. The singularity is completely characterized when it is a submanifold of codimension 1, and partial information is gained about higher codimension cases.

Second, a local uniqueness property of holomorphic functions on real-analytic nowhere minimal CR submanifolds of higher codimension is investigated. A sufficient condition called almost minimality is given and studied. A weaker property, not being contained inside a possibly singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface is studied and characterized, and a sufficient and necessary condition is given in terms of normal coordinates.

One natural generalization of this problem is the classification of codimension 2 real-analytic CR submanifolds, which are locally the boundaries of C^{∞} Leviflat hypersurfaces. These submanifolds are completely classified in terms of their normal coordinate representation. In fact, an extension theorem is proved allowing smooth Levi-flat hypersurfaces to always be extended past CR submanifolds and in most cases forcing such hypersurfaces to be real-analytic. Examples are found that this extension result is optimal.

Finally, relation of the complexity of a mapping and the source and target dimensions is studied for proper holomorphic mappings between balls in different dimensions. A conjecture of John D'Angelo states that a mapping from n to N

dimensions has degree less than or equal to $\frac{N-1}{n-1}$, as long as $n \ge 3$, and 2N-3 when n = 2. The special, but highly nontrivial, case of monomial mappings and a related problem in real algebraic geometry is studied and a weaker bound is proved. The more general cases of polynomial and rational mappings is also treated. In the general rational case, this problem can be thought of as a generalization of the local uniqueness property studied before to vector valued holomorphic functions.

1 Introduction

We will be studying several related questions in CR geometry, and hence we will begin by giving a quick introduction to CR geometry. The background on CR geometry comes mostly from [BER99, Bog91, D'A93], and so the reader should consult those for more details and proofs of any results given here. For the background on complex-analytic subvarieties the reader should consult [Whi72].

In chapter 2 we will study the singularity set of a real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface. Singularities of Levi-flat hypersurfaces have been previously studied by Burns and Gong [BG99], by Bedford [Bed77], and more recently by Brunella [Bru07]. By analogy to complex-analytic subvarieties, it is reasonable to believe that the singularity is either complex-analytic or Levi-flat. We will prove this is the case when the singularity is a submanifold of maximal dimension and we will get partial information about higher codimension cases.

In chapter 3 we will study a certain uniqueness property of holomorphic functions with respect to real submanifolds of codimension 2. Suppose that we have two holomorphic functions f and g, such that on some real submanifold M we have |f| = |g|. If this implies f = cg everywhere for a constant c, we will say M has the modulus uniqueness property. When M does not have this uniqueness property, we know that there exists a certain possibly singular Levi-flat hypersurface, which contains M. We will study and characterize when M is contained in a Levi-flat hypersurface in terms of its normal coordinates. For this we will utilize our results from chapter 2. The results from chapters 2, 3 and 4 come from the paper [Leb07].

A natural related question is to ask when are submanifolds the boundaries of smooth Levi-flat hypersurfaces. Such a question has been recently studied by Dolbeault, Tomassini and Zaitsev [DTZ]. Related questions were also studied by Straube and Sucheston [SS03]. In \mathbb{C}^2 such a question has been studied for a long time, beginning with Bishop [Bis65], and further for example by Moser and Webster [MW83], Bedford and Gaveau [BG83], or more recently for example by Gong in [Gon04]. However, in \mathbb{C}^2 this question is uninteresting near CR points of the boundary.

We will be studying, in chapter 5, the local behavior near a generic real-analytic boundary of a C^{∞} Levi-flat hypersurface. We will completely classify such boundaries locally in terms of their normal coordinates. We will also prove a local extension and uniqueness theorem. It turns out that if the boundary has nontrivial CR structure, there is a unique real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface containing the submanifold, forcing our original hypersurface to be real-analytic. We will provide examples to show our theorems are optimal. These results have been published in [Leb].

In chapter 4, we will study a certain class of generic submanifolds we call *almost minimal*, which exhibit certain properties similar to those of minimal submanifolds in the sense of Tumanov [Tum88]. We will give examples of such submanifolds, which are nowhere minimal. We will prove a finite jet determination result for holomorphic mappings of such submanifolds and for infinitesimal holomorphisms. We will further provide connections to previous chapters, as almost minimal submanifolds can be useful examples of singular behavior of the CR structure in nowhere minimal submanifolds. For example, we prove that an almost minimal submanifold of codimension 2 cannot be contained in a Levi-flat hypersurface, while all algebraic nowhere minimal submanifolds are contained in such hypersurfaces. Therefore the example in section 4.4 is an example of a submanifold, which is not equivalent to any real-algebraic submanifold. Examples of such hypersurfaces both minimal and nonminimal can be found in [BER00] and [HJY01].

Finally, in chapter 6, we will be studying proper holomorphic mappings from the unit ball to the unit ball. Let $\mathbb{B}_n \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be the unit ball. A topological mapping is proper if pullbacks of compact sets are compact. If the mapping extends continuously to the boundary this is equivalent to the mapping taking the boundary to the boundary. A basic question in CR geometry is therefore the following: Suppose that $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ is a proper holomorphic mapping. How can we relate the "complexity" of f to the dimensions n and N? It is not hard to see that no such f can exist if n > N. Forstnerič [For89] proved that if f is sufficiently smooth up to the boundary, then f is a rational mapping, and further, that there exists a bound for the degree of f in terms of n and N. Hence, one measure of complexity of f is the degree of f. Given that the mapping z^d is a proper mapping from the unit disc to itself, the case n = 1 is uninteresting. When $n = N \ge 2$, Pinčuk [Pin75] proved that f must be a linear fractional transformation and thus of degree 1. Faran [Far82] proved that when n = 2 and N = 3, then $d \le 3$, and further, he identified all examples up to automorphisms.

D'Angelo has made a systematic study of of these mappings, see for example [D'A03, D'A88, D'A93]. He made the following conjecture: If n = 2 then $\deg(f) \le 2N - 3$, and if $n \ge 3$ then $\deg(f) \le \frac{N-1}{n-1}$. There exist monomial examples (each component of the mapping is a monomial) that achieve both bounds, and the bound is proved for monomials when n = 2 in [DKR03]. In [DLP], together with D'Angelo and Peters, the author proved the sharp bound under additional conditions and and a weaker bound in general. We will explore these in chapter 6.

For general mappings, Huang and Ji [Hua99, HJ01] and Huang, Ji and Xu [HJX06] studied the low codimension case for all mappings with sufficient regularity at the boundary. Meylan [Mey06] recently improved the bound on the degree for all rational mappings if n = 2.

1.1 Complex variables background

First, we will fix some terminology. We will be working in \mathbb{C}^N , and we will frequently write the coordinates as $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_N)$. Note that if $z \in \mathbb{C}$ we can write z = x + iy, where $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ are the real and imaginary parts of z. Therefore, we can think of \mathbb{C}^N as $\mathbb{R}^{2N} = \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N$ by writing $z_k = x_k + iy_k$. Complex conjugation is defined by $\bar{z}_k := x_k - iy_k$. We define the complex differentials

$$dz_k := dx_k + idy_k, \quad \text{and} \quad d\bar{z}_k := dx_k - idy_k. \tag{1.1}$$

Next we define the vectors $\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_k}$ in the only way possible such that $dz_k(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}) = 1$, $d\bar{z}_k(\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_k}) = 1$, and any other combination gives zero. That is:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} := \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} - i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} \right) \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_k} := \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} + i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} \right). \tag{1.2}$$

For a C^1 function $f \colon \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}$ we define

$$\partial f := \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_k} dz_k \text{ and } \bar{\partial} f := \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_k} d\bar{z}_k.$$
 (1.3)

Note that if d is the standard exterior differentiation, then $df = \partial f + \bar{\partial} f$.

We will use the multiindex notation, where $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n)$ is a multiindex and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ (or \mathbb{C}^n), then $x^{\alpha} = x_1^{\alpha_1} x_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots x_n^{\alpha_n}$. By $|\alpha|$ we will mean $\alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_n$.

A function $f: U \subset \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}(\text{or } \mathbb{C})$ is said to be *real-analytic* if near every point $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ there exists a convergent power series

$$\sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha} (x-a)^{\alpha}, \tag{1.4}$$

and where this power series converges (and where f(x) is defined), it equals f(x). If f is complex valued we let c_{α} be complex, otherwise c_{α} is real. As we are considering only local questions, we will from now on consider a = 0.

If we are working in \mathbb{C}^N , and think of this as \mathbb{R}^{2N} , then by substituting z = x + iyand $\bar{z} = x - iy$, we get a power series in z and \bar{z}

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta} c_{\alpha\beta} z^{\alpha} \bar{z}^{\beta}.$$
 (1.5)

And if f is real valued then $c_{\alpha\beta} = \overline{c_{\beta\alpha}}$.

A C^1 function $f: U \subset \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}$ is said to be *holomorphic* if $\bar{\partial} f = 0$ at all points in U. These are called the *Cauchy-Riemann* equations. A holomorphic function can be shown to be real-analytic and in fact have a power series representation

$$\sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha} z^{\alpha}.$$
 (1.6)

In particular we notice that we can treat z and \overline{z} (formally) as independent variables when working with real-analytic functions. In fact, when f is not holomorphic, we will write f(z) as $f(z, \overline{z})$ as f(z) will be reserved for holomorphic functions. If a power series in z and \bar{z} is convergent, then if we replace \bar{z} with w, then the power series is still convergent. This idea is called *complexification* or *polarization*. So if the power series $P(z, \bar{z})$ converges on U, then P(z, w) converges on $U \times {}^{*}U$ where ${}^{*}U$ is the image of U under the complex conjugation. Note however that if $f(z, \bar{z})$ is real-analytic in U, it need not be the case that f(z, w) is defined on all of $U \times {}^{*}U$. If we are interested only in local properties we can usually assume that U is small enough such that f has a convergent power series in all of U and hence complexifies to $U \times {}^{*}U$.

When we consider mappings $f : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^m$, then we say f is real-analytic (resp. holomorphic), whenever all the m components of f are real-analytic (resp. holomorphic). We will say that f is a biholomorphism if f has a holomorphic inverse.

We will use the following standard theorem. It is really a theorem about power series and hence there are both real variable and purely algebraic statements of it. We use the standard notation for coordinates in \mathbb{C}^n that $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) = (z', z_n)$. That is z' is the first n - 1 coordinates.

Theorem 1.1 (Weierstrass preparation theorem). Let $f: \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ be a function analytic in a neighbourhood U of the origin such that $\frac{f(0,z_n)}{z_n^m}$ extends to be analytic at the origin and is not zero at the origin for some positive integer m (in other words, as a function of z_n , the function has a zero of order m at the origin). Then there exists a polydisc $D \subset U$ such that every function g holomorphic and bounded in D can be written as

$$g = qf + r, \tag{1.7}$$

where q is an analytic function and r is a polynomial in the z_n variable of degree less than m with the coefficients being holomorphic functions in z'.

A function such as r is called a *pseudopolynomial*, that is a polynomial in z_n such that the coefficients are holomorphic functions of z'. When a pseudopolynomial is monic and further all the coefficients vanish at z' = 0, then it is called a *Weierstrass* polynomial. We will really mostly be using the following corollary.

Corollary 1.2. Let f be as above, then there is a unique representation of f as f = hW, where h is analytic in a neighbourhood of the origin and $h(0) \neq 0$ and W being a Weierstrass polynomial.

1.2 Submanifolds and subvarieties

A subset $M \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is said to be a C^k (real) submanifold $(k = 1, ..., \infty, \omega, \omega)$, where ω means real-analytic) of (real) codimension d, if near every point $p \in M$, there is a neighbourhood $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ of p, and a C^k submersion $\rho: U \to \mathbb{R}^d$, such that $M \cap U = \rho^{-1}(\{0\})$. n - d is said to be the (real) dimension of M.

Similarly, a complex submanifold of codimension d is a subset $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ of codimension d, if near every point $p \in M$, there is a neighbourhood $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ of p, and a holomorphic submersion $\varphi \colon U \to \mathbb{C}^d$, such that $M \cap U = \rho^{-1}(\{0\})$. N - d is said to be the (complex) dimension of M.

The elements of the submersion $\rho = (\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_d)$ are said to be the *defining* functions of M.

When we consider a submanifold of $M \subset \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ as a subset of \mathbb{C}^N we will emphasize this by saying M is a *real submanifold*. Note that if M is a complex submanifold of \mathbb{C}^N of codimension d (and dimension N - d), then it is also a real submanifold of real codimension 2d (and real dimension 2N - 2d).

What we mean by submanifold some authors refer to as embedded (or imbedded) submanifold. This is to differentiate from *immersed submanifold*, which need not be locally closed. M is an immersed submanifold of codimension d if it is the image of an abstract manifold by an immersion.

Suppose $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ (resp. \mathbb{C}^N). Then $V \subset U$ is a real-analytic (resp. complexanalytic) subvariety of U, if V is closed in U, and for every point $p \in U$, there exists a neighbourhood N of p and a family \mathcal{F} of real-analytic (resp. holomorphic) functions $f: N \to \mathbb{R}$ (resp. \mathbb{C}), such that $V \cap N = \{x \in N \mid f(x) = 0, \forall f \in \mathcal{F}\}$. Note that on an open dense subset of V, V is a real-analytic (resp. complex) submanifold. One can define the dimension of V at such a point and then the dimension of the whole subvariety is the maximum of the dimensions at all points near which V is a submanifold. Note that by unique continuation of analytic functions, if $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ (resp. \mathbb{C}^N) is connected and dimension of V is equal to n(resp. N), then U = V. It can also be proved that we can always pick \mathcal{F} to be a

 $^{{}^1\}rho$ is a submersion if the matrix with elements $\frac{\partial \rho_j}{\partial x_k}$ is of maximal rank at all points.

finite family of functions. On the other hand, it is a hard question in general to decide exactly how many functions are needed.

Proposition 1.3. The intersection of two (complex or real) subvarieties of an open set U is again a subvariety of U.

If V is a complex-analytic subvariety (of U), the set of points at which V is not a complex submanifold, called the singular set and denoted Sing(V), is a complexanalytic subvariety (of U).

The second part of the above proposition need not be true for real-analytic subvarieties. However, the singular set of a real-analytic subvariety V is contained in a proper subvariety of V of lower dimension².

For convenience, we will usually denote by V^* the nonsingular points of V at which V is a submanifold of the same dimension as V and by V_s everything else. It is many times convenient to consider nonsingular points of a subvariety, which are of lower dimension than other points, to be somehow singular.

A real-analytic subvariety could be (or contain) a C^k submanifold of the same dimension even at a singular point. For example, in \mathbb{R}^2 the subvariety $y^3 = x^8$ is a C^2 submanifold (it is the graph of the C^2 function $y = |x|^{8/3}$), and it is singular at the origin. The following theorem of Malgrange says that in some sense this cannot happen for smooth submanifolds. See Malgrange [Mal67] Chapter VI, Proposition 3.11.

Theorem 1.4 (Malgrange). Suppose that $M \subset V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ where M is a C^{∞} submanifold and V is a real-analytic subvariety and $\dim(V) = \dim(M)$. Then M is a real-analytic submanifold.

A subvariety V of an open set U is said to be *irreducible* if for any decomposition of V into two subvarieties $V = V_1 \cup V_2$ implies that $V = V_1$ or $V = V_2$.

Proposition 1.5. If V is a subvarieties of U, then there exists finitely many irreducible subvarieties V_1, \ldots, V_k called the irreducible components or branches of V.

²Proper subvariety of V is a subset of V that is again a subvariety of the ambient open set, but not equal to V.

Remark 1.6. To make the above precise as a definition of branches, we want to take the maximal such collection V_j . There are real-analytic examples where this matters.

A germ of a set V at a point p, denoted by (V, p), is the equivalence class of sets containing p such that $V_1 \sim V_2$ if and only if there exists a neighbourhood N of p such that $V_1 \cap N = V_2 \cap N$.

With this definition we define the germs of subvarieties and submanifolds. The definition of germ is especially useful for analytic subvarieties and submanifolds because of unique analytic continuation. I.e. if V_1 and V_2 are two irreducible complex-analytic subvarieties of the same open set U, and $(V_1, p) = (V_2, p)$ for some $p \in V_1 \cap V_2$, then $V_1 = V_2$. This is not true in general for real-analytic subvarieties. However, we can always complexify and get at least partial such results. For example, if V_1 and V_2 are hypersurfaces and p is a point of codimension 1. We define an *irreducible* germ in a similar way.

Note that even if a subvariety is irreducible in U the germ (V, p) may not be irreducible. However, we can choose a small enough neighbourhood such that the decomposition of U into irreducible components has such property.

Proposition 1.7. Let V be a subset of U, and $p \in V$. There exists a neighbourhood N of p such that $N \cap V$ has a decomposition into irreducible branches V_1, \ldots, V_k and (V_j, p) are irreducible as germs for $j = 1, \ldots, k$.

Similarly we can define the germ of a function f, denoted (f, p). I.e. the equivalence class of functions under the relation $f \sim g$ if and only if there exists a neighbourhood U of p such that $f|_U = g|_U$.

1.3 Semialgebraic and subanalytic sets

For more details than we give in this section, see Bierstone and Milman [BM88]. Let $V \subset U_x \times U_y$ be a real subvariety. Suppose that x are the coordinates in U_x , and y are the coordinates in U_y . It is not always true that if π_x is the projection function onto the x coordinates, that $\pi_x(V)$ is a subvariety of U_x , nor even of an open subset of U_x . Let us look at the semialgebraic case first. Consider the $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, defined by real polynomials $p_{j\ell}$, $j = 1, \ldots, k$, $\ell = 1, \ldots, m$, and the relations $\epsilon_{j\ell}$, where $\epsilon_{j\ell}$ is >, =, or <.

$$A = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{m} \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \mid p_{j\ell}(x) \ \epsilon_{j\ell} \ 0, \ j = 1, \dots, k \}.$$
(1.8)

Sets of this form are said to be *semialgebraic*. Similarly as algebraic subvarieties, they are closed under finite union and intersection. However, they are also closed under complement. In general arbitrary intersection of semialgebraic sets is not semialgebraic.

On a dense open subset of A, A is (locally) a submanifold, and hence we can easily define the dimension of A to be the largest dimension at points at which A is a submanifold. It is not hard to see that a semialgebraic set lies inside an algebraic subvariety of the same dimension.

Theorem 1.8 (Tarski-Seidenberg). The set of semialgebraic sets is closed under projection.

Emboldened by such success, we can try to do the same thing in the analytic setting. However, Tarski-Seidenberg does not hold here.

Let $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Suppose $\mathcal{A}(U)$ is any ring of real valued functions on U. Define $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}(U))$ to be the smallest set of subsets of U, which contain the sets $\{x \in U \mid f(x) > 0\}$ for all $f \in \mathcal{A}(U)$, and is closed under finite union, finite intersection and complement.

A set $V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is *semianalytic* if and only if for each $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, there exists a neighbourhood U of x, such that $V \cap U \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{O}(U))$, where $\mathcal{O}(U)$ here denotes the real-analytic real valued functions.

Again on a dense open subset of V, V is (locally) a submanifold, and hence we can easily define the dimension of V to be the largest dimension at points at which V is a submanifold. It is not hard to see that a semianalytic set lies inside a subvariety of the same dimension.

A variation on Tarski-Seidenberg by Lojasiewicz is the following. Suppose that $\mathcal{A}(U)$ is again an arbitrary ring of functions on $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Let $\mathcal{A}(U)[t]$ denote the ring of polynomials in $t \in \mathbb{R}^m$ with coefficients in $\mathcal{A}(U)$.

Theorem 1.9 (Tarski-Seidenberg-Lojasiewicz). Suppose that $V \subset U \times \mathbb{R}^m \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+m}$, is such that $V \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}(U)[t])$. Then the projection of V onto the first n variables is in $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}(U))$.

Since Tarski-Seidenberg does not hold in general, we say $V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a *subanalytic* set if for each $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, there exists a relatively compact semianalytic set $X \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+m}$ and a neighbourhood U of x, such that $V \cap U$ is the projection of X onto the first n coordinates.

Subanalytic sets are again on an open dense set submanifolds, and hence we can again define dimension. However, subanalytic sets are not in general contained in any subvariety of the same dimension. A useful theorem that we will need is the following.

Theorem 1.10. A subanalytic set A can be written as a locally finite union of submanifolds.

Subanalytic sets are still not completely closed under projections however. Note that a real-analytic subvariety that is not relatively compact can have a projection which is not a locally finite union of submanifolds, and hence is not subanalytic.

1.4 CR geometry

CR geometry is essentially studying the properties of objects invariant under biholomorphic transformations. We say a subset $S \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is *biholomorphically* equivalent to $S' \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ at if there exists an open set U such that $S \subset U$ and a one to one holomorphic mapping $F: U \to \mathbb{C}^N$ such that F(S) = S'. We say S is *locally* biholomorphically equivalent (at $p \in S$) to S' if there exists a neighbourhood Uof p, a one to one holomorphic mapping $F: U \to \mathbb{C}^N$ and a neighbourhood U' of F(p), such that $F(S \cap U) = S' \cap U'$.

When we consider real-analytic subvarieties of \mathbb{C}^N we are treating \mathbb{C}^N as \mathbb{R}^{2N} as above. From now on we will be working only in \mathbb{C}^N and hence when talking about real objects we will make the identification $\mathbb{C}^N = \mathbb{R}^{2N}$.

Real analytic or complex submanifolds as defined above are also subvarieties of some open set. As we have complexified real-analytic functions on \mathbb{C}^N , we can complexify real-analytic submanifolds and subvarieties by taking their defining functions and complexifying those. Again note that just because M is a realanalytic submanifold of U does not mean that we can complexify M to $U \times {}^*U$. But since locally any submanifold or subvariety has only finitely many defining functions, we can pick a small neighbourhood N such that there exist finitely many power series converging in this neighbourhood, which are the defining functions for M in this neighbourhood. Then we can complexify $M \cap N$ to be a complex submanifold (or subvariety) of $N \times {}^*N$. Also note that to guarantee that the complexified M is still a submanifold we might need to take N even smaller to guarantee that the defining functions are still a submersion.

We define the *tangent space* at $p \in \mathbb{C}^N$

$$T_p \mathbb{C}^N = \operatorname{span}\left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}\Big|_p, \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k}\Big|_p \mid k = 1, \dots, N\right\},$$
 (1.9)

and the tangent bundle $T\mathbb{C}^N = \bigcup_{p \in \mathbb{C}^N} T_p \mathbb{C}^N$.

We define the *complex structure* of \mathbb{C}^N to be the mapping $J: T\mathbb{C}^N \to T\mathbb{C}^N$, linear on each tangent space, and

$$J\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}\right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} \text{ and } J\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_k}\right) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}.$$
 (1.10)

Let M be a real submanifold and let ρ_k , $k = 1, \ldots, d$, be the defining functions for M. Then the tangent space to M is defined by

$$T_p M = \{ v \in T_p \mathbb{C}^N \mid d\rho_k(v) = 0, k = 1, \dots, d \},$$
(1.11)

and the tangent bundle by $TM = \bigcup_{p \in M} T_p M$.

We define the complex tangent space 3

$$T_p^c M := T_p M \cap J(T_p M). \tag{1.12}$$

We complexify TM to $\mathbb{C} \otimes TM$, that is we let $\mathbb{C}T_pM := \mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} T_pM$, which really just means that we take the basis of the vector space T_pM , and allow complex coefficients. We can extend J linearly to $\mathbb{C} \otimes TM$ and we can look at $\mathbb{C} \otimes T^cM$.

³This is incredibly bad (but standard) notation. It is in fact a real vector space, not a complex one.

J as a linear mapping on $\mathbb{C} \otimes T_p^c M$ has two eigenvalues, -i and i. We can take the two corresponding eigenspaces and call them $T_p^{1,0}M$ and $T_p^{0,1}M$ such that $\mathbb{C} \otimes T_p^c M = T_p^{1,0}M \oplus T_p^{0,1}M$. It turns out that $T_p^{1,0}M$ are those tangent vectors we can write in terms of $\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$, and $T_p^{0,1}M$ are the vectors we can write in terms of $\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$. That is,

$$T_p^{1,0}M = \left\{ v \in \mathbb{C} \otimes T_pM \mid v = \sum_{k=1}^N a_k \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}, \ a_k \in \mathbb{C} \right\},$$
(1.13)

and similarly for $T_p^{0,1}M$. $T_p^{1,0}M$ are called the holomorphic tangent vectors and $T_p^{0,1}M$ are called the antiholomorphic tangent vectors or CR vectors.

If the dimension of $T_p^c M$ (and hence of $T_p^{1,0}M$ and $T_p^{0,1}M$) is constant along M, then M is said to be a CR submanifold. The complex dimension of $T_p^{0,1}M$ is called the CR dimension of M. In this case, we can define the vector bundles $T^c M$, $T^{1,0}M$, and $T^{0,1}M$ in the obvious way. Vectorfields (sections of the bundle) in $T^{0,1}M$ are called the CR vectorfields

If $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a real submanifold defined by ρ_1, \ldots, ρ_d , such that $\partial \rho_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \partial \rho_d \neq 0$, then M is said to be a *generic* submanifold. If we need more than one neighbourhood and more than one set of defining functions, M is generic if and only if it is generic in all of them. It is not hard to prove that this is equivalent to saying that $T_pM + J(T_pM) = T_p\mathbb{C}^N$ for all $p \in M$. A generic submanifold is automatically CR, the opposite is not true in general.

Proposition 1.11. If $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a generic submanifold and $U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ a connected open subset such that $U \cap M \neq \emptyset$. Then the smallest (the intersection of) complexanalytic subvariety of U which contains M is all of U.

Note that Proposition 1.11 implies that if a holomorphic function is 0 on a generic submanifold, then it is zero everywhere. We also have the following proposition which allows us to concentrate on generic submanifolds, rather than all CR submanifolds.

Proposition 1.12. Suppose M is a real-analytic CR submanifold, then there exists a germ of a complex-analytic submanifold V_0 at 0 such that $(M, 0) \subset V_0$. And (M, 0) is germ of a generic submanifold inside V_0 . \mathcal{X}_p is said to be the *intrinsic complexification* of M. We can therefore study local properties of CR submanifolds inside their intrinsic complexifications and hence just consider generic submanifolds.

Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be C^{∞} or a real-analytic generic submanifold. The bundle $T^c M$ need not be integrable, however the following is true by a theorem of Nagano [Nag66] in the real-analytic case and Sussmann [Sus73] in the smooth case.

Proposition 1.13. Let M be a real-analytic (resp. smooth) generic submanifold, and $p \in M$. Then there exists a germ Orb_p of a real-analytic (resp. smooth) submanifold of M, of the same CR dimension as M, which is unique and smallest in the sense that if N_p is another germ of a submanifold of M with the same CR dimension, then $\operatorname{Orb}_p \subset N_p$.

 Orb_p will be referred to as the CR orbit of M at p. If p is real-analytic we will also quite frequently look at the germ \mathcal{X}_p which we will define as the intrinsic complexification of Orb_p .

If $\operatorname{Orb}_p = (M, p)$, then we will say that M is minimal (in the sense of [Tum88]) at p. When Orb_p is a proper submanifold for all $p \in M$, then M is said to be nowhere minimal.

A CR submanifold with CR dimension 0, is said to be *totally real* and if it is generic, it is called *maximally totally real* submanifold. For example, if $\mathbb{R}^N \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is the standard embedding, then \mathbb{R}^N is a maximally totally real submanifold.

For a generic submanifold $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$, we will consider M in *normal coordinates* $(z, w) \in \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^d$, where d is the real codimension of M and n is the CR dimension of M, and M is given by

$$w = Q(z, \bar{z}, \bar{w}), \tag{1.14}$$

where Q is a holomorphic mapping defined in a neighbourhood of the origin in $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^d$, $Q(0, \zeta, \omega) \equiv Q(z, 0, \omega) \equiv \omega$, and $Q(z, \zeta, \overline{Q}(\zeta, z, w)) \equiv w$. We should note, however, that normal coordinates are not unique, but they are guaranteed to exist.

Proposition 1.14. If M is a connected real-analytic generic submanifold through the origin, then there exist suitable local coordinates near the origin such that near the origin M is given by (1.14). It is not hard to see that this is equivalent to the real equation

$$\operatorname{Im} w = \varphi(z, \bar{z}, \operatorname{Re} w), \qquad (1.15)$$

where φ is an \mathbb{R}^d -valued real-analytic mapping, such that $\varphi(0, \bar{z}, s) \equiv \varphi(z, 0, s) \equiv 0$.

A C^1 function $f: M \to \mathbb{C}$ is such that df(X) = 0 whenever X is a section of $T^{0,1}M$, then f is said to be a *CR function*. I.e. f is annihilated by the antiholomorphic vectors. If $f: U \to \mathbb{C}$ is a holomorphic function, and M is a submanifold of U, then $f|_M$ is a CR function on M, however the inverse need not be true in general. It is true in case M and f are real-analytic.

Proposition 1.15. Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a generic real-analytic submanifold and $f: M \to \mathbb{C}$ a real-analytic CR function. Then f extends to a unique holomorphic function on a neighbourhood of M in \mathbb{C}^N .

1.5 Levi-flat submanifolds and subvarieties

A generic submanifold M is said to be *Levi-flat* when the bundle T^cM is integrable. By a theorem of Newlander-Nirenberg [NN57], the foliation given by this bundle is then locally a foliation by complex submanifolds. This foliation is called the *Levi foliation* of M. If V is an irreducible real-analytic subvariety of codimension 1, we say it is *Levi-flat* if it is Levi-flat at all the points of V^* , that is all nonsingular points of codimension 1.

We will mostly be interested in Levi-flat hypersurfaces, i.e. submanifolds or subvarieties of codimension 1. When we say a possibly singular real-analytic hypersurface we will mean subvariety of codimension 1.

In [BG99] Burns and Gong prove the following two Lemmas.

Lemma 1.16. Let K be a real-analytic subvariety of codimension 1 ($0 \in K$) defined by $r(z, \bar{z}) = 0$, for r an irreducible real-analytic real valued function. Then for some small neighbourhood U of 0, r complexifies (the Taylor series r(z, w)converges for $z \in U$, $\bar{w} \in U$) and is irreducible as a holomorphic function. **Lemma 1.17.** If a subvariety K defined by an irreducible function r, and let U be as in Lemma 1.16. Then if $K^* \cap U$ is Levi-flat at a single point, then $K^* \cap U$ is Levi-flat at all points.

From this we show the following lemma for an arbitrary $U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$.

Lemma 1.18. Let $H \subset U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ (U connected open set) be an irreducible realanalytic subvariety of U of codimension 1. If there exists a point $p \in H^*$ and a neighbourhood $N \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ of p, such that $H^* \cap N$ is Levi-flat, then H is Levi-flat (i.e. H is Levi-flat at all points).

Proof. By Lemma 1.16 we can find a collection of open neighbourhoods U_j and for each U_j we find irreducible branches A_{j1}, \ldots, A_{jn} of H in U_j , and assume that each $A_{jk} \subset U_j$ satisfies the above property. Let H' be a union of those A_{jk} such that $A_{11} \subset H'$ and if $A_{jk} \subset H'$ and $A_{\ell m} \cap A_{jk}$ is of codimension 1, then $A_{\ell m} \subset H'$. It is clear that H' is a subvariety of U and since H is irreducible then H' = H. It is clear that all the A_{jk} are Levi-flat if and only if A_{11} is Levi-flat, and we are done.

Note that if $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is generic Levi-flat real-analytic submanifold of codimension d, then locally M is biholomorphically equivalent to the set defined by $\operatorname{Im} z_1 = \cdots = \operatorname{Im} z_d = 0.$

2 Singularities of Levi-flat hypersurfaces

2.1 Submanifolds of the singularity

In this chapter we will prove the following theorem, which is a corollary of the more technical Theorem 2.2 below.

Theorem 2.1. Let $H \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface, and let $M \subset H_s \cap \overline{H^*}$ be a smooth submanifold, then for p on an open dense set of M, the germ of M at p is contained in some germ of a proper complex subvariety or generic real-analytic Levi-flat submanifold of real dimension 2N - 2.

We will consider a singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface $H \subset U$, $0 \in H$, where U is an open neighbourhood of the origin in \mathbb{C}^N and $H = \{z \in U \mid \rho(z, \bar{z}) = 0\}$, for a real valued real-analytic function ρ . As we are interested in local properties of H we will assume that U is small enough such that ρ can be complexified to $U \times {}^*U$, where ${}^*U = \{z \mid \bar{z} \in U\}$. Further, we will assume that U is connected. As before we will denote by H^* the nonsingular points of dimension 2N - 1. Then we let $H_s := H \setminus H^*$. We note that it is not necessarily true that $\overline{H^*} = H$, even if H is irreducible. Since H is real-analytic, we say that H is Levi-flat, if near each $p \in H^*$ there are suitable holomorphic coordinates such that H is given by Im $z_1 = 0$. By Lemma 1.18, if H is irreducible we only need to check this property at one $p \in H^*$.

Our main result about Levi-flat hypersurfaces is the following theorem.

Theorem 2.2. Let $H \subset U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface, then

$$H_s \cap \overline{H^*} \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} M_j \tag{2.1}$$

where $M_j \subset U_j$ for some countable collection of open sets $U_j \subset U$, and where M_j is either a proper complex-analytic subvariety of U_j or a generic real-analytic Levi-flat submanifold of real dimension at most 2N - 2.

Theorem 2.1 follows from this technical result.

Proof of Theorem 2.1. By the above theorem, $M \subset \bigcup M_j$. Suppose that there is no point in M such that near that point $M \subset M_j$ (as germs) for some j. That means, $M \cap M_j$ is nowhere dense in M (it does not contain an open set). But there are only countably many such sets, and so by Baire category theorem they cannot cover all of M, which would be a contradiction. Thus there has to exist a point p where M is contained (as a germ at p) in some M_j . This holds on an open set near p as well, and furthermore, since it holds for all open U, by taking U smaller we can see that it has to hold on an open dense set of M.

A useful weaker result, at a point where H_s is a submanifold of codimension one in H, is the following.

Corollary 2.3. Let H be a singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface defined in a neighbourhood of the origin in \mathbb{C}^N , and suppose that H_s is a manifold of dimension 2N - 2 and $H_s \subset \overline{H^*}$. Then H_s is either complex-analytic or Levi-flat.

Proof. If H_s was of a different type, then all the Levi-flat and complex-analytic M_j 's have an intersection of a lower dimension with H_s . By Baire category theorem again, this is not possible, as there are only countably many.

Thus we have a complete categorization of singularities if they are of highest possible dimension and are in the closure of the nonsingular points. There are examples where the singular set is complex (e.g. $\{z \mid \text{Im } z_1^2 = 0\}$) or Levi-flat (e.g. $\{z \mid (\text{Im } z_1)(\text{Im } z_2) = 0\}$). More examples can be found in section 2.4 but it is not clear that an irreducible hypersurface can have a Levi-flat singularity. A smooth CR submanifold is said to be of *finite type* at $p \in M$ if the CR vector fields, their complex conjugates and finitely many commutators of these, span the complexified tangent space $\mathbb{C}T_pM$ ($\mathbb{C}T_pM = \mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} T_pM$). In case M is real-analytic, being finite type at p is equivalent to being minimal at p. It is not hard to see that if M is finite type at p, then there cannot exist a holomorphic function in a neighbourhood of p which is real valued on M. We can now rule out all smooth finite type generic submanifolds of any codimension being contained in Levi-flat hypersurfaces.

Corollary 2.4. Let $H \subset U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface, and let $M \subset \overline{H^*}$ be a smooth generic submanifold. Then M is not of finite type at any point.

Proof. Take a point $p \in M$. If $p \in M \cap H^*$, then there is some neighbourhood of p, where in suitable local coordinates H is given by $\operatorname{Im} z_1 = 0$, and thus z_1 is real valued on an open set of M. Since if M would be of finite type at p, it would be of finite type in a neighbourhood of p. If there exists a real valued holomorphic function on M near p, M cannot be of finite type at p. So let $p \in H_s$. Again if M would be of finite type at p then it would be so near p, and there would either be a point $q \in M \cap H^*$ where M was of finite type, which we now know cannot happen, or $M \subset H_s$ as germs at p. But then by Theorem 2.1 for some point $q \in M$, where M would be of finite type, it would be contained as germ in either a complex variety or a Levi-flat generic submanifold which is again impossible. Thus M cannot be of finite type.

2.2 Proof of Theorem 2.2

Before going into the proof of Theorem 2.2, let us fix some notation and background. Let Σ_z be the *Segre variety* of H at the point z, that is the set $\{\zeta \in U \mid \rho(\zeta, \bar{z}) = 0\}$, and let Σ'_z be the branches of Σ_z completely inside H. We say that Σ_z is *degenerate* if Σ_z contains an open set of \mathbb{C}^N , that is, if $\Sigma_z = U$ if Uis connected. We will the following lemma about Levi-flat hypersurfaces, this is proved in [BG99].

Lemma 2.5. Let $H \subset U$ be as above and Levi-flat, and suppose $z \in H$ is such that Σ_z is non-degenerate. Then Σ'_z is non-empty, and further one branch of Σ'_z passes through z. If $z \in H^*$, then Σ'_z has only one branch through z, and this is the unique germ of a complex variety through z.

Also, since we could pick U smaller and smaller, one branch of Σ'_z must therefore always pass through z.

If ρ is a defining function for H in a neighbourhood U, then at all points of H_s , ρ must have a vanishing gradient, since otherwise H would be a nonsingular hypersurface at that point. In fact, picking a possibly smaller $U, \{z \in H \mid \partial \rho(z, \bar{z}) = 0\}$ is a proper subvariety of H containing H_s (here ∂ means the exterior derivative in the z variables). Assume H is irreducible, complexify ρ into $U \times {}^{*}U$, and let $\mathcal{H} = \{(z,\zeta) \in U \times {}^*U \mid \rho(z,\zeta) = 0\}.$ Then by Lemma 1.16, ρ is irreducible as a holomorphic function (in a possibly smaller neighbourhood), and thus generates the ideal of \mathcal{H} by the Nullstellensatz at every point in $U \times {}^*U$. Therefore, the gradient of the complexified ρ does not vanish at all nonsingular points of \mathcal{H} . Near any $p \in H^*$ we have a local defining function with nonvanishing gradient near p, which when complexified divides ρ . That means, near p, H^* complexifies to a germ of a smooth complex hypersurface in $U \times {}^*U$ contained in \mathcal{H} . Since H^* is totally real in this complex hypersurface we know $\partial \rho$ cannot vanish identically on H^* (or it would vanish in all of \mathcal{H} since it is irreducible). Hence, $\partial \rho = 0$ defines a proper lower dimensional subvariety of H which contains H_s . We cannot quite say it equals H_s , as a point p could be in H^* , but the point (p, \bar{p}) could a priory be a singular point of \mathcal{H} .

Lemma 2.6. Let $H_1, H_2 \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be two connected nonsingular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurfaces, such that $0 \in H_1 \cap H_2$. If U is a sufficiently small neighbourhood of 0, and $H_1 \cap U \neq H_2 \cap U$, then there exists a possibly empty proper complexanalytic subvariety $A \subset U$ such that $(U \cap H_1 \cap H_2) \setminus A$ is either empty or a generic real-analytic Levi-flat submanifold of codimension 2. Proof. We let U be small enough such that $H_1 \cap U$ and $H_2 \cap U$ are closed in U and hence we can assume that $H_1, H_2 \subset U$. Further, let U be small enough such that there exist holomorphic coordinates in U where H_1 is given by $\text{Im } z_1 = 0$ and H_2 is given by Im f = 0, where f is holomorphic with nonvanishing differential. The set where the complex differentials of f and z_1 are linearly dependent is a complexanalytic subvariety. If the complex differentials are everywhere linearly dependent, then f depends only on z_1 and thus the intersection of H_1 and H_2 is complexanalytic. Suppose that outside a subvariety A, f and z_1 have linearly independent differentials. Locally, in an even smaller neighbourhood, we can change coordinates again to make $f = z_2$. Then the intersection is locally defined as $\text{Im } z_1 = \text{Im } z_2 = 0$, and we are done.

Proof of Theorem 2.2. Recall that to prove the Theorem, we will cover $H_s \cap \overline{H^*}$ by countably many Levi-flat submanifolds of codimension 2 and local complexanalytic subvarieties. These submanifolds and subvarieties need not lie in H itself, we just want their union as sets to contain $H_s \cap \overline{H^*}$.

Let $H'_s := H_s \cap \overline{H^*}$. The place in the proof where we fail to cover all of H_s , if $H_s \not\subset \overline{H^*}$, is in the application of Lemma 2.5.

Assume that H is irreducible. If it is reducible, and we prove the result for each branch, then it is also true for the union of those branches. This is because if K and L are branches of $H = K \cup L$, then $H_s = K_s \cup L_s \cup S$, where S is the set of points of $K^* \cap L^*$, where $K^* \cap L^*$ is not a hypersurface. Hence, if we have covered K_s and L_s , the only other points that need to be covered are points of S. If $p \in S$ we pick a small enough neighbourhood of p and apply Lemma 2.6. We can also assume H it is irreducible in arbitrarily small neighbourhoods of 0 as well for the same reason (so irreducible as a germ).

First we note that the points $z \in U$ where Σ_z is degenerate lie inside a complexanalytic variety, because $z \in \Sigma_w$ implies $w \in \Sigma_z$ by reality of ρ . So that means that if z is a degenerate point, then it is contained in Σ_w for all $w \in U$, and thus is inside a complex-analytic subvariety A. Because we only care about a countable union of local varieties and manifolds, we can just cover $U \setminus A$ by smaller neighbourhoods and work there. Thus we can assume that U contains no degenerate points. Suppose $0 \in H$, and suppose that a branch of Σ_0 , call it A again, is contained in H_s . Again, since we only care about a countable union of local varieties and manifolds, we can cover $U \setminus A$ by small neighbourhoods and work there. Thus we can assume that Σ_0 has no branch that is contained in H_s (and thus not in H'_s).

By Lemma 2.5, Σ'_0 is non-empty and we now know that no branch of it is contained completely in H'_s . So we know that there exists a point $\zeta \in \Sigma'_0$ such that $\zeta \in H^*$. As Σ'_0 at $\zeta \in H^*$ is the unique complex variety (again by Lemma 2.5) passing through ζ we know that Σ'_{ζ} shares this branch with Σ'_0 .

We can of course pick this ζ in a topological component of $(\Sigma'_0)^* \cap H^*$, where $(\Sigma'_0)^*$ is the nonsingular part of Σ'_0 , such that 0 is in the closure of this component. As no branch of Σ'_0 lies inside H'_s and there is at least one branch through 0, then at least one topological component of $(\Sigma'_0)^* \cap H^*$ will be such that 0 is in its closure.

We look at a small neighbourhood V of ζ such that $H \cap V$ is connected and nonsingular, and further, such that H is defined in V by Im f(z) = 0, for some f holomorphic in V where the gradient of f does not vanish in V.

Pick a nonsingular real-analytic curve $\gamma: (-\epsilon, \epsilon) \to H$ such that $\gamma(0) = \zeta$, $\{\gamma\} \subset V$, and furthermore, that γ is transverse to the Levi foliation of H^* . We can do this by just changing coordinates in V such that $z_n = f$, and then our curve might be $t \mapsto t\alpha$ where $\alpha \in C^n$ and α_n is not real. Once we have γ we can look at the sets $\Sigma_{\gamma(t)}$ for various t. These are given by $\{z \mid \rho(z, \overline{\gamma(t)}) = 0\}$. However, we can just look at the zero set of the function $(z, t) \mapsto \rho(z, \overline{\gamma(t)}) = 0\}$. However, we can pick γ such that $\rho(0, \overline{\gamma(t)})$ is not identically zero since if it were for all choices of γ (by varying α above), then Σ_0 would contain an open set in H^* and thus would be degenerate, and we assumed it was not. We can complexify t and look at the zero set of $\rho(z, \overline{\gamma(t)})$ in $U \times D_{\epsilon}$ (where D_{ϵ} is the disk of radius $\epsilon > 0$).

Next apply the Weierstrass preparation theorem, which we can do in some neighbourhood of (0,0) in $U' \times D_{\epsilon'} \subset U \times D_{\epsilon}$ and we get a polynomial

$$F(z,t) = t^m + \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} a_j(z)t^j,$$
(2.2)

whose zero set is the zero set of $\rho(z, \bar{\gamma}(t))$. Outside of the discriminant set of $F, \Delta \subset U'$, we have (locally) *m* holomorphic functions $\{e_j\}_1^m$ which give us the

solutions to $F(z, e_j(z)) = 0$. We look at the places where these solutions are real, that is the points in U' where $e_j - \bar{e_j} = 0$. To be able to complexify we look at the function

$$i^m \prod_{j,k=1}^m (e_j(z) - \overline{e_k(z)}).$$
 (2.3)

It is easy to see that this is a real function. Furthermore, it is symmetric both in the $e_j(z)$ and the $\overline{e_k(z)}$, this means that after complexification we have a well defined holomorphic function in $(U' \times {}^*U') \setminus (\Delta \times {}^*\Delta)$, and continuous in all of $(U' \times {}^*U')$ and thus holomorphic in $(U' \times {}^*U')$. (see [Whi72] for more). Thus we have a real-analytic function, say $\hat{\rho} \colon U' \to \mathbb{R}$ that is locally outside of Δ given by $i^m \prod_{j,k=1}^m (e_j(z) - \overline{e_k(z)})$.

We let $\hat{H} := \{\hat{\rho} = 0\}$. We need to now see that $(H \cap U') \cap \hat{H}$ is open in H, because then $(H \cap U') \subset \hat{H}$ as H is irreducible in U' and we can apply Lemma 1.16 as we can always pick a smaller U'.

It is obvious that $\Sigma'_{\gamma(0)} \cap U'$ is in both H and \hat{H} . The trouble is for other t, as $V \cap U'$ may in fact be empty. Because of how we picked ζ , we note that the topological component of $(\Sigma'_{\gamma(0)})^*$ where ζ lies is connected to 0. So we can find a nonsingular point ζ' of $\Sigma'_{\gamma(0)}$ on this component that is arbitrarily close to 0, and thus inside U'. We can pick a finite sequence of overlapping neighbourhoods $\{V_j\}$ from ζ to ζ' such that inside each V_j , H is given by $\operatorname{Im} f_j(z) = 0$ (for some f_j holomorphic in V_j). We call the final neighbourhood V' and assume $V' \subset U'$ and there H is given by $\operatorname{Im} f'(z) = 0$ (for some f' holomorphic in V'). It is easy to see that the Levi foliation is given by $f_j(z) = r$ for some real r, and that these sets must agree on $V_j \cap V_k$. Thus for some $\epsilon'' > 0$, for all $|t| < \epsilon''$, we have a component of $\Sigma_{\gamma t}$ passing through V which also passes thorough V' which contains ζ' . But $V' \subset U'$ and \hat{H} and H both contain all points $\{z \mid f'(z) = t, |t| < \epsilon''\}$ and that is an open set in H.

Now that we know that H is contained in \hat{H} , we can remove Δ , which is complex-analytic, and work only in small neighbourhoods where \hat{H} is given by $\prod(e_j(z) - \overline{e_k(z)})$. Since $e_j(z) - \overline{e_k(z)}$ is pluriharmonic, and thus its real and imaginary parts are pluriharmonic, meaning that we can represent them as the imaginary part of a holomorphic function, that is $\operatorname{Im} f_{jk}(z) + i \operatorname{Im} g_{jk}(z)$. Thus we get locally that

$$\hat{\rho}(z,\bar{z}) = i^m \prod_{j,k=1}^m (\operatorname{Im} f_{jk}(z) + i \operatorname{Im} g_{jk}(z)).$$
(2.4)

If $\operatorname{Im} f_{jk}(z) + i \operatorname{Im} g_{jk}(z)$ is zero then $(\operatorname{Im} f_{jk}(z))(\operatorname{Im} g_{jk}(z))$ is also zero. Thus we can make yet a larger surface by looking at the zero set of

$$\hat{\hat{\rho}}(z,\bar{z}) = \prod_{j,k=1}^{m} (\operatorname{Im} f_{jk}(z)) (\operatorname{Im} g_{jk}(z)).$$
(2.5)

That is just a product of the imaginary parts of holomorphic functions. We can now take out the set where the gradient of f_{jk} and g_{jk} vanish, which is a complexanalytic set and work in smaller neighbourhoods outside this set. We can take these neighbourhoods small enough such that each Im $f_{jk} = 0$ and Im $g_{jk} = 0$ defines a nonsingular, connected hypersurface. The singular set of H must be contained in the intersection of at least two of these surfaces (if there is more than one left). This intersection is a generic real-analytic Levi-flat submanifold of codimension 2 outside a complex-analytic subvariety by Lemma 2.6.

2.3 Invariants of the singularity

In this section we will discuss some local biholomorphic invariants of the singularity of a singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface. Since a nonsingular Levi-flat hypersurface is defined locally by $\text{Im } z_1 = 0$ in suitable coordinates, there are no local invariants. If, however, we allow singularities, the story changes. In this section we will discuss several local invariants of singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurfaces.

Let an irreducible Levi-flat hypersurface H be defined in U by a single realanalytic function ρ as before, which complexifies to $U \times {}^*U$. By Lemma 1.16, we know ρ is irreducible as a holomorphic function. This means that if ρ' is another defining function for H such that it complexifies to $U \times {}^*U$, it is also irreducible and defines the same complexification. Let Σ_p again be the Segre variety in U of H at p defined by $\{z \mid \rho(z, \bar{p}) = 0\}$. We therefore have: **Proposition 2.7.** Let $H \subset U$ be as above, then Σ_p is independent of the defining function of H.

Of course in the above we only consider those defining functions which complexify to $U \times {}^{*}U$, otherwise the Segre variety is not well defined for that defining function. We could drop the requirement that H is irreducible since we can just apply the proposition to each irreducible branch as there are only finitely many.

Let $f: U \subset \mathbb{C}^N \to \tilde{U} \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a biholomorphism. $\rho \circ f^{-1}$ is a defining function for $\tilde{H} := f(H)$, and it complexifies to $\tilde{U} \times {}^*\tilde{U}$, because ρ complexifies to $U \times {}^*U$. Then we have the following proposition. We let $\tilde{\Sigma}_q$ be the Segre variety of \tilde{H} in \tilde{U} at q.

Proposition 2.8. Let f, H, U, \tilde{H} and \tilde{U} be as above. Then $f(\Sigma_p) = \tilde{\Sigma}_{f(p)}$.

In particular we have the dimension of the Segre variety at a point is a local invariant. Hence a hypersurface with a degenerate Segre variety is not locally biholomorphic to one which has a non-degenerate Segre variety.

Another invariant which is suggested by the above discussion and the examples of Levi-flat hypersurfaces in general is the following. Let $p \in H$.

$$n(H,p) = \min\{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid \exists \text{ neighbourhood } V \text{ of } p,$$

a holomorphic $f: V \to \mathbb{C}^n$,
and a Levi-flat hypersurface $\tilde{H} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$,
such that $H \subset f^{-1}(\tilde{H})$ and $f^{-1}(\tilde{H})$ is a hypersurface}
(2.6)

Note that if $f^{-1}(\tilde{H})$ is a hypersurface, it is necessarily Levi-flat. We need to pull back the Levi-foliation of \tilde{H} by f to see this. n(H, p) is obviously a local invariant at p. To see that it is not trivial we note that there are lots of hypersurfaces such that n(H, p) = 1 at all points. For example, if a hypersurfaces is defined by Im g = 0 for a holomorphic function g. However, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 2.9. Let $H \subset U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a Levi-flat hypersurface, where U is small enough as before. If Σ_p is degenerate, then $n(H, p) \geq 2$. Proof. Suppose not, then there is a holomorphic function $f: V \to \mathbb{C}$ such that the inverse image of some real-analytic line \tilde{H} by f is a hypersurface and contains H. This means that f cannot be constant. In fact near p, if \tilde{H} is defined by some real-analytic function ρ near f(p), then $\rho(f(z), \overline{f(z)}) = 0$ defines a hypersurface containing H. We assume $0 \in \tilde{H}$. $\rho \circ f$ may not be a defining function, but it is divisible by a defining function. Hence the set $\rho(f(z), \overline{f(p)}) = 0$ contains the Segre variety of this hypersurface and hence Σ_p . So we just need to see that $\rho \circ f$ is not identically zero. If this is so, then $\rho(z, \bar{z})$ is divisible by \bar{z} , therefore also by z, and thus by $|z|^2$. Hence ρ was not a defining function of \tilde{H} .

Proposition 2.10. Suppose H is defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a holomorphic function, then n(H, p) = 1 for all $p \in H$.

Proof. If H is given by Im f = 0, then f is the required mapping and the real line is \tilde{H} .

The hypersurface in \mathbb{C}^2 defined by $z\bar{w} - \bar{z}w = 0$ is a set with n(H, 0) = 2 by Proposition 2.9 and n(H, p) = 0 at all other $p \in H$. In fact we have:

Proposition 2.11. Suppose H is defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function and $0 \in H$, then $n(H,0) \leq 2$. Further, the set where n(H,p) = 2 is contained in a complex-analytic subvariety of codimension 2.

Proof. What we mean by H being defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of f/g is $f\bar{g} - \bar{f}g = 0$. So (f,g) is the required mapping into \mathbb{C}^2 and $\{z\bar{w} - \bar{z}w = 0\}$ is the required \tilde{H} . The set where n(H,p) is 2 must be contained in the indeterminacy set of f/g (if in lowest terms at p, $\{f = g = 0\}$). Elsewhere either f/g or g/f is holomorphic and hence we can apply Proposition 2.10.

Let $z_1 = x_1 + iy_1$. Then the surface $H \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ defined by $x_1^2 - y_1^3 = 0$ is Levi-flat (obviously) and n(H, p) = 1 for all $p \in H$. This is the example given by Burns and Gong [BG99] as an example of a hypersurface not given by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function.

A different invariant, that may in fact be related to the Segre variety, is the attaching of analytic discs. For simplicity and without loss of generality, we will work in a polydisc $\mathbb{D}^N \subset \mathbb{C}^N$, i.e. the set $\{z \in \mathbb{C}^N \mid |z_k| < 1, k = 1, ..., N\}$. We will also only consider Levi-flat hypersurface H, defined by a single real-analytic defining function ρ which complexifies to $\mathbb{D}^N \times {}^*\mathbb{D}^N$, and such that $0 \in H$.

We define the set

$$H_D := \bigcup \{ \Delta \subset \mathbb{D}^N \mid \Delta \text{ an analytic disc attached to } H \}.$$
 (2.7)

By an *analytic disc*, we mean the image of a continuous mapping $\delta \colon \overline{\mathbb{D}} \to \mathbb{C}^N$, which is holomorphic in \mathbb{D} (the unit disc in \mathbb{C}). I.e., $\Delta = \delta(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$. We say Δ is *attached to* H if $\delta(\partial \mathbb{D}) \subset H$.

Since \mathbb{D}^N is pseudoconvex, then if $\delta(\partial \mathbb{D}) \subset \mathbb{D}^N$, then $\delta(\mathbb{D}) \subset \mathbb{D}^N$.

Proposition 2.12. If $H \subset \mathbb{D}^N$ is defined by Im f = 0 for a holomorphic f, then $H_D = H$. In fact, if Δ is an analytic disc attached to H, it lies in a set defined by f = c for some real constant c.

Proof. The composed holomorphic function $f \circ \delta \colon \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a holomorphic function that extends to the boundary of the unit disc and is real valued there, hence it is constant.

Such an outcome is not true in general, even if the hypersurface H is defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function. The simplest example in \mathbb{C}^2 , with coordinates z and w, is the hypersurface defined by $|z|^2 - |w|^2 =$ 0. This is the same hypersurface as $z\bar{w} - \bar{z}w = 0$ after a holomorphic change of coordinates. We will just assume we are working in \mathbb{D}^2 .

Proposition 2.13. If $H \subset \mathbb{D}^2$ is defined by $|z|^2 - |w|^2 = 0$, then $H_D = \mathbb{D}^2$.

Proof. We can get explicit formulas for the analytic disc in terms of Möbious mappings, but we will give a simpler proof and leave the computation to the reader. We just note that the hyperplane defined by $w = w_0$ for some fixed $w_0 \neq 0$ intersects H in the circle $|z|^2 = |w_0|^2$. There exists an analytic disc $\{(z, w_0) \mid |z|^2 \leq |w_0|^2\}$. Similar argument can be given by fixing $z = z_0$. The union of these discs is then obviously \mathbb{D}^2 , that is the set $\{(z, w) \mid |z|^2 < 1, |w|^2 < 1\}$. So we have that $\mathbb{D}^2 \subset H_D$.
As it is not clear that pullbacks of analytic discs are analytic discs, we cannot generalize this result easily to all hypersurfaces defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function. As analytic discs have been used by Tumanov [Tum88] and others to fill the Segre sets and hence the intrinsic complexification of a CR orbit of submanifold, we may hope for a similar result here. Hence it is reasonable to expect that if a Levi-flat hypersurface has a degenerate Segre variety at a point, then analytic discs attached to H inside a small polydisc around the point fill an open set.

One final invariant we will discuss is motivated by the proof of Theorem 2.2. So suppose that $H \subset U$, $0 \in H$, with the usual requirements on the defining function of H. Further, assume that Σ_0 is nondegenerate, and as in the proof of Theorem 2.2, that Σ'_0 does not lie completely in H_s . Then pick a real-analytic curve $\gamma(t)$ with image inside H^* , such that $\Sigma_{\gamma(0)}$ has a branch that goes through the origin, and with the same requirements on $\gamma(0)$ as in the proof. We can then write an equation $\rho(z, \bar{\gamma}(t)) = 0$, and for real t this sweeps out an open set inside H. We can apply the Weierstrass preparation theorem in some smaller neighbourhood of 0 to get a Weierstrass polynomial in t, F(z,t) and again as in the proof of Theorem 2.2 note that the set $\tilde{H} = \{z \mid F(z,t) = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ contains an open set of H.

Similarly if H is algebraic, i.e. ρ is a polynomial, then we could find an algebraic (polynomial) mapping $\varphi \colon \mathbb{R} \to H$, such that φ does not map into a single Segre variety and such that the image of φ includes the nonsingular part of H. This can be done by cutting H in the proper place with a complex line L such that $H \cap L$ is a real-analytic line in \mathbb{C} and then parametrizing this line. The Segre varieties $\Sigma_{\varphi(t)}$ then cover an open set of H (because near t where $\varphi(t) \in H^*$ the Segre varieties locally agree with the Levi-foliation of H). Then $F(z,t) = \rho(z, \bar{\varphi}(t))$ is the required pseudopolynomial in t, though it is not necessarily a Weierstrass polynomial. Note that we may have to repeat the procedure if this one F is not enough.

In the following we will call F(z, t) a pseudopolynomial, if it is a polynomial in t with coefficients holomorphic functions of z. By the degree, we mean the degree of the variable t. Let us study the minimum degree of F that is required. When

there is only one F that is needed, and if F is of degree 1, then the situation is simple.

Proposition 2.14. If H is such that there exists a pseudopolynomial F(z,t) of degree 1 such that $H \subset \{z \mid F(z,t) = 0, t \in \mathbb{R}\}$. Then there exists a hypersurface \tilde{H} defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function f, and $H \subset \tilde{H}$. If F is also monic then f can be taken to be holomorphic.

Proof. If F(z,t) = t + a(z), then let f = a. If F(z,t) = a(z)t + b(z), then let f = b/a.

We can define the following invariant.

 $d(H, p) = \min\{d \in \mathbb{N} \mid \exists \text{ neighbourhood } U \text{ of } p,$

nonzero pseudopolynomials
$$F_k(z, t)$$
 defined on $U \times \mathbb{R}$,
 $\deg F_k(z, \cdot) \leq d, \ k = 1, \dots, K$
 $H \cap U \subset \{z \mid F_k(z, t) = 0, \ t \in \mathbb{R}, \ k = 1, \dots, K\}\}.$

$$(2.8)$$

A priory d(H, p) could also be infinity. For example, if H has a degenerate Segre variety at p or if Σ'_p lies in the singularity, H is not defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function and H is not algebraic (defined by a polynomial). However, no examples where $d(H, p) = \infty$ are known to the author.

If H is defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic (or holomorphic) function, then of course d(H, p) = 1 as is obvious from the proof of Proposition 2.14. To see that there exists an H with a d(H, p) that is greater than 1, we look at the example of a Levi-flat hypersurface not defined by a meromorphic function. Let $z_1 = x_1 + iy_1$ and define H by $x_1^2 - y_1^3 = 0$. Then let F(z, t) := $z_1 - (t^3 + it^2)$. Hence d(H, 0) = 2 or 3.

While not every hypersurface with $d(H,p) < \infty$ is defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function, we have the following proposition however. Fix a neighbourhood U, and let $\mathcal{A}(U)$ be the ring of functions of the form

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} (|f_j(z)|^2 - |g_j(z)|^2), \qquad (2.9)$$

where f_j and g_j are any holomorphic functions on U. This ring contains all the functions of the form Re f for some f holomorphic on U. In fact it is not hard to check that this is the smallest such subring of real-analytic functions on U (and that it is a proper subring). Then we see that if F(z,t) is a pseudopolynomial on $U \times \mathbb{R}$, then the projection of the set F = 0 onto the z coordinates is a set in $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}(U))$ by Lojasiewicz's variation of Tarski-Seidenberg, Theorem 1.9. Since this set must be of real codimension 1 in U, then we can see that there exists one function $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}(U)$ that vanishes on this set. Hence:

Proposition 2.15. Let H be a possibly singular Levi-flat hypersurface, $0 \in H$ and $0 \in H$, $d(H, 0) < \infty$. Then there exists a neighbourhood U of 0, and a nonconstant $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}(U)$ such that $H \cap U \subset \{z \mid \varphi(z) = 0\}$.

The tangent cone of a hypersurface is another invariant, but we will not discuss this here. Burns and Gong [BG99] have studied those hypersurfaces with quadratic tangent cones. They have proved that the tangent cone of a Levi-flat hypersurface is Levi-flat, and have classified fully the quadratic hypersurfaces (those defined by quadratic equations).

2.4 Examples

Burns and Gong [BG99] have classified all singular quadratic¹ Levi-flat hypersurfaces in \mathbb{C}^N to be as follows.

Theorem 2.16 (Burns-Gong). If $H \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a quadratic Levi-flat hypersurface, then it is biholomorphically equivalent to a hypersurface with one of the following five defining functions.

- (i) $\operatorname{Im}(z_1^2 + \dots + z_k^2) = 0, \ k = 1, \dots, N,$
- (*ii*) $\operatorname{Im} z_1 = 0$,

¹Hypersurfaces defined by the vanishing of a quadratic polynomial.

- (iii) $z_1^2 + 2\lambda z_1 \bar{z}_1 + \bar{z}_1^2 = 0$, where $\lambda \in (0, 1)$,
- $(iv) (\operatorname{Im} z_1)(\operatorname{Im} z_2) = 0,$

$$(v) |z_1|^2 - |z_2|^2 = 0.$$

Hypersurfaces (i), (ii), (v) are defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function. Hypersurface (iii) can sometimes be defined in such a way as well, depending on λ . Hypersurfaces (iii) and (iv) are reducible and each branch is a nonsingular Levi-flat hypersurface. In fact if we only look at the z_1 variable, then (iii) is just two intersecting lines, intersecting in different angles depending on λ .

On the other hand, the hypersurface defined by $x_1^2 - y_1^3 = 0$, for $z_1 = x_1 + iy_1$ is irreducible and not defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function. To see this not that we need only work in one dimension, and there we can just assume that the hypersurface would be defined by the vanishing of a holomorphic function. After a holomorphic change of coordinates we have a line with a cusp such that z^k is real valued on it, which is not possible.

More complicated examples can be derived by pulling back a Levi-flat hypersurface by a holomorphic mapping. That is, if $H \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is a hypersurface defined by $\rho = 0$, and $f: \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^n$ is a nontrivial holomorphic mapping, then the set $\tilde{H} \subset \mathbb{C}^N$, defined by $\rho \circ f = 0$ is a Levi-flat hypersurface. This can be seen by pulling back the Levi foliation of H which becomes the Levi foliation of \tilde{H} . In view of section 2.3 however, such examples need not be, in a certain sense, any more complicated than H was. The singularity of \tilde{H} will consist of the pullback H_s , union with any singularities introduced by f. Any singularities introduced by f have to lie in the set where det Df = 0. Hence,

$$\tilde{H}_s \subset f^{-1}(H_s) \cup \{z \mid \det Df(z) = 0\}.$$
(2.10)

Further, it is not hard to see that if H cannot be defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function, then neither can \tilde{H} .

Brunella [Bru07] found the following example which shows that one can have an irreducible Levi-flat hypersurface $H \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ such that $\overline{H^*} \neq H$, and further, where H_s is a totally real submanifold. If we let z = x + iy and w = s + it, then we define the hypersurface by

$$4(y^2 + s)y^2 - t^2 = 0. (2.11)$$

The curves $w = (z + c)^2$ for some constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ give the Levi-foliation of H^* . Furthermore, $H_s = \{t = y = 0\}$ and $\overline{H^*} \cap H_s = \{t = y = 0, s \ge 0\}$. This hypersurface also cannot be defined by the vanishing of the imaginary part of a meromorphic function, since H_s is not contained in a complex analytic subvariety. By the same argument, we have that n(H, 0) = 2, that is, it is not a pullback of a one-dimensional line in \mathbb{C} . This is an example of a hypersurface with n(H, 0) = 2, such that Σ_0 is nondegenerate, as Σ_0 is defined by $4w^2 - z^2(2w - z^2) = 0$.

3 Submanifolds inside Levi-flat hypersurfaces

3.1 Uniqueness property for holomorphic functions

For a generic submanifold M through the origin in \mathbb{C}^N , we wish to investigate when does there exist a meromorphic function near the origin which is real valued on M. By composing with a Möbius mapping of the real line onto the unit circle we see that this is equivalent to the existence of a meromorphic function which is unimodular on M, which in turn means that there are two relatively prime holomorphic functions f and g such that on M, |f| = |g|. We will thus define:

Definition 3.1. M has the modulus uniqueness property if |f| = |g| on M, for holomorphic f and g defined in a neighbourhood of M, implies f = cg for a unimodular constant c. We will say that M has the modulus uniqueness property at $p \in M$, if $M \cap U$ has the modulus uniqueness property for every connected neighbourhood U of $p \in M$.

In the following we will denote the local CR orbit at a point p by Orb_p . The motivation for our problem is the following theorem.

Theorem 3.2 (see [BER98]). Let $M \subset U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a generic real-analytic nowhere minimal submanifold of codimension d. Let $p \in M$ be such that Orb_p is of maximal dimension. Then there are coordinates $(z, w', w'') \in \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^{d-q} \times \mathbb{C}^q = \mathbb{C}^N$, where q denotes the codimension of Orb_p in M, vanishing at p such that near p, M is defined by

$$\operatorname{Im} w' = \varphi(z, \bar{z}, \operatorname{Re} w', \operatorname{Re} w'')$$

$$\operatorname{Im} w'' = 0,$$
(3.1)

 φ is a real valued real-analytic function with $\varphi(z, 0, s', s'') \equiv 0$. Moreover, the local CR orbit of the point (z, w', w'') = (0, 0, s''), for $s'' \in \mathbb{R}^q$, is given by

$$\operatorname{Im} w' = \varphi(z, \bar{z}, \operatorname{Re} w', s'')$$

$$w'' = s''.$$
(3.2)

So a natural question is to ask what happens at points where Orb_p is not of maximal dimension. In general there do not exist local normal coordinates such that $\operatorname{Im} w'' = 0$ is one of the equations for M, but it is natural to ask when can we get a meromorphic function f such that $\operatorname{Im} f = 0$ on M.

Before looking at this case we summarize the results for the easy cases.

Proposition 3.3. Let M be a connected real-analytic CR submanifold through the origin. Then M does not have the modulus uniqueness property at the origin if any of the following holds,

- (i) M is not generic,
- (ii) M is totally real,

(iii) M is nowhere minimal and Orb_0 has the maximal dimension.

On the other hand M has the modulus uniqueness property at any point $p \in M$ if

(iv) M is generic and minimal at some point.

Proof. The first three cases are clear. For the last one we just note that if M is minimal at some point, it is minimal on a dense open subset. If we had a nonconstant meromorphic function real valued on M, then on some small neighbourhood we would have that M is minimal and there would exist a holomorphic function with nonvanishing gradient which was real valued on M and this would give local foliation of M by smaller submanifolds of same CR dimension and this would violate minimality.

We also note that if M is not generic, but it is minimal, then M has the modulus uniqueness property inside the intrinsic complexification of M. So since Orb_p is always minimal then if we call \mathcal{X}_p the intrinsic complexification of Orb_p , then any meromorphic function real valued on M is constant in \mathcal{X}_p for any CR manifold.

It is clearly useful to be able to construct \mathcal{X}_p and study its properties. The following constructions are described in [BER99]. We will look at a generic submanifold M defined in normal coordinates (z, w) in some neighbourhood U of the origin, and we will assume that U is small enough such that the defining equations for M complexify into $U \times {}^*U$, and we can take U to be connected. If $M = \{z \in U \mid r(z, \bar{z}) = 0\}$ we let $\mathcal{M} := \{(z, \zeta) \in U \times {}^*U \mid r(z, \zeta) = 0\}$. We define the Segre manifolds for $p \in U$

$$\mathfrak{S}_{2j+1}(p,U) := \{ (z,\zeta^1, z^1, \dots, \zeta^j, z^j) \in U \times {}^*U \times U \times \dots \times {}^*U \times U \mid (z,\zeta^1), (z^1,\zeta^1), \dots, (z^j,\zeta^j), (z^1,\zeta^2), \dots, (z^{j-1},\zeta^j), (z^j,\bar{p}) \in \mathcal{M} \}$$

$$(3.3)$$

and

$$\mathfrak{S}_{2j}(p,U) := \{ (z,\zeta^1, z^1, \dots, z^{j-1}, \zeta^j) \in U \times {}^*U \times U \times \dots \times U \times {}^*U \mid (z,\zeta^1), (z^1,\zeta^1), \dots, (z^{j-1},\zeta^{j-1}), (z^1,\zeta^2), \dots, (z^{j-1},\zeta^j), (p,\zeta^j) \in \mathcal{M} \}$$

$$(3.4)$$

Where $\mathfrak{S}_1(p,U) = \{z \in U \mid (z,\bar{p}) \in \mathcal{M}\}$. If we define $\pi \colon \mathbb{C}^N \times \ldots \times \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N$ be the projection to the first coordinate, then we can define the *Segre sets* for $p \in U$ by $S_k(p,U) := \pi(\mathfrak{S}_k(p,U))$. Note that both $S_k(p,U)$ and $\mathfrak{S}_k(p,U)$ depend on both the point p and the neighbourhood U.

We have the following proposition, first part is proved in [BER99] (Proposition 10.2.7), second part is then immediate.

Proposition 3.4. For $k \ge 1$ we have

$$S_k(p, U) = \bigcup_{q \in S_{k-1}(p, U)} S_1(q, U),$$
(3.5)

and if $k \geq 2$ we have

$$S_k(p,U) = \bigcup_{q \in S_{k-2}(p,U)} S_2(q,U).$$
(3.6)

Further, for normal coordinates where $U = U_z \times U_w$ we have the following (again proved in [BER99] as part of Proposition 10.4.1):

Proposition 3.5. Let M be given by $w = Q(z, \overline{z}, \overline{w})$ in normal coordinates in U and let $p = (z^0, w^0)$. Then there exists an open set $V \subset {}^*U_z$ $(0 \in V)$ such that $(z, w) \in U$ is in $S_2(p, U)$ if and only if there exist $\zeta \in V$ such that $w = Q(z, \zeta, \overline{Q}(\zeta, z^0, w^0))$.

The set V above is the set of all $\zeta \in {}^*U_z$ such that $\overline{Q}(\zeta, z^0, w^0) \in {}^*U_w$. In particular $0 \in V$. With this we prove the following useful lemma.

Lemma 3.6. Suppose that $M \subset U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a generic submanifold given by normal coordinates defined near the origin for a suitable U. Then for any point $p = (z^0, w^0) \in U$, the variety $\{(z, w) \in U \mid w = w^0\}$ is contained inside $S_2(p, U)$ (the second Segre set at p).

Proof. Let M be given by $\{(z, w) \mid w = Q(z, \overline{z}, \overline{w})\}$ in normal coordinates. Thus $S_2(p, U) = \{(z, w) \mid w = Q(z, \zeta, \overline{Q}(\zeta, \overline{z}^0, \overline{w}^0)), \zeta \in V\}$, where V is as in Lemma 3.5. In particular $0 \in V$ and thus since we are in normal coordinates, $Q(z, 0, w) \equiv Q(0, z, w) \equiv w$. Thus $\{(z, w) \mid w = w^0\} \subset S_2(p, U)$.

To be able to use this we note the following theorem given and proved in [BER99] (Theorems 10.5.2 and 10.5.4).

Theorem 3.7. If M is as above, then there exists a number j_0 such that for every sufficiently small neighbourhood U of p where $p \in M$, $S_{2j_0}(p, U)$ coincides with \mathcal{X}_p as germs at p, the complexification of Orb_p .

The number j_0 is called the Segre number of M at p, but we are only interested in the fact that such a number exists and not how it is arrived at. Another useful proposition from [BER99] (Proposition 10.2.28) is the following.

Proposition 3.8. Let $p \in M \subset U$ and an integer $k_0 \geq 1$, then there exist neighbourhoods $U'' \subset U' \subset U$ of p such that for all $q \in U''$, $\mathfrak{S}_k(q, U')$ is connected for all $k \leq k_0$.

Next we assume that U is a polydisc (in the normal coordinates).

Lemma 3.9. Given $M \subset U$ in normal coordinates, then there is a small neighbourhood of the origin V such that for $p \in M \cap V$, \mathcal{X}_p contains $\{(z, w) \in U \mid w = w^0\}$ as germs at any $(z^0, w^0) \in \mathcal{X}_p$. If \mathcal{Z}_p is the smallest complex-analytic subvariety of Uwhich contains \mathcal{X}_p , then \mathcal{Z}_p contains $\{(z, w) \in U \mid w = w^0\}$ for any $(z^0, w^0) \in \mathcal{Z}_p$.

Proof. Let M be in normal coordinates. We can always take U to be even smaller, so by Proposition 3.8 for a small enough neighbourhood of the origin U, there is a yet smaller neighbourhood of the origin V such that for $p \in V$, $\mathfrak{S}_k(p, U)$ is connected, for $k \leq 2(d+1)+2$, d being the codimension of M. Note that the Segre number of M at any point is always less than or equal to d+1. By Theorem 3.7 we know $S_{2(d+1)}(p, W) = \mathcal{X}_p$ as germs for some small neighbourhood W of p. Hence $S_{2(d+1)+2}(p, W) = \mathcal{X}_p = S_{2(d+1)}(p, W)$ as germs at p. Let k = 2(d+1). By Proposition 3.4, $S_{k+2}(p, U)$ is a union of $S_2(q, U)$ for $q \in S_k(p, U)$, and by Lemma 3.6 each $S_2(q, U)$ contains the set $\{(z, w) \mid w = w(q)\}$. In particular $S_{k+2}(p, U)$ contains the set $\{(z, w) \mid w = w(q)\}$ for each $q \in \mathcal{X}_p$ (for some small enough representative of the germ \mathcal{X}_p). We note that $\mathfrak{S}_{k+2}(p, W)$ is an open submanifold of $\mathfrak{S}_{k+2}(p, U)$, which is connected. We pull back the mapping $(z, w) \mapsto$ z to $\mathfrak{S}_{k+2}(p, U)$ and look at its rank to conclude that for $q \in S_{k+2}(p, W)$ we have $\{(z, w) \mid w = w(q)\} \subset S_{k+2}(p, W)$ as germs at q. This proves the first part.

To see the second part suppose that \mathcal{Z}_p did depend on z. Then we can intersect \mathcal{Z}_p with $\{(z, w) \mid z = z^0\}$ and the intersection must still contain \mathcal{X}_p projected on the w coordinate (it is of the form $\mathcal{X}_p = \mathbb{C}_z \times (\mathcal{X}_p)_w$). So we would get a different complex variety \mathcal{Z}'_p which contains \mathcal{X}_p . Intersection of \mathcal{Z}_p and \mathcal{Z}'_p would violate minimality of \mathcal{Z}_p .

Theorem 3.10. Suppose that M is a connected generic submanifold given in normal coordinates. Suppose that f and g are two holomorphic functions such that |f| = |g| on M. Then f/g depends only on w. Or if h is a meromorphic function which is real valued on M, then h depends only on w.

Proof. Obviously we only need to prove the first part as the second part follows. We can work in arbitrarily small neighbourhood U of the origin. As we noted before since Orb_p is minimal in \mathcal{X}_p we know that f = cg in \mathcal{X}_p for any point p (where c depends on p of course). That is the function f/g is constant on \mathcal{X}_p (if we take p outside the zero set of g). Since we know that as germs $\{(z, w) \mid w = w^0\} \subset \mathcal{X}_p$, then for any $1 \leq j \leq n$ we have $\frac{\partial}{\partial z_j}(f/g) = 0$ at p. Since M is generic and since g = 0 is a proper subvariety of M, then this holds for an open set of p in M, and then it holds for an open subset of U and thus for all of U.

3.2 Submanifolds inside Levi-flat hypersurfaces

Since the question of the modulus uniqueness property of M (or alternatively of existence of a meromorphic function which is real valued on M) is the same as a question of M being contained in a certain kind of possibly singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface, we can ask a weaker question; when is M contained in any possibly singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface? We will consider M to be inside a hypersurface H if $M \subset \overline{H^*}$.

Our main result is the following theorem. It is surprising considering that the normal coordinates of M are not unique. See also Theorem 3.13 for algebraic submanifolds.

Theorem 3.11. Let M be a germ of a generic real-analytic codimension 2 submanifold through the origin given in normal coordinates (z, w) and let M be nowhere minimal. Then $M \subset \overline{H^*}$, where H is a germ of a possibly singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface if and only if the projection of M onto the second factor in (z, w) is contained in a germ of a possibly singular real-analytic hypersurface. Moreover, if M is not Levi-flat, then H is unique.

Note that this theorem also gives a test for generic real-analytic submanifolds being nowhere minimal. If we can compute a hypersurface containing the projection of M to the w coordinate, we need only check if it is Levi-flat or not. Let us prove the following useful proposition before proving the theorem.

Proposition 3.12. Suppose M is a connected generic real-analytic submanifold of codimension 2 in normal coordinates (z, w) and $M \subset \overline{H^*}$ where H is a irreducible possibly singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface. Then in a possibly smaller neighbourhood of the origin, there exists a Levi-flat hypersurface \hat{H} defined by $\{(z,w) \mid \rho(w,\bar{w}) = 0\}$ such that $M \subset \hat{H^*}$ as germs at 0. Furthermore, if M is not Levi-flat then $H = \hat{H}$ as germs at 0.

Proof. If Orb_p is constantly of codimension 2 in M or constantly of codimension 1 in M, then by Theorem 3.2 we have a holomorphic function near the origin which is real valued on M and thus by Theorem 3.10 the defining equation for that already does not depend on z.

By Corollary 2.4, M cannot be minimal at any point. So suppose that M is not minimal and Orb_p is not of constant dimension. This means that it is not Levi-flat and thus by Corollary 2.3 it cannot be contained in $H_s \cap \overline{H^*}$ and thus must intersect H^* . This means that it must in fact intersect H^* on a dense open set in M (as H_s is contained in a proper real-analytic subvariety of H). Suppose H is defined in U by $\{\rho(z, w, \overline{z}, \overline{w}) = 0\}$, in particular H is closed in U. Then for $p \in M \cap H^*$ we can see that $\mathcal{X}_p \subset H$, since in small enough neighbourhood of p, such as we have by Theorem 3.7, the kth Segre set of M is contained in the kth Segre set of H, and the Segre sets of H all lie in H for small enough neighbourhood of a nonsingular point of H. By Lemma 2.5, the Segre variety of H at p agrees with the Levi foliation of H at p, and since this (the Segre variety of H) is a proper subvariety of U, then if \mathcal{Z}_p is the smallest complex-analytic subvariety of U which contains \mathcal{X}_p , then $\mathcal{Z}_p \subset H$. This means in particular that $(\mathbb{C}_z \times \pi_w(M \cap H^*)) \cap U \subset H$ (where π_w is the projection onto second factor in the normal coordinates (z, w)), since \mathcal{Z}_p contains all the $(z, w) \in U$ for fixed w by Lemma 3.9. As H is closed and $M \cap H^*$ is dense in M, then $\mathbb{C}_z \times \pi_w(M) \subset H$. Fix z^0 such that $\rho(z^0, w, \overline{z}^0, \overline{w}) = 0$ defines a hypersurface in \mathbb{C}_w , then this hypersurface is Levi-flat in \mathbb{C}_w . Define \hat{H} by $\{(z, w) \mid \rho(z^0, w, \bar{z}^0, \bar{w}) = 0\}$, this is Levi-flat again and further $M \subset \hat{H}$.

It is then clear that since $\mathcal{X}_p \subset H$, then $\mathcal{X}_p \subset \hat{H}$, thus near points p where Orb_p is of codimension 1 in M, these locally give a branch of a nonsingular Levi-flat hypersurface which must be contained in \hat{H} , thus $M \subset \overline{\hat{H}^*}$.

If M is not Levi-flat then uniqueness of H comes from the fact that if M would be contained in two different Levi-flat hypersurfaces say H and H' it would be contained in their intersection and thus would be contained in the singular set of Proof of Theorem 3.11. The forward direction and uniqueness is proved by the preceding proposition. So suppose that $M \subset H$ where $H = \mathbb{C}_z \times H_w$ is a possibly singular hypersurface. We can assume that H is irreducible.

First suppose that Orb_0 is of maximal dimension, then by Theorem 3.2 there exists (near 0) a holomorphic function real valued on M which thus defines a Leviflat hypersurface (nonsingular one in fact). Also by Theorem 3.10 this function only depends on the w coordinate, this means that it really defines a Levi-flat hypersurface in \mathbb{C}^d (the w variables) and this contains $\pi_w(M)$.

Next suppose that Orb_0 is not of maximal dimension. Fix a certain neighbourhood U where M is defined in the given, fixed, normal coordinates. By Proposition 3.8 we can then pick a smaller $0 \in U' \subset U$ such that for all $p \in U'$, the Segre manifold $\mathfrak{S}_k(q, U)$ is connected. Making U' smaller we can assume it is of the form $U'_z \times U'_w$ where both U'_z and U'_w are polydiscs. We will pick a point $p \in M \cap U'$ where Orb_p is of maximal dimension (of codimension 1 in M).

By choosing U small enough above we can ensure that $\pi_w(M)$ is subanalytic (see section 1.3 or [BM88]). We look at a nonsingular point of this projection of highest dimension in $\pi_w(M) \cap U'_w$. Obviously this is either a hypersurface or codimension 2 point since it is contained in H_w . If $\pi_w(M)$ was a codimension 2 submanifold near some point, then it would be totally real, and thus M above it would be Levi-flat which is not the case. Thus there must be nonsingular points of hypersurface dimension. Further, since the \mathcal{X}_q really only depend on the w variables, it is clear that there is a point $p \in M \cap U'$, such that $\pi_w(p)$ is a nonsingular point of $\pi_w(M) \cap U'_w$, and such that Orb_p is of maximal dimension. Next, pick a small enough neighbourhood $V \subset U'$ of p, such that $\pi_w(M \cap V)$ is a nonsingular hypersurface. Then $\pi_w(M \cap V)$ agrees with one of the branches of H_w at $\pi_w(p)$.

Locally in V (possibly taking smaller V) again we have a holomorphic function f in a neighbourhood of p that is real valued on M. We notice that in the proof of Lemma 3.9 the only reason why we restrict to a smaller neighbourhood is so that we can apply Proposition 3.8, and hence we could have picked a neighbourhood of any point in U. So we see that in the proof of Theorem 3.10 we did not need to

pick a neighbourhood of the origin, but we could have just used V as given above (possibly making it smaller). Hence f only depends on w, and thus again Im f = 0defines a Levi-flat hypersurface near p which contains M near p. So in \mathbb{C}^d (the w coordinates) this hypersurface contains $\pi_w(M \cap V)$ and thus agrees with a branch of H_w near $\pi_w(p)$. By Lemma 1.18, H_w must be a Levi-flat hypersurface, and we are done.

3.3 Algebraic submanifolds

A submanifold is real-algebraic if it is contained in a real-algebraic variety of the same dimension. Our main result about such submanifolds is the following.

Theorem 3.13. Let M be a germ of a real-algebraic nowhere minimal generic submanifold of codimension 2. Then there exists a germ of a Levi-flat real-algebraic singular hypersurface H such that $M \subset \overline{H^*}$. Moreover, if M is not Levi-flat, then H is unique.

Proof. If Orb_p is of constant codimension 2 in M, then we note that since normal coordinates are obtained by implicit function theorem and there exists an algebraic implicit function theorem, then we can find algebraic normal coordinates where M is given by $w = Q(z, \overline{z}, \overline{w})$. See [BER99] for the construction of the normal coordinates. Since Orb_p is of constant dimension 2 in M, it agrees locally with its intrinsic complexification which is then given by keeping w constant. Thus the vector fields $\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z_k}}$ for all $1 \leq k \leq n$ annihilate the defining equations for M (on M and since M is generic, in a neighbourhood). Thus M is given by $w_1 = Q_1(\overline{w}_1, \overline{w}_2)$ and $w_2 = Q_2(\overline{w}_1, \overline{w}_2)$. From this we can easily construct two algebraic holomorphic functions which are real valued on M, and we are done.

So assume that Orb_p is of codimension 1 in M on an open and dense set. Fix a certain representative of the germ of M. Pick a point $p \in M$ near the origin where Orb_p is of constant dimension 1 in M. Let U be a suitable neighbourhood of p. And let $p \in U' \subset U$ be a smaller neighbourhood such that If $\mathfrak{S}_k(q, U)$ is the kth Segre manifold at $q \in U'$, $\mathfrak{S}_k(q, U)$ is connected. We will call \mathcal{U} the ambient space of $\mathfrak{S}_k(q, U)$, that is the $U \times U \times U \times \ldots \times U \times U$ or $U \times U \times \ldots \times U \times U \times U \times \ldots \times U \times U$ on whether k is even or odd. Then again denote by $\pi : \mathbb{C}^N \times \ldots \times \mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N$ the projection onto the first factor, but we will define π on the space $\mathcal{U} \times U'$. Then define

$$\mathfrak{S}_k(M \cap U', U) := \{ (\chi, q) \in \mathcal{U} \times U' \mid \chi \in \mathfrak{S}_k(q, U), q \in M \cap U' \}.$$
(3.7)

 $\mathfrak{S}_k(M \cap U', U)$ is a real-algebraic set in $\mathcal{U} \times U'$ and thus $\pi(\mathfrak{S}_k(M \cap U', U))$ is semialgebraic by Tarski-Seidenberg (see section 1.3 or [BM88]). We know that if U is small enough and k is large enough then \mathcal{X}_q will lie in $\pi(\mathfrak{S}_k(M \cap U', U))$ and further these give a nonsingular Levi-flat hypersurface at that point. Since a semialgebraic set is contained in an algebraic set of the same dimension, that is, there exists a polynomial p defining a hypersurface $H = \{\xi \in \mathbb{C}^N \mid p(\xi, \bar{\xi}) = 0\}$ that contains $\pi(\mathfrak{S}_k(M \cap U', U))$. Since $\pi(\mathfrak{S}_k(M \cap U', U))$ locally agrees with a nonsingular Levi-flat hypersurface we can take H to be irreducible. Then H is Levi-flat at p and by Lemma 1.18 it is Levi-flat.

As germs at p we can see that $M \subset \overline{H^*}$. Further, since this happens at every point where Orb_p is of codimension 1 in M, and these are open and dense in M, then this must happen in some neighbourhood of the origin and hence as germs at the origin. Uniqueness was proved previously already in section 3.2.

Further properties of real-algebraic generic submanifolds will be discussed in section 4.2.

4 Almost minimal submanifolds

4.1 Almost minimal submanifolds and Levi-flat hypersurfaces

As we have already seen, if $M \subset \overline{H^*}$ and M is a generic nowhere minimal codimension 2 real-analytic submanifold and H is a real-analytic possibly singular Levi-flat hypersurface, then at a point $p \in M \cap H^*$, where Orb_p is of codimension 1 in M, $\mathcal{X}_p \subset H^*$, that is, \mathcal{X}_p gives the Levi foliation of H. By Lemma 2.5, we have that locally the Segre variety Σ_p of H in U contains \mathcal{X}_p , and for $p \in H^*$, Σ_p is a proper analytic subvariety of U. So an obvious condition for M to be contained in a Levi-flat hypersurface is that \mathcal{X}_p is contained in a proper subvariety of U. Since \mathcal{X}_p is the smallest germ of a complex variety containing Orb_p , we let $\mathcal{Z}_p = \mathcal{Z}_{U,p}$ be the smallest complex-analytic subvariety of U that contains Orb_p (and thus \mathcal{X}_p).

Definition 4.1. Let $M \subset U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a generic submanifold. We will say that M is almost minimal in U, if there exists a point p such that $\mathcal{Z}_{U,p}$ contains an open set, and we will say that p makes M almost minimal in U. We will say that a generic submanifold M is almost minimal at p, if it is almost minimal in every neighbourhood of p.

If M is minimal at $p \in U$, then it is, of course, almost minimal in U. And if a connected M is real-analytic and minimal at one point, it is minimal on an open dense set, and thus it is almost minimal at every point.

An example of a nowhere minimal submanifold that is almost minimal is the M_{λ} family given in the introduction for λ irrational. See section 4.4 for this example

worked out. It should be noted that if M is nowhere minimal, then the points where it is almost minimal are contained in a proper real-analytic subvariety in M. This is because if M is almost minimal at p and nowhere minimal, then Orb_p must not be of maximal dimension.

Theorem 4.2. Suppose that $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a germ of a real-analytic generic submanifold of codimension 2 through 0, and suppose $M \subset \overline{H^*}$ where H is a germ of a possibly singular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface, then M is not almost minimal at 0.

Proof. Let U a small enough connected neighbourhood of the origin such that both M and H are closed in U and further such that their defining equations are complexifiable in U. M cannot be minimal at any point by Theorem 2.4. Further, if M is Levi-flat then Orb_p is constantly of codimension 2 in M. This means that Orb_p is in fact complex-analytic and is contained in the Segre variety (the first Segre set of M in U) and thus cannot be almost minimal.

So suppose on a dense open set of points of M, Orb_p is of codimension 1 in M, and in fact, if p makes M almost minimal in U then Orb_p has to be of codimension 1 in M. Further, $M \cap H^*$ is non-empty (since M is not Levi-flat) and as noted before is thus open and dense in M. Also as noted above, the p that makes Malmost minimal cannot lie in $M \cap H^*$.

So pick a small neighbourhood of any $p \in M \cap H_s$ where Orb_p is of codimension 1 in M. Then by Theorem 3.2, there is a small neighbourhood V of p where there exist normal coordinates $(z, w) \in \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^2$ vanishing at p, such that M is given by $\operatorname{Im} w_1 = \rho(z, \overline{z}, \operatorname{Re} w)$ and $\operatorname{Im} w_2 = 0$, and further, that the \mathcal{X}_q are then given by $w_2 = s$ (we will denote this set as $\{w_2 = s\}$) for some $s \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$. We can take Vto be a polydisc in the (z, w) coordinates. If $M \cap \{w_2 = s\}$ (which is the CR orbit) contains a point which is in H^* , then as we reasoned above $\{w_2 = s\} \subset H$ since it agrees with the Levi foliation of H at some point in H^* . As $M \cap H^*$ is dense in M, then $\{w_2 = s\} \subset H$ for all $s \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$. This means that in V, $\operatorname{Im} w_2$ divides the defining function of H in U. Thus the Segre variety of H in U contains that Orb_p is contained in a proper complex-analytic subvariety. Either it is contained in a nondegenerate Segre subvariety of H in U or the Segre variety of H in U is degenerate at all points of $\operatorname{Orb}_p = M \cap \{w_2 = 0\}$, but the set of points where the Segre variety of H is degenerate is a proper analytic subset as we remarked before. In any case p does not make M almost minimal in U, and thus M is not almost minimal in U.

Corollary 4.3. Suppose that $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a connected real-analytic generic submanifold of codimension 2 through 0, and M is almost minimal at 0, then M has the modulus uniqueness property at 0.

4.2 Algebraic submanifolds

Recall that a real submanifold is real-algebraic if it is contained in a realalgebraic variety of the same dimension.

The following theorem is basically proved in [BER99] (Theorem 13.1.10). It is also easily seen as a direct consequence of Tarski-Seidenberg (see section 1.3 or [BM88]) and of the Chevalley theorem (see for example [Loj91]). That is, projections of real or complex algebraic varieties are either semi-algebraic (in the real case) or constructible (in the complex case) but in both cases they are contained in a real or complex algebraic variety of the same dimension. And since \mathcal{X}_p is locally given as projection of a Segre manifold which is complex-algebraic if M is real-algebraic, we have the following.

Theorem 4.4. Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a real-algebraic generic submanifold and $p \in M$, then Orb_p is real-algebraic and similarly \mathcal{X}_p is contained in a complex algebraic variety of the same dimension.

So Orb_p is contained in a variety in \mathbb{C}^N and thus cannot make M almost minimal for any U. We therefore have the following result.

Corollary 4.5. Suppose $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a connected real-algebraic generic submanifold, then M is almost minimal at $p \in M$ if and only if M is minimal at some point.

As a consequence we have a test for a submanifold being real-algebraic.

Corollary 4.6. Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be nowhere minimal real-analytic generic submanifold which is almost minimal at $p \in M$. Then M is not biholomorphic to a real-algebraic generic submanifold.

This is because almost minimality would be preserved under biholomorphisms. The M_{λ} for λ irrational defined in the introduction is therefore an example of a submanifold not biholomorphic to a real-algebraic one.

4.3 Infinitesimal CR automorphisms

We will now look at the dimension of hol(M, p), the space of infinitesimal holomorphisms at p if M is almost minimal at p.

The space of *infinitesimal holomorphisms* at p is the Lie algebra generated by germs at p of real-analytic vector fields X on M defined in some neighbourhood U of p, such that for each $q \in U$ there is another neighbourhood $q \in V \subset U$ and the mapping $z \mapsto \exp tX \cdot z$ for $|t| \leq \epsilon$ is a CR diffeomorphism of $M \cap V$ (a diffeomorphism that preserves the CR vector bundle of M).

A vector field X in \mathbb{C}^N is called a holomorphic vector field, if we can write it locally as $X = \sum_{k=1}^N a_k(z) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$, where the a_k are holomorphic in $z \in \mathbb{C}^N$. A submanifold M is said to be holomorphically nondegenerate at $p \in M$, if there does not exist any germ at p of a nonzero holomorphic vector field tangent to M. If M is connected, real-analytic and generic it turns out, that if it is holomorphically nondegenerate at one point it is so at all points. Being holomorphically nondegenerate is a necessary condition for dim_R hol $(M, p) < \infty$. In the case M is a hypersurface Stanton [Sta96] proved that this is in fact a sufficient condition. For higher codimension submanifolds, Baouendi, Ebenfelt and Rothschild [BER98] proved Theorem 4.7 below.

Theorem 4.7 (Baouendi-Ebenfelt-Rothschild see [BER98]). Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a connected real-analytic CR submanifold that is holomorphically nondegenerate. If M is minimal at any point $p \in M$, then $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{hol}(M, q) < \infty$ for all $q \in M$. If M is nowhere minimal then $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{hol}(M, q) = 0$ or $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{hol}(M, q) = \infty$ for q in a dense open subset of M.

Thus it remains to see at exactly what points is hol(M, q) finite dimensional in case M is nowhere minimal. Our main result of this section is that it turns out that the points where M is almost minimal are such points. We restate Theorem 4.3 from the introduction for convenience.

Theorem. Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a connected, real-analytic holomorphically nondegenerate generic submanifold and suppose $p \in M$ and M is almost minimal at p. Then

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{hol}(M, p) < \infty.$$
(4.1)

The proof is essentially the same as in [BER98] or [BER99] for minimal submanifolds, although we will require Lemma 4.9 to modify this proof. It would not be needed, if we had a more general way of showing that certain CR orbits (of the highest dimension for example) were holomorphically nondegenerate whenever Mwas. Alas, this is not so. For example, the manifold defined in $(z_1, z_2, w_1, w_2) \in \mathbb{C}^4$, by

$$Im w_1 = |z_1|^2 + (Re w_2) |z_2|^2,$$

$$Im w_2 = 0,$$
(4.2)

is holomorphically nondegenerate. The CR orbit at 0 is defined by $\text{Im } w_1 = |z_1|^2$ and $w_2 = 0$, and so $\frac{\partial}{\partial z_2}$ is a holomorphic vector field tangent to it. We can, however, prove the following result for almost minimal submanifolds.

Lemma 4.8. Suppose $M \subset U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a holomorphically nondegenerate generic submanifold, and $p \in M$ is such that $\mathcal{Z}_{U,p} = U$, that is, p makes M almost minimal in U. Then Orb_p is holomorphically nondegenerate.

The proof is essentially contained the proof of Theorem 4.3 below, and uses the following technical lemma.

Lemma 4.9. Let $M \subset U_z \times U_w \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a generic submanifold given in normal coordinates (z, w) in a sufficiently small $U = U_z \times U_w$ by $w = Q(z, \overline{z}, \overline{w})$. Suppose there exists holomorphic function $f : \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ defined in a neighbourhood of the origin such that $f(z, \overline{z}, w)$ is defined in U, there exists a point $p \in M$ and

 $f(z, \bar{z}, w) = 0$ on Orb_p . Then there exists a holomorphic function $g: U_w \subset \mathbb{C}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ such that g(w) = 0 on Orb_p .

Proof. First note that Lemma 3.9 implies that locally near p, we can find a germ of a holomorphic function φ such that $\varphi(w) = 0$ defines \mathcal{X}_p . Thus we can do a local change of coordinates in w only, setting $w' = \psi(w)$ and $w'' = \varphi(w)$ for some function ψ . So locally we have Orb_p defined in the coordinates z, w', w'' (which are no longer normal coordinates) by $w' = \tilde{Q}(z, \bar{z}, \bar{w}')$ and w'' = 0, for some function \tilde{Q} defined in a neighbourhood of p. We can now also write f in the $z,\,w',\,w''$ coordinates by abuse of notation as $f(z, \overline{z}, w', w'')$. Assuming U is small enough and the neighbourhood where w', w'' are defined is also small enough we can define a complexified version of Orb_p by setting $\overline{w}' = \xi$ and $\overline{z} = \zeta$ by $\xi = \overline{\tilde{Q}}(\zeta, z, w')$ and call this \mathcal{C} . Since $f(z, \overline{z}, w', 0) = 0$ on Orb_p , then as Orb_p is maximally real in \mathcal{C} we have that $f(z, \zeta, w', 0) = 0$ on \mathcal{C} and as z, ζ, w' are free variables on \mathcal{C} we know that $f(z, \overline{z}, w', w'') = 0$ when w'' = 0, but w'' = 0 defines \mathcal{X}_p , so f is identically zero on all of \mathcal{X}_p . Since \mathcal{X}_p is defined by an equation which is independent of z, then if we fix z^0 where $(z^0, w^0) = p \in M$, and we take $g(w) := f(z^0, \overline{z}^0, w)$, then g(w) as a function of (z, w) but independent of z is zero on \mathcal{X}_p and thus on Orb_p . And g is defined in all of U_w and thus we are done.

We need to characterize hol(M, p) in a more natural way for the proof and the following proposition is proved in [BER99] (Proposition 12.4.22).

Proposition 4.10. Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a real-analytic generic submanifold, $p \in M$, and X a germ at p of a real, real-analytic vector field on M, then $X \in \text{hol}(M, p)$ if and only if there exists a germ \mathcal{X} at p of a holomorphic vector field in \mathbb{C}^N such that $\text{Re } \mathcal{X}$ is tangent to M and $X = \text{Re } \mathcal{X}|_M$.

It is not hard to see that if \mathcal{X} is a holomorphic vector field as above, $\tilde{\varphi}(z,\tau)$ is the holomorphic flow of \mathcal{X} and $X = \operatorname{Re} \mathcal{X}$, and $\varphi(z, \overline{z}, t)$ is the flow of X, then φ and $\tilde{\varphi}$ coincide when $t = \tau \in \mathbb{R}$.

We will need the notion of k-nondegeneracy, but instead of giving the definition of being k-nondegenerate at a point, we can just take the following proposition from [BER99] (Corollary 11.2.14) and treat it as a definition. **Proposition 4.11.** Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a real-analytic generic submanifold of codimension d and CR dimension n given in normal coordinates $Z = (z, w) \subset U \subset$ $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^d$ by $w = Q(z, \overline{z}, \overline{w})$. Then M is k-degenerate at $p = (z_p, w_p)$ (sufficiently close to 0) if and only if

$$\operatorname{span}\left\{\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}}\right)^{\alpha}\frac{\partial \bar{Q}_{j}}{\partial Z}(\bar{z}_{p}, z_{p}, w_{p}) \mid j = 1, \dots, d, 0 \le |\alpha| \le k\right\} = \mathbb{C}^{N}.$$
(4.3)

We must prove a result about finite jet determination of biholomorphisms of almost minimal submanifolds, which may be of interest on its own. As before let $\mathcal{Z}_{U,p}$ be the smallest complex-analytic variety containing Orb_p . So if M is almost minimal in U and p is the point that makes it almost minimal then we have the following proposition.

Proposition 4.12. Let $M, M' \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be real-analytic generic submanifolds of codimension d defined in open sets U and U' respectively. Let f and g be two holomorphic mappings taking U to U' and M to M'. Let $p \in M$ be such that $\mathcal{Z}_{U,p} = U$ and suppose M is k_0 -nondegenerate at p. Also suppose that f(p) = g(p) = p', $f_*(T_p^c M) = T_{p'}^c M$ and $g_*(T_p^c M) = T_{p'}^c M$. Then if $j_p^{(d+1)k_0} f = j_p^{(d+1)k_0} g$ then f = g.

Proof. Follows by Corollary 12.3.8 in [BER99] which is a slightly stronger result than the above, but which says that f = g in Orb_p only. As $\mathcal{Z}_{U,p} = U$, then of course f = g everywhere on U.

To be able to use Proposition 4.12 we need to know that M is k-nondegenerate at the right points. From [BER99] we have the following lemma (part of Theorem 11.5.1).

Lemma 4.13. Suppose $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a connected real-analytic generic submanifold of CR dimension n that is holomorphically nondegenerate. Then there exists a proper real-analytic subvariety $V \subset M$ such that M is ℓ -nondegenerate for all $p \in M \setminus V$ for some $1 \leq \ell \leq n$.

The $\ell = \ell(M)$ is the Levi-number of M.

Proof of Theorem 4.3. First suppose that $X^1, \ldots, X^m \in \text{hol}(M, p)$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{R} . Suppose that $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_r)$ be local coordinates for M vanishing at p. Here we may write $X^j = \sum_{k=1}^r X^j_k(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}$, or for short $X^j \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$. We let $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and denote by $\varphi(t, x, y)$ the flow of the vector field $y_1 X^1 + \cdots + y_m X^m$, that is the solution of

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t}(t, x, y) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_j X^j(\varphi(t, x, y)), \qquad (4.4)$$

$$\varphi(0, x, y) = x. \tag{4.5}$$

Since $\varphi(st, x, y) = \varphi(t, x, sy)$ (which follows from the uniqueness of the solution), we can choose $\delta > 0$ small enough such that there exists c > 0 such that the flow is smooth for (t, x, y) where $|t| \leq 2$, $|x| \leq c$ and $|y| \leq \delta$. We look at the time-one mappings denoted by

$$F(x,y) := \varphi(1,x,y). \tag{4.6}$$

We have the following lemma proved in [BER98] and [BER99] (Lemma 12.5.10).

Lemma 4.14. There exists $\gamma > 0$ such that $\gamma < \delta$ such that for any fixed $y^1, y^2 \in \mathbb{R}^m$ where $|y^j| \leq \gamma$, j = 1, 2, if $F(x, y^1) \equiv F(x, y^2)$ for $|x| \leq c$ then necessarily $y^1 = y^2$.

Suppose that X^j are as above and are in hol(M, p). Denote by $V \subset M$ the neighbourhood of p given by |x| < c where x and c are as above. Let $\gamma > 0$ be picked as in Lemma 4.14. From Proposition 4.10 (and discussion afterward) it follows that for a fixed y such that $|y| < \gamma$ there exists a biholomorphism $z \mapsto \tilde{F}(z, y)$ defined in some connected open neighbourhood $U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ of $V \subset M$ taking M into M(we can take γ smaller if necessary) and if z(x) is the parametrization of M near p these satisfy $F(x, y) = \tilde{F}(z(x), y)$ where F are the time-one mappings defined above.

As M is holomorphically nondegenerate, then by Lemma 4.13 we have that outside a real-analytic set it is ℓ -nondegenerate. Note that by Proposition 4.11 we have that this set is actually contained in a set defined by the vanishing of a function of the form $\varphi(z, \bar{z}, w)$, that is a real-analytic function in z, but holomorphic in w. Since M is almost minimal at p and if $\mathcal{Z}_{U,q} = U$, then $\mathcal{Z}_{U,q'} = U$ for all $q' \in \operatorname{Orb}_q$, we know by Lemma 4.9 that there must exist a $q \in M$ such that $\mathcal{Z}_{U,q} = U$ and Mis ℓ -nondegenerate at q. We have satisfied requirements of Proposition 4.12, and by applying Lemma 4.14 we see that we have an injective mapping

$$y \mapsto j_q^{(d+1)\ell} \tilde{F}(\cdot, y) \in J^{(d+1)\ell}(\mathbb{C}^N, \mathbb{C}^N)_q,$$
(4.7)

where $J^{(d+1)\ell}(\mathbb{C}^N, \mathbb{C}^N)_q$ is the jet space at q of germs of holomorphic mappings from \mathbb{C}^N to \mathbb{C}^N . As $J^{(d+1)\ell}(\mathbb{C}^N, \mathbb{C}^N)_q$ is finite dimensional, then obviously $m \leq \dim_{\mathbb{R}} J^{(d+1)\ell}(\mathbb{C}^N, \mathbb{C}^N)_q$, thus $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{hol}(M, p) \leq \dim_{\mathbb{R}} J^{(d+1)\ell}(\mathbb{C}^N, \mathbb{C}^N)_q$.

4.4 Example

Let M_{λ} , $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, be the generic, nowhere minimal submanifold of \mathbb{C}^3 , with holomorphic coordinates (z, w_1, w_2) defined by

$$\bar{w}_1 = e^{iz\bar{z}} w_1,$$

$$\bar{w}_2 = e^{i\lambda z\bar{z}} w_2.$$
(4.8)

As we will show below M_{λ} is almost minimal at 0 when λ is irrational. Hence as we have argued in the introduction, by the results of chapter 3 and chapter 4, M_{λ} cannot be locally biholomorphically equivalent to a generic real-algebraic submanifold.

We wish to classify the λ 's for which M_{λ} has the modulus uniqueness property at the origin. That is, we will wish to find out when does there exist a nontrivial meromorphic function which is real valued on M_{λ} . Note that we can always find a multi-valued function which is real valued on M_{λ} , and that is

$$(z, w_1, w_2) \mapsto \frac{w_1^{\lambda}}{w_2}.$$
(4.9)

In fact, this proves that M_{λ} is nowhere minimal. Further, if λ is rational, say $\lambda = a/b$, then $(z, w_1, w_2) \mapsto w_1^a/w_2^b$ is a meromorphic function that is real valued on M. Thus M_{λ} does not have the modulus uniqueness property, and further, since it is of codimension 2, it is not almost minimal at the origin.

Let us check that M_{λ} is almost minimal at 0 when λ is irrational. For this we need to compute the Segre sets. We can compute the third Segre set at (z^0, w_1^0, w_2^0) , where $w_1^0 \neq 0$ and $w_2^0 \neq 0$, by the following mapping (see [BER99])

$$(t_1, t_2, t_3) \mapsto (t_3, \overline{w_1^0} e^{i(t_3 t_2 - t_2 t_1 + t_1 \overline{z^0})}, \overline{w_2^0} e^{i\lambda(t_3 t_2 - t_2 t_1 + t_1 \overline{z^0})}).$$
(4.10)

We can pick t_3 to be anything we want, and we can pick t_2 and t_1 such that the second component is anything we want since w_1^0 is non zero. By adding multiples of 2π , we can add a dense set of rotations of the third component because λ is irrational. This means, that the closure of this set will be 5-dimensional, and thus we will not be able to fit it inside a proper complex-analytic subset and so M_{λ} is almost minimal.

We give an alternative more direct proof that M_{λ} does not have the modulus uniqueness property at the origin, and in fact prove a slightly more general theorem that can be used for generating further examples.

Proposition 4.15. Suppose that M is a real-analytic, generic submanifold of codimension d inside \mathbb{C}^{n+d} passing through the origin that can be defined by normal coordinates of the form

$$w_j = Q_j(z, \bar{z})\bar{w}_j \tag{4.11}$$

and further suppose that for any integer K the functions $Q_1^{k_1} \cdot Q_2^{k_2} \cdot \ldots \cdot Q_d^{k_d}$ for $0 \leq k_1, \ldots, k_d \leq K$ are linearly independent as functions. Then there does not exist a non-constant meromorphic (nor a holomorphic) function h defined in a neighbourhood of 0 which is real valued on M.

Proof. For easier notation we will assume n = 1 and d = 2. So suppose that h = f/g is real valued on M, meaning that on M we have $f\bar{g} - \bar{f}g = 0$. We have proved before that h does not depend on z. Suppose that f and g are defined by Taylor series expansions about 0. Thus

$$f(w_1, w_2) = \sum_{k,l \ge 0} f_{kl} w_1^k w_2^l, \qquad (4.12)$$

$$g(w_1, w_2) = \sum_{n, p \ge 0} g_{np} w_1^n w_2^p.$$
(4.13)

On M we therefore have (as $\bar{w}_i = \bar{Q}_i w_i$)

$$0 = f\bar{g} - \bar{f}g$$

$$= \left(\sum_{k,l,n,p\geq 0} f_{kl}\bar{g}_{np}w_1^k w_2^l \bar{w}_1^n \bar{w}_2^p\right) - \left(\sum_{k,l,n,p\geq 0} \bar{f}_{kl}g_{np}w_1^n w_2^p \bar{w}_1^k \bar{w}_2^l\right)$$

$$= \sum_{s,t\geq 0} \left(\sum_{k+n=s,\ l+p=t} f_{kl}\bar{g}_{np}(\bar{Q}_1)^p (\bar{Q}_2)^n - \bar{f}_{kl}g_{np}(\bar{Q}_1)^l (\bar{Q}_2)^k\right) w_1^s w_2^t.$$
(4.14)

For a fixed z we have a holomorphic function in w_1 and w_2 that is 0 on a generic manifold (restriction of M_{λ} to the (w_1, w_2) space) and is thus identically zero. This means that each coefficient is 0, and since by assumption these are linear combinations of powers of Q_1 and Q_2 , we get

$$f_{(s-k)(t-l)}\bar{g}_{kl} - \bar{f}_{kl}g_{(s-k)(t-l)} = 0.$$
(4.15)

The above is true for all $s, t \ge 0$ and all $k \le s, l \le t$. This implies that either $g \equiv 0$ or that $f_{kl} = Cg_{kl}$ for all k, l for some constant C. Meaning there is no nonconstant meromorphic function which is real valued on M.

5 Boundaries of Levi-flat hypersurfaces

5.1 Main results

The question we wish to ask is when is a generic codimension 2 submanifold $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ locally the boundary of a Levi-flat hypersurface H. In particular, we will ask the following. When does H extend as a Levi-flat hypersurface past M? When is H unique? How does the regularity of H depend on the regularity of M? We will answer these questions fully when M is real-analytic and H is smooth. As we said before, the results here are motivated by Dolbeault, Tomassini and Zaitsev [DTZ], who consider the global situation under additional assumptions on M.

A set $H \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a C^k hypersurface with boundary, if there is a subset $\partial H \subset H$, such that $\partial H \subset H$, $H \setminus \partial H$ is a C^k hypersurface (submanifold of codimension 1), and for each point $p \in \partial H$, there exists a neighbourhood $p \in U \subset \mathbb{C}^N$, a C^k diffeomorphism $\varphi \colon U \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$, such that $\varphi(H \cap U) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{2N} \mid x_{2N-1} \ge 0, x_{2N} = 0\}$, and such that $\varphi(\partial H \cap U) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{2N} \mid x_{2N-1} = 0, x_{2N} = 0\}$. Hence, ∂H is a C^k submanifold of codimension 2. We will call $H^o := H \setminus \partial H$ the interior of H. As we are concerned with only local questions, we can assume that there exists just one such U and such that $\partial H, H \subset U$. We can further assume that ∂H and H are closed subsets of U. We can extend H to \tilde{H} , a full C^k submanifold without boundary near 0, by just pulling back a neighbourhood of $0 \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ by φ .

A C^k $(k \ge 2)$ hypersurface H is said to be *Levi-flat* if the bundle T^cH is involutive. An equivalent definition is to say that near every point of H, there exists a one parameter local foliation of H by complex hypersurfaces, which is called the *Levi foliation*. To see why these are equivalent, note that if T^cH is involutive the Frobenius theorem gives us a C^{k-1} foliation with the leaves being complex hypersurfaces (they are locally the graphs of holomorphic functions). If H is a hypersurface with boundary as defined above, then we will say it is Levi-flat when H^o is Levi-flat. If H is a real-analytic subvariety of codimension 1, then we say it is Levi-flat, if it is Levi-flat as a submanifold at all the nonsingular points. We can now state our main result, which we will prove in section 5.2.

Theorem 5.1. Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a connected real-analytic generic submanifold of codimension 2 through the origin, such that not all local CR orbits of M are of codimension 2. Suppose that there exists a connected Levi-flat C^{∞} hypersurface Hwith boundary, where $M \subset \partial H$. Then there exists a neighbourhood U of the origin and a nonsingular real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface \mathcal{H} such that $H \cap U \subset \mathcal{H}$.

Further, the germ $(\mathcal{H}, 0)$ is unique in the sense that if $(\mathcal{H}', 0)$ is a germ of an irreducible real-analytic Levi-flat subvariety of codimension 1 such that $(M, 0) \subset (\mathcal{H}', 0)$, then $(\mathcal{H}', 0) = (\mathcal{H}, 0)$.

First, note that the condition that M is real-analytic is necessary for the extension to hold. See Example 5.13 in section 5.4 for a counterexample in case M is C^{∞} .

The condition on the local CR orbits is necessary for the conclusion that the extension \mathcal{H} is unique and real-analytic. If M is the boundary of a Levi-flat hypersurface, then all local CR orbits must be of positive codimension, see Lemma 5.5. If all the local CR orbits are of codimension 1, then the theorem follows easily by known results, see Lemma 5.7. Finally, if all local CR orbits would be of codimension 2, then $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ would be locally biholomorphic to $\mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{R}^2$, and we will give (Example 5.11 in section 5.4) an example of a bona fide C^{∞} (i.e. not contained in a real-analytic subvariety) Levi-flat hypersurface which contains such an M. Hence the theorem is, in this respect, optimal. In section 5.3, we will prove the following weaker extension theorem for such submanifolds, which is also optimal in view of the above examples. In the sequel, when we consider $\mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{R}^2$ as a subset of \mathbb{C}^N , we mean the natural embedding. **Theorem 5.2.** Suppose $H \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a C^{∞} Levi-flat hypersurface with boundary, and $0 \in \partial H \subset \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{R}^2$. Then for some neighbourhood U of the origin, there exists a C^{∞} Levi-flat hypersurface \mathcal{H} (without boundary) such that $H \cap U \subset \mathcal{H}$.

Further, the germ $(\mathcal{H}, 0)$ is unique in the sense that if $(\mathcal{H}', 0)$ is another a germ of a C^{∞} Levi-flat hypersurface such that $(H, 0) \subset (\mathcal{H}', 0)$, then $(\mathcal{H}', 0) = (\mathcal{H}, 0)$.

Note that the uniqueness in Theorem 5.2 is much weaker as \mathcal{H} depends on H, whereas in Theorem 5.1 \mathcal{H} depends only on M.

Theorem 5.1 says that in particular, there exists a holomorphic function defined near the origin with nonzero gradient that is real valued on M. In other words, Mis locally the boundary of a Levi-flat C^{∞} hypersurface if and only if M has local defining functions in $(z, w) \in \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{C}^2$ of the form:

$$\operatorname{Im} w_1 = \varphi(z, \bar{z}, \operatorname{Re} w),$$

$$\operatorname{Im} w_2 = 0,$$
(5.1)

for some φ such that $\varphi(0, \bar{z}, s) \equiv \varphi(z, 0, s) \equiv 0$ (i.e. these are normal coordinates). The classification of Levi-flat boundaries that are generic and real-analytic is therefore simple.

Corollary 5.3. Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a connected real-analytic generic submanifold of codimension 2 through the origin. The following are equivalent:

- (i) There exists a Levi-flat C^{∞} hypersurface H with boundary, such that $0 \in \partial H \subset M$.
- (ii) There exists a real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface (submanifold) H defined in a neighbourhood U of the origin such that $M \cap U \subset H$.
- (iii) There exist local holomorphic coordinates (near the origin) such that M is defined by an equation of the form (5.1).
- (iv) There exists a real-analytic foliation of codimension 1 in M, defined in a neighbourhood of the origin, such that the leaves are unions of (representatives of) local CR orbits of M.

When the Levi-flat hypersurface is only C^2 rather than smooth, then we will be able to prove that the individual leaves of the Levi foliation extend across M. See Lemma 5.14. However, we will not be able to ensure that the extended leaves are nonsingular, nor that their union is a nonsingular hypersurface. As an application of this lemma we prove the following theorem in section 5.5.

Theorem 5.4. Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ be a connected real-analytic generic submanifold of codimension 2 through the origin, which is almost minimal at the origin. Let H be a connected C^2 hypersurface with boundary and $M \subset \partial H$. Then H is not Levi-flat.

If H would be C^{∞} then the above result follows at once from Theorem 5.1. Further, not being almost minimal is a necessary, but not sufficient, condition to being a boundary of a C^2 Levi-flat hypersurface.

5.2 Locally flat boundaries

We prove some basic results about locally flat boundaries, before we prove theorem 5.1. For the rest of this section, we assume that H is a hypersurface with boundary, that $M = \partial H$, and that M is a generic submanifold through the origin.

Lemma 5.5. Let M be C^{∞} and H be C^2 , and suppose that H is Levi-flat, then M is nowhere minimal.

Proof. We can just extend H to \tilde{H} as in the introduction and assume ρ is a defining function for \tilde{H} . Then $\theta = i(\partial \rho - \bar{\partial} \rho)$ is a real C^1 one-form that vanishes on $T^c H$. On H, as H is Levi-flat, $d\theta \wedge \theta = 0$ and by continuity this happens on M as well if we restrict θ to M. θ cannot vanish on M as that would make M have a complex tangency (it would be tangent to $T^c \tilde{H}$). Hence there exists (locally at near every point) a foliation of M by CR submanifolds of smaller dimension with the same CR dimension as M, and so M cannot be minimal at any point.

Lemma 5.6. Let M and H be C^k $(2 \le k \le \infty)$, and suppose that H is Levi-flat, then the Levi foliation of H^o extends to a foliation of H. That is, in a perhaps a smaller neighbourhood of the origin, there exists a C^{k-1} , real valued, function f on H (including M) with nonvanishing differential $(f|_M \text{ also has nonvanishing differential})$, such that f is constant along leaves of the Levi foliation of H^o. If M and H are C^{∞} , then f is C^{∞} .

Proof. If $k = \infty$, then by C^{k-1} we will mean C^{∞} below. For convenience we change notation slightly. We straighten out the boundary, and assume H is the upper half plane $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid x_1 \geq 0\}$ and M is defined by $x_1 = 0$ (where n = 2N - 1). The C^{k-1} 1-form that vanishes on the vectors in $T_p^c H$ induces a C^{k-1} 1-form θ on the upper half plane in \mathbb{R}^n , and does not vanish on the tangent vectors to $x_1 = 0$ (else M would have a complex tangency). We can easily extend θ to all of \mathbb{R}^n (or at least a neighbourhood of the origin) as a C^{k-1} 1-form. We now follow the proof of the Frobenius theorem in [Fla89], to show that there exists a real valued function with nonvanishing differential at 0 that is constant on the Levi foliation of H^o . That is, we just need to show that we can modify θ on the set $x_1 < 0$, such that the modification is completely integrable. We have that $d\theta \wedge \theta = 0$ for $x_1 \geq 0$. It is not hard to see that there exists a C^{k-2} 1-form α defined near the origin such that $d\theta = \theta \wedge \alpha$ for $x_1 \geq 0$.

As θ does not vanish near the origin (and does not vanish identically on T_0M), we may assume that $\theta = dx_n + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} A_j dx_j$. Fix a point *a* in *x'* space, where $x' = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1})$. We consider the equation $\theta = 0$ on the hyperplane $x_j = a_j t$ for $t \in \mathbb{R}$. We solve this ODE for x_n , with the initial condition $x_n(0) = c$, for some constant *c*. That is, we find the unique solution of

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial t}(t, a, c) = -\sum_{j} A_{j}(at, F(t, a, c))a_{j},$$

$$F(0, a, c) = c.$$
(5.2)

We note that we can change scale F(t, a, c) = F(kt, a/k, c), and hence setting k = 1/t, we get F(t, a, c) = F(1, ta, c). We change variables to $(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\begin{aligned} x' &= u, \\ x_n &= F(1, u, v). \end{aligned} \tag{5.3}$$

It is not hard to check that this is a change of coordinates. In these new coordinates we write

$$\theta = \sum_{j} P_j du_j + B dv.$$
(5.4)

We define

$$\tilde{\theta} = Bdv. \tag{5.5}$$

If we show that the P_j vanish for $x_1 \ge 0$ $(u_1 \ge 0)$, then we are done. We know that $\sum P_j(ta, v)a_j = 0$. This implies that if we consider the mapping $\varphi(t, a, v) := (ta, v)$, we get

$$\varphi^*\theta = \sum \tilde{P}_j(t, a, v) da_j + \tilde{B}(t, a, v) dv.$$
(5.6)

In particular, $\varphi^*\theta$ does not depend on dt. Further $\tilde{P}_j(t, a, v) = tP_j(ta, v)$ so $\tilde{P}_j(0, a, v) = 0$. Now suppose that $a_1 \ge 0$ and $t \ge 0$, then we have that $d(\varphi^*\theta) = (\varphi^*\alpha) \land (\varphi^*\theta)$. We set D so that $\varphi^*\alpha = D(t, a, v)dt + \ldots$ From this equation we obtain

$$\frac{\partial P_j}{\partial t} = D\tilde{P}_j. \tag{5.7}$$

By the uniqueness theorem for ODEs and the fact that $\tilde{P}_j(0, a, v) = 0$ this implies that \tilde{P}_j is identically zero, and hence P_j is identically zero. This was true for $a_1 \ge 0$ $(t \ge 0)$ and hence on the upper half plane and hence on H. We therefore have $\theta = \tilde{\theta}$ on the upper half plane and $\tilde{\theta}$ is closed and thus exact. We get our f of class C^{k-1} (or C^{∞} if $k = \infty$) by Poincaré Lemma. \Box

Lemma 5.7. Let M be real-analytic and H be C^2 , and suppose that the local CR orbits of M are all of codimension 1. Then there exists a neighbourhood U of the origin such that $(U \cap H) \subset \mathcal{H}$, where \mathcal{H} is the unique Levi-flat real-analytic hypersurface in U that contains M.

Note that \mathcal{H} is the union of the intrinsic complexifications of the local CR orbits of M. Where the intrinsic complexification is the smallest complex submanifold containing the local CR orbit.

Proof. Since M is real-analytic and the local CR orbits are all of codimension 1, we can therefore apply the analytic Frobenius theorem to get a real-analytic real valued function on some small neighbourhood U of the origin in M with

nonvanishing differential that is constant along the local CR orbits of M. Such a function is CR and hence extends to be holomorphic and the vanishing of its imaginary part defines a Levi-flat hypersurface \mathcal{H} .

Assume that $H \subset U$. We must show that $H \subset \mathcal{H}$. By Lemma 5.6, we have that the Levi foliation of H^o extends to M (by perhaps making U smaller still). That is, we have complex submanifolds of \mathbb{C}^n with boundary on M. It is not hard to see by the arguments used above that a leaf $L \subset H$ extended to the boundary intersects M precisely on a local CR orbit (by dimension). The function that defines the corresponding leaf of the Levi foliation of \mathcal{H} is of course holomorphic on L and zero on the boundary of L, hence $L \subset \mathcal{H}$, and so $H \subset \mathcal{H}$.

Proof of Theorem 5.1. Let L_k , k = 1, ..., 2N - 4, be a basis of real-analytic vectorfields spanning $T_p^c M$ defined near the origin. As not all local CR orbits are of codimension 2, then there must exist an iterated commutator K of the L_k , which is not identically zero. As M is nowhere minimal (by Lemma 5.5), then by dimension, K together with L_k span the tangent space of the CR orbit whenever K is nonzero.

By Lemma 5.6 we have a C^{∞} codimension 1 foliation on M. Hence, by forgetting for a moment the CR structure of M, we can reduce to a situation where we have a C^{∞} codimension 1 foliation on a small neighbourhood $U \subset \mathbb{R}^{2N-2}$, given by a C^{∞} submersion $\varphi \colon U \to \mathbb{R}$, and real-analytic vector fields L_k and K, which are tangent to the leaves of the foliation, L_k never vanish and K does not vanish identically. To see that the foliation must be real-analytic, we only need to look at TU, the tangent bundle of U, and look at the normal bundle of the foliation:

$$\{(x,v) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^{2N-2} = TU \mid \nabla\varphi(x) = tv, t \in \mathbb{R}\},\tag{5.8}$$

which is a C^{∞} submanifold of dimension 2N - 1. We define a larger real-analytic subvariety of the same dimension:

$$\{(x,v) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^{2N-2} = TU \mid K(x) \cdot v = 0, L_k(x) \cdot v = 0, k = 1, \dots, 2N-4\},$$
(5.9)

where we view L_k and K as an \mathbb{R}^{2N-2} valued function, and the dot is the usual dot product. Hence by Malgrange (Theorem 1.4), we see that the normal bundle to the foliation must be a real-analytic submanifold. Therefore there must exist (locally near the origin, by Frobenius) a real valued, real-analytic submersion $f: M \to \mathbb{R}$ defining the foliation. This submersion is constant along the local CR orbits of Mand hence must be a CR function. All real-analytic CR functions extend uniquely to holomorphic functions in \mathbb{C}^N . Thus f is really a holomorphic function with a nonvanishing gradient on M, which is real valued on M. Hence the equation $\operatorname{Im} f = 0$ defines a real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface \mathcal{H} , which contains M. \mathcal{H} must contain H since it must contain the leaves of the Levi foliation of H by Lemma 5.7, and the leaves of H are given by the foliation given by Lemma 5.6. Actually, Lemma 5.7 only tells us about leaves that pass through points of Mwhere the codimension of the local CR orbit is 1. However, the remaining points lie on a real-analytic subvariety of M, and hence leaves that only pass through these points are isolated and thus must also lie in \mathcal{H} , since it is locally closed.

The uniqueness of \mathcal{H} is one of the conclusions of Theorem 3.11.

5.3 Extension across flat boundaries

When the local CR orbits of M are all of codimension 2, the situation is different. In this section we will prove Theorem 5.2. First we will prove this result in \mathbb{C}^2 , and then reduce the general case to this. In section 5.4, we will see that a C^{∞} extension is the best we can do. Suppose that τ is the complex conjugation function.

Theorem 5.8. Suppose that $U \subset \mathbb{C}^2$, $U = \tau(U)$ and $H \subset U$ is a Levi-flat C^{∞} hypersurface with boundary, with $\partial H \subset \mathbb{R}^2$. Then $H \cup \tau(H)$ is a C^{∞} Levi-flat hypersurface (without boundary).

The idea is to extend the leaves of the Levi foliation of H across \mathbb{R}^2 . Because H has a boundary on \mathbb{R}^2 , the leaves must be subvarieties of $U \setminus \mathbb{R}^2$, and since H is C^{∞} this will imply that these subvarieties, once extended, cannot have an isolated singularity on \mathbb{R}^2 .

Proof. We can assume that H is closed in U. By Lemma 5.6 the foliation extends up to \mathbb{R}^2 . In particular the leaves are closed subsets and hence the leaves are

complex-analytic subvarieties of $U \setminus \mathbb{R}^2$. Let L be a leaf of the foliation. Since L has boundary on \mathbb{R}^2 , we find the complex tangent line and can think of L as a graph of a holomorphic function. Thus by Schwarz reflection principle in one variable, $\overline{L \cap \tau(L)}$ is a subvariety of U. We now look at a leaf of the foliation restricted to \mathbb{R}^2 . A priory, this is a C^{∞} submanifold, however as the leaves of the Levi foliation on H extend as complex-analytic subvarieties across \mathbb{R}^2 , this means that the leaf of the foliation on \mathbb{R}^2 must be contained in a real-analytic subvariety of the same dimension and by Theorem 1.4, must be a real-analytic submanifold. This means that the leaves of the Levi foliation of H cannot be singular on \mathbb{R}^2 when extended to U. Since the leaves of this foliation are complex submanifolds (and hence C^{∞}) and are not tangent to \mathbb{R}^2 , it is not hard to check that $H \cup \tau(H)$ must be a C^{∞} submanifold.

To finish the proof of Theorem 5.2 we can just apply the following lemma. We will use coordinates $(z, w) \in \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{C}^2$.

Lemma 5.9. Suppose that $U = U_z \times U_w \subset \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{C}^2$ is a connected neighbourhood, and $\tau(U_w) = U_w$. $H \subset U$ is a connected Levi-flat C^{∞} hypersurface with boundary, with $\partial H \subset \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{R}^2$. Then $H \subset \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times H_w \subset \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{C}^2$, where $H_w \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ is a C^{∞} Levi-flat hypersurface with boundary such that $\partial H_w \subset \mathbb{R}^2$.

Proof. We have already seen that the leaves of the foliation induced on ∂H are unions of CR orbits. Here the CR orbits are just given by $\{(z, w) \mid w = w^0\}$ for a fixed w^0 . So take one leaf L of the Levi foliation on H extended to the boundary. It is then easy to see that $L \cap \partial H$ is equal to (after perhaps extending in the zdirection) to $\mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times A$ for some submanifold $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$.

Fix some $p = (z^0, w^0) \in \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{R}^2$, such that $p \in L$. It is then not hard to see that if we let $L_w := L \cap \{(z, w) \mid z = 0\}$, then $L_w \setminus \mathbb{R}^2$ is a codimension 1 complex-analytic subvariety of $V \setminus \mathbb{R}^2$, for some small neighbourhood V of w^0 . Further, $L_w \cap \partial H = A$, and one component of L_w is path connected to A. This is because of how L is defined. If \tilde{H} is any C^{∞} submanifold extending H (as noted in the introduction), then L can be extended to a real C^{∞} submanifold of \tilde{H} . Further, this extension meets $\mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{R}^2$ transversely in H, and all the derivatives in the z and \bar{z} directions of the defining functions must vanish. Hence, L_w is a submanifold with boundary in some small neighbourhood of w^0 . By dimension, L is then equal to $\mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times L_w$ in some small neighbourhood of p. So near some point, L can be defined by an equation not depending on z. Since L is a connected complex-analytic submanifold, this is true everywhere on L. H is a union of such L and the lemma follows.

The uniqueness in Theorem 5.2 is obvious in view of the fact that the extension (near the origin) is given by extension of the leaves of the Levi foliation and complex submanifolds have unique continuation.

5.4 Counterexamples

In this section we will give examples to show that the assumptions in Theorem 5.1 and Theorem 5.2 are indeed optimal.

Example 5.10. It is obvious that Levi-flat hypersurfaces which contain $\mathbb{R}^2 \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ cannot be unique since for example if we have coordinates $(z, w) \in \mathbb{C}^2$, then both the hypersurfaces Im z = 0 and Im w = 0 contain \mathbb{R}^2 .

Example 5.11. We can find a C^{∞} Levi-flat hypersurface in \mathbb{C}^2 which contains \mathbb{R}^2 , but which is not real-analytic (not contained in a real-analytic subvariety of the same dimension). First let

$$\varphi(x) := \begin{cases} e^{-1/x} & x > 0, \\ 0 & x \le 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.10)

Then define H by looking at

$$\rho_t(z, w) := \varphi(t) z^2 + t - w.$$
(5.11)

On \mathbb{R}^2 this defines a C^{∞} (but not real-analytic) family of real-analytic curves, and it therefore cannot be induced by a real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurface. We need to show that as (z, w) range over some neighbourhood of the origin in \mathbb{C}^2 , and t ranges over a small interval, $\rho_t = 0$ defines a Levi-flat hypersurface. It suffices
to show that it is a submanifold near zero. It is automatically Levi-flat since it is then given by a 1 parameter family of complex-analytic subvarieties. First, we check that if z, w, and t are kept small, then the complex-analytic subvarieties do not intersect for different t. By direct calculation this can be seen to be the case as long as |z| < 1. We look at $\operatorname{Re} \rho_t$ and $\operatorname{Im} \rho_t$, and notice $\operatorname{Re} \rho_t$ as a function of ($\operatorname{Re} z, \operatorname{Im} z, \operatorname{Re} w, t$) satisfies the real-analytic implicit function theorem at 0 and hence we can find a real-analytic solution $t = \alpha(\operatorname{Re} z, \operatorname{Im} z, \operatorname{Re} w)$, then we have a smooth hypersurface defined by

$$0 = \operatorname{Im} \rho_{\alpha} = \varphi(\alpha(\operatorname{Re} z, \operatorname{Im} z, \operatorname{Re} w)) \operatorname{Im}(z^{2}) - \operatorname{Re} w.$$
(5.12)

Thus the requirement in Theorem 5.1 that not all local CR orbits are of codimension 2 in M is necessary. This is because the above example extends to \mathbb{C}^N by just letting $M = \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{R}^2$.

Example 5.12. The methods of this chapter revolve around extending the Levi foliation of the hypersurface and thereby extending H. Such methods are bound to fail in general when M has a complex tangent and therefore is not a CR submanifold. In the following example, we show that even if we can extend a Levi-flat hypersurface past a CR singular boundary, the extension need not be unique, even in the sense of Theorem 5.2.

Let $(z, w) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \times \mathbb{C}$ be our coordinates. For a fixed t, let H_t be a Levi-flat hypersurface defined by

$$\operatorname{Im} w = t\varphi(-\operatorname{Re} w),\tag{5.13}$$

where φ is as before. Then define M by

$$\operatorname{Re} w = |z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2$$
 and $\operatorname{Im} w = 0.$ (5.14)

Outside of the origin, M is a CR submanifold, where the codimension of the CR orbits must be 1, as M contains no complex-analytic subvarieties. But then we have a whole family of Levi-flat hypersurfaces which contain M.

Example 5.13. If M would be only C^{∞} , then no general extension theorem like Theorem 5.1 nor Theorem 5.2 holds. First, let $\sqrt{\cdot}$ denote the principal branch of the square root, and note that the function $\xi \mapsto e^{-1/\sqrt{\xi}}$, holomorphic for $\operatorname{Re} \xi > 0$, can be extended to be C^{∞} on $\operatorname{Re} \xi \geq 0$. Suppose that in coordinates $(z, w_1, w_2) \in \mathbb{C}^3$ we define a C^{∞} Levi-flat hypersurface with boundary by

$$\operatorname{Re} w_1 \ge |z|^2$$
 and $\operatorname{Re} w_2 = \operatorname{Re} e^{-1/\sqrt{w_1}}$. (5.15)

M is defined similarly by $\operatorname{Re} w_1 = |z|^2$ and $\operatorname{Re} w_2 = \operatorname{Re} e^{-1/\sqrt{w_1}}$. It is easy to check that M is a generic C^{∞} submanifold. Further, since M contains no complexanalytic subvarieties, the CR orbits of M can be seen to be of codimension 1. At an interior point, H is given by a vanishing of the real part of a holomorphic function and so H is Levi-flat.

However, H cannot possibly extend across M since that would mean that the leaves of the Levi foliation of H would have to extend. The leaf of H that goes through the origin is given by $w_2 = e^{-1/\sqrt{w_1}}$. Since this subvariety is given as a graph, if we could possibly extend this complex-analytic subvariety across the origin, we could extend the function $e^{-1/\sqrt{w_1}}$ across $w_1 = 0$, and we know this is not possible.

5.5 Almost minimal submanifolds

We will now prove Theorem 5.4. Recall that a real-analytic generic submanifold M is almost minimal at 0 if for every neighbourhood U of 0, there exists a point $p \in M \cap U$ such that (some representative of) the local CR orbit at p is not contained in a proper complex-analytic subvariety of U. Let us restate Theorem 5.4 for reader convenience.

Theorem. Let M be a connected real-analytic generic submanifold of codimension 2 through the origin, which is almost minimal at the origin. Let H be a connected C^2 hypersurface with boundary and $M \subset \partial H$. Then H is not Levi-flat.

Theorem 5.4 is a consequence of the following more general result.

Lemma 5.14. Let M be a connected real-analytic generic codimension 2 submanifold through the origin and let H be a connected C^2 hypersurface with boundary, and $M \subset \partial H$. Suppose that there exists a point on M where the local CR orbits are of codimension 1. Then there exists some neighbourhood U of the origin such that the leaves of the Levi foliation of H° extend to be closed complex-analytic subvarieties of U.

Recall \mathcal{X}_p is the intrinsic complexification of the local CR orbit at p, that is, the smallest germ of a complex-analytic submanifold that contains the local CR orbit at p.

We now prove Lemma 5.14 and therefore Theorem 5.4. The method of this proof together with Theorem 5.8 could be used to give a different (but longer) proof of Theorem 5.1.

Proof of Lemma 5.14. We first write M in terms of normal coordinates $(z, w) \in \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \mathbb{C}^2$, and take U to be the neighbourhood small enough to apply Lemma 3.9 (that is U = V in the Lemma).

If the local CR orbits are of codimension 1 somewhere on M, they are of codimension 1 outside a proper real-analytic subvariety of M. Let p be one of the points where local CR orbits of M are of codimension 1.

We note that if L is a leaf of the Levi foliation of H (we extend this foliation to M as above) such that $p \in L$, then by Lemma 5.7, applied in a suitably small neighbourhood of p, we see that as germs $(L,p) \subset \mathcal{X}_p$. Hence we can extend L to a small neighbourhood of p, and it will agree with some representative of \mathcal{X}_p . By Lemma 3.9, we see that near p, L is defined by equations independent of z. Since L is a connected complex submanifold of U, then at each point it is defined by equations independent of z. Hence there exists a submanifold \tilde{L} of the same dimension, such that $L \subset \tilde{L}$ and $\tilde{L} = \mathbb{C}^{N-2} \times \tilde{L}_w$ where \tilde{L}_w is a complex hypersurface of \mathbb{C}^2 . If we fix $z = z^0$ and look at $M \cap \{z = z_0\}$, we see that this is a maximally totally real submanifold of \mathbb{C}^2 , and hence locally biholomorphic to \mathbb{R}^2 . We can apply the same reasoning as in the proof of Theorem 5.8 to apply Schwarz reflection principle to extend this complex hypersurface across \mathbb{R}^2 . We can therefore assume that \tilde{L}_w is a subvariety of $U \cap \{z = z_0\}$ (for a perhaps smaller U) and hence \tilde{L} is a complex-analytic subvariety of U.

5.6 Almost minimal example

As in section 4.4, let M_{λ} , $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, be the generic, nowhere minimal submanifold of \mathbb{C}^3 , with holomorphic coordinates (z, w_1, w_2) defined by

$$\bar{w}_1 = e^{iz\bar{z}}w_1,$$

$$\bar{w}_2 = e^{i\lambda z\bar{z}}w_2.$$
(5.16)

We have already seen that when λ is irrational, this submanifold is almost minimal at 0, and thus not contained in any Levi-flat real-analytic subvariety of codimension 1.

When $\lambda = a/b$ is rational, M_{λ} is contained in a Levi-flat subvariety of codimension 1, as the meromorphic function w_1^a/w_2^b is real valued on M_{λ} .

By Theorem 5.4, M_{λ} is not a boundary of a C^2 Levi-flat hypersurface for λ irrational. We prove the following theorem to show that it cannot be a "boundary" of a real-analytic Levi-flat subvariety, even if we allow singularities.

Theorem 5.15. Let λ be irrational and let $M_{\lambda} \subset \mathbb{C}^3$ be as above. Suppose H is a codimension 1 real-analytic subvariety of $D - M_{\lambda}$, where D is a polydisc in \mathbb{C}^3 centered at the origin. Suppose that there exists a point $p \in M_{\lambda}$, and a connected C^2 hypersurface N with boundary, such that $p \in \partial N \subset M_{\lambda}$, and $N^{\circ} \subset H$. Then H is not Levi-flat.

In fact, if H is irreducible, then H is not Levi-flat at any nonsingular point of top dimension.

Proof. Assume for contradiction that H is Levi-flat. In particular this means that $N^o \cap H^*$ is Levi-flat, where H^* are the nonsingular points of hypersurface dimension. Thus N^o is Levi-flat on an open dense set. Since being Levi-flat means a certain C^1 1-form is integrable, then it is integrable on all of N^o by continuity.

Pick a point $p = (z, w_1, w_2)$ on $M = M_{\lambda}$, such that $p \in N$, and the local CR orbits of M are of codimension 1 in a neighbourhood $U \subset M$ of p.

If we take $q \in U$, and \mathcal{X}_q is (some representative of the germ of) intrinsic complexification of the local CR orbit, then $M \cap \mathcal{X}_q$ is a hypersurface in \mathcal{X}_q and hence divides \mathcal{X}_q into two connected sets (we can pick a representative of \mathcal{X}_q small enough). Hence we can write \mathcal{X}_q as a disjoint union of three connected sets as follows:

$$\mathcal{X}_q = \mathcal{X}_q^+ \cup (M \cap \mathcal{X}_q) \cup \mathcal{X}_q^-.$$
(5.17)

By Lemma 5.7, we see that either $\mathcal{X}_q^+ \subset N^o$ or $\mathcal{X}_q^- \subset N^o$. Suppose $\mathcal{X}_q^+ \subset N^o \subset H$.

We will find a parametrization of \mathcal{X}_q and hence of \mathcal{X}_q^+ . We will construct this parametrization of \mathcal{X}_q by the use of Segre sets. We compute the third Segre set at $q = (z^0, w_1^0, w_2^0)$, where $w_1^0 \neq 0$ and $w_2^0 \neq 0$, by the following mapping (see [BER99])

$$\varphi(t_1, t_2, t_3) := (t_3, \overline{w_1^0} e^{i(t_3 t_2 - t_2 t_1 + t_1 \overline{z^0})}, \overline{w_2^0} e^{i\lambda(t_3 t_2 - t_2 t_1 + t_1 \overline{z^0})}).$$
(5.18)

That is, the image of this mapping agrees with \mathcal{X}_q as germs at p. We must be careful to stay within the polydisc $D \subset \mathbb{C}^3$ in the image. So let us suppose that M is only defined in D.

Let $\theta := \arg w_1^0$. On M, $\arg w_1^0 = \frac{1}{\lambda} \arg w_2^0 = \theta$. Changing variables by precomposing with $(\xi, \omega) \mapsto (0, \frac{\omega+\theta}{\xi}, \xi)$ we get the mapping:

$$\tilde{\varphi}(\xi,\omega) := (\xi, \overline{w_1^0} e^{i(\omega+\theta)}, \overline{w_2^0} e^{i\lambda(\omega+\theta)}).$$
(5.19)

The image of this mapping is on M when

$$\overline{w_1^0}e^{i(\omega+\theta)} = e^{i|\xi|^2}w_1^0e^{-i(\overline{\omega}+\theta)},$$

$$\overline{w_2^0}e^{i\lambda(\omega+\theta)} = e^{i\lambda|\xi|^2}w_2^0e^{-i\lambda(\overline{\omega}+\theta)}.$$
(5.20)

That is, the pullback of the CR orbit at q by $\tilde{\varphi}$ is

$$\operatorname{Re}\omega = \frac{1}{2}\left|\xi\right|^2. \tag{5.21}$$

Let S be hypersurface in the parameter space (ξ, ω) defined by (5.21). So if, in the parameter space (ξ, ω) , we stay on one or the other side of S, we are parametrizing either \mathcal{X}_q^+ or \mathcal{X}_q^- .

Let us also vary w_1^0 and w_2^0 , while keeping $q = (z^0, w_1^0, w_2^0)$ within M. That is let $w_1^0 = re^{i\theta}$ and $w_2^0 = se^{i\lambda\theta}$, and now let r and s vary. We define a mapping ψ by adding the parameters r and s to $\tilde{\varphi}$

$$\psi(\xi,\omega,r,s) := (\xi, re^{-i\theta}e^{i(\omega+\theta)}, se^{-i\lambda\theta}e^{i\lambda(\omega+\theta)}) = (\xi, re^{i\omega}, se^{i\lambda\omega}).$$
(5.22)

As r and s vary over a small interval and ξ and ω vary over some small connected open set, such that the image of ψ never leaves D, and further, such that ξ and ω stay on one side of S, we get a parametrization of an open part of H. This is because as we vary r and s, we vary q, and then as we vary ξ and ω , we parametrize \mathcal{X}_q^+ (as long as ξ and ω stay on one side of S).

We will make the parametrization an immersion by restricting ω to be real. Then for a small open set $V \subset \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^3$, $\psi|_V$ is an immersion. We pick this V such that $\psi(V) \subset H$. Pick any connected open $V' \subset \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^3$, such that $V \subset V'$ and for all $(\xi, \omega, r, s) \in V'$ we have $\omega > \frac{1}{2} |\xi|^2$ (or $\omega < \frac{1}{2} |\xi|^2$) and $r, s \in (0, \epsilon)$ (where ϵ is the radius of D). It is clear that $\psi(V') \subset D \setminus M$. Further, $\psi(V') \subset H$, since H is a subvariety of $D \setminus M$ and V' is connected and if we pull back H by $\psi|_{V'}$ we must get a subvariety of V' which contains V.

Note that we can pick V' such that it contains all $\omega \in (0, \infty)$ (or in $(-\infty, 0)$). Without loss of generality suppose we can let ω go to plus infinity and still stay within H

We will show that H must be dense (in \mathbb{C}^3) near some point not on M, but arbitrarily close to 0. Let ξ vary in some small open set and let r and s vary in some small open interval. For a bounded interval of ω we will parametrize a 5-dimensional set. Now we can start adding 2π to ω and we add a dense set of rotations to the third component in (5.22), without changing the first two. Thus the image of ψ must be dense near some point and this contradicts H being a subvariety of codimension 1.

Now suppose that H is irreducible. We apply Lemma 1.18 and so since H^* is Levi-flat at one point, it is Levi-flat at all points.

5.7 Subanalytic hypersurfaces

If we allow subanalytic hypersurfaces (see section 1.3 or [BM88]), then we have the following result.

Theorem 5.16. Let M be a real-analytic, codimension 2, generic submanifold that is nowhere minimal. Then there exists a subanalytic hypersurface H, which is Leviflat at nonsingular points, such that $M \subset H$. Further, if H^* are the nonsingular points of top dimension of H, then $M \cap H^*$ is dense in M.

Proof. If all CR orbits of M are of codimension 2, this is trivial. Otherwise, intersect with a small ball around any point in which normal coordinates (z, w)are defined. Then take the projection π_w onto the w factor. $\pi_w(M)$ is a subanalytic hypersurface in general. Apply Lemma 3.9 to see that all the \mathcal{X}_p are product sets, and $\pi_w(\mathcal{X}_p)$ is contained in $\pi_w(M)$. If $\pi_w(M)$ is of codimension 2, M had CR orbits of only codimension 2. If $\pi_w(M)$ is of codimension 0, then M must have been minimal. Hence $\pi_w(M)$ must have been a subanalytic hypersurface foliated by complex-analytic subvarieties (the projections of the CR orbits), since M is nowhere minimal. Thus $\pi_w(M)$ is the subanalytic hypersurface we are looking for. See section 3 for more details of this method.

Note that we must intersect with a small ball first, else the image of the projection need not be subanalytic. The submanifold M_{λ} for λ irrational from section 5.6, when projected onto the w factor without restricting the z to be bounded, will be a dense set in \mathbb{C}^2 which is not subanalytic. On the other hand, if we intersect M_{λ} with the set $|z| \leq 1$, and we look at $\pi_w(M_{\lambda})$, we get the following subanalytic hypersurface:

$$\left\{ w \in \mathbb{C}^2 \mid \arg w_1 = t, \ \arg w_2 = \lambda t, \ -\frac{1}{2} \le t \le 0 \right\}.$$
(5.23)

Note that H^* (the nonsingular points of top dimension of H) is again a subanalytic set and hence a locally finite union of real-analytic submanifolds. Thus we have that a nowhere minimal M is contained in the closure of a locally finite union of real-analytic Levi-flat hypersurfaces. If the points where the CR foliation of M is of codimension 1 are connected, then we need only take one hypersurface. However, H need not have smooth boundary nor does the boundary need to be equal to M if it does. Thus we cannot apply Theorem 5.1.

If we allow hypersurfaces with singularities all the way up to M in the sense of [DTZ], then the above result suggests that, at least locally, any nowhere minimal submanifold could conceivably bound such a singular hypersurface.

5.8 Algebraic boundaries

Recall that a submanifold M is real-algebraic if it is contained in an algebraic subvariety of the same dimension. If we know that M is a real-algebraic codimension 2 submanifold we know by Theorem 3.13 that there exists a real-algebraic Levi-flat hypersurface. The global problem is the following: If M is real-algebraic compact codimension 2 submanifold, when does there exist a compact smooth (or singular) Levi-flat hypersurface with boundary M? While we do not have an answer to the general question, we do have the following.

Proposition 5.17. Suppose $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ is a connected real-algebraic submanifold of real codimension 2, such that there exists an open set U (which intersects M) for which $U \cap M$ is a nowhere minimal CR submanifold. Then there exists a singular Levi-flat hypersurface $H \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ defined by a real polynomial ρ , such that $M \subset H$.

Proof. Apply Theorem 3.13 to $U \cap M$ to obtain H. H contains the algebraic subvariety that contains $U \cap M$ and hence it must contain M.

Unfortunately even if M is compact, then we do not know if $H \setminus M$ (nor $H^* \setminus M$) has a relatively compact topological component which could serve as our hypersurface with boundary M. In fact we do not a priory know that a component of $H^* \setminus M$ does not meet "both sides" of M near some point (hence H could not be the boundary).

We have the following proposition on the regularity of H however.

Proposition 5.18. Suppose $M \subset \mathbb{C}^N$, $N \geq 3$, is a compact connected realalgebraic submanifold of codimension 2 and suppose that there exists a C^{∞} Levi-flat hypersurface H with boundary M. Further, suppose that a dense set of leaves of the Levi-foliation of H meet M at a CR point. Then H is real-algebraic.

Proof. M is, of course, nowhere minimal at CR points by Lemma 5.5. Further, we note that M cannot be flat. In fact, no CR orbits are of codimension 2. If they were, then these CR orbits would be germs of complex-analytic subvarieties of positive dimension (because $N \geq 3$) and those cannot lie in a compact algebraic submanifold, see [D'A93] section 3.2.

We construct H' by Proposition 5.17. Hence H has to agree with H' at each nonsingular point of H'. Finally, M cannot lie in the singularity of H' by Corollary 2.3. Each leaf of the Levi-foliation of H which meets a CR point, must also lie in H'. This must happen for a dense set of leaves and the CR points of $M \setminus H'_s$ are dense in M. Hence the closure of those leaves must be in H' and hence $H \subset H'$ and we are done.

6 Proper mappings between balls

6.1 General problem

Let $\mathbb{B}_n \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be the unit ball. Let $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ be a proper holomorphic mapping, how can we relate the "complexity" of f to the dimensions n and N. If n = 1, then $z \mapsto z^d$ is of arbitrary degree, so we must first assume that $n \geq 2$. Also, $N \geq n$, since proper mappings cannot decrease dimension, as there exist no compact complex-analytic subvarieties. Forstnerič [For89] proved that if f is sufficiently smooth up to the boundary, then f is a rational mapping, and further, that there exists a bound for the degree of f in terms of n and N. D'Angelo [D'A93] made the following conjecture:

Conjecture 6.1. Suppose $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ $(n \ge 2)$ is a proper (holomorphic) rational mapping, then

$$\deg(f) \le \begin{cases} 2N - 3 & \text{if } n = 2\\ \frac{N-1}{n-1} & \text{if } n \ge 3. \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

There exist monomial examples (each component of the mapping is a monomial) that achieve both bounds, hence the conjecture is sharp if true. Further, D'Angelo, Kos and Riehl proved the conjecture for monomial mappings when n = 2in [DKR03]. In [DLP], together with D'Angelo and Peters, we proved the conjecture for monomial mappings when d is "small" or when n is "large." Further, we proved weaker bounds in general. These results will be studied in detail the sequel. Most of the results of this chapter have appeared in some form in [DLP], except for sections 6.5, 6.6, and 6.7, which for the most part appear here for the first time.

6.2 Monomial mappings

Let $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ be a proper polynomial mapping. That is, each component f_k , $k = 1, \ldots, N$, of the mapping is a holomorphic polynomial. Further assume that each f_k is in fact a single monomial. Using multiindex notation, such mappings can be written as

$$z \in \mathbb{C}^n \mapsto (c_1 z^{\alpha_1}, c_2 z^{\alpha_2}, \dots, c_N z^{\alpha_N}) \in \mathbb{C}^N,$$
(6.2)

where $c_k \in \mathbb{C}$ are constants. This is what we will mean by monomial mappings.

The first indication that this is an interesting case comes from the results of Faran [Far82], who proved that when n = 2 and N = 3, then, up to automorphisms of source and target, the only possible proper mappings are the following:

$$(z,w) \mapsto (z,w,0), \tag{6.3}$$

$$(z,w) \mapsto (z,zw,w^2), \tag{6.4}$$

$$(z,w) \mapsto (z^2, \sqrt{2}zw, w^2), \tag{6.5}$$

$$(z,w) \mapsto (z^3, \sqrt{3}zw, w^3).$$
 (6.6)

The mapping (6.6) is very special, and we will call it the *Faran mapping*.

What does it mean for a monomial (or any rational) mapping to be proper? As we noted in the introduction, it means that boundary is taken to boundary (if the mapping extends to the boundary). In particular we get the following equation:

$$||f(z)||^2 := \sum_{k=1}^N |f_k(z)|^2 = 1$$
, when $||z||^2 = 1$. (6.7)

If $f_k(z) = c_k z^{\alpha_k}$, then the equation becomes:

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} |c_k|^2 z^{\alpha_k} \bar{z}^{\alpha_k} = 1, \text{ when } ||z||^2 = 1.$$
(6.8)

If we introduce new variables $x_j = |z_j|^2$ and let $a_k = |c_k|^2$, then we have the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k x^{\alpha_k}, \text{ when } \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j = 1.$$
 (6.9)

Any nonconstant polynomial as above, where $a_k \ge 0$, induces a proper holomorphic mapping, by just reversing the above procedure. This operation is not one to one as we can multiply the c_k by $e^{i\theta}$ and this corresponds to the same a_k . For example, the Faran mapping (6.6) corresponds to the polynomial

$$p(x,y) = x^3 + 3xy + y^3.$$
(6.10)

Definition 6.2. Suppose p(x) is a real polynomial, we will denote by N(p) the number of distinct monomials in p. Further, for ease of notation we define

$$s(x) := \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j.$$
(6.11)

Further, we will denote the set of polynomials $p: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with nonnegative coefficients, such that p = 1 when s = 1 and are of degree d exactly, by $\mathcal{H}(n, d)$. We will say that p is *optimal* in $\mathcal{H}(n, d)$, if it minimizes N(p).

We will also frequently decompose $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ into its homogeneous parts. That is we will write

$$p = p_d + p_{d-1} + \dots + p_0, \tag{6.12}$$

where p_k are the monomials of p which are of homogeneous degree k.

In this new formulation, the D'Angelo conjecture is stated as follows.

Conjecture 6.3. Suppose $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$, then

$$d \leq \begin{cases} 2N(p) - 3 & \text{if } n = 2\\ \frac{N(p) - 1}{n - 1} & \text{if } n \geq 3. \end{cases}$$
(6.13)

As stated before, the above is proved for n = 2 in [DKR03]. We will use this result repeatedly, so we restate it as a theorem.

Theorem 6.4 (D'Angelo-Kos-Riehl). Suppose $p \in \mathcal{H}(2, d)$, then

$$d \le 2N(p) - 3,\tag{6.14}$$

and this result is sharp.

By sharp we mean that there exist $p \in \mathcal{H}(2, d)$ such that d = 2N(p) - 3. One such p is for example (when d is odd),

$$p(x,y) = y^{d} + \left(\frac{x + \sqrt{x^{2} + 4y}}{2}\right)^{d} + \left(\frac{x - \sqrt{x^{2} + 4y}}{2}\right)^{d}.$$
 (6.15)

It is not hard to see that

$$p(x,y) = (x^d, y^d, c_1 x^{d-2} y, c_2 x^{d-4} y^2, \dots, c_k x y^k),$$
(6.16)

where $k = \frac{d-1}{2}$, and c_1, \ldots, c_k are integer constants. For d = 3 this is the polynomial induced by the Faran mapping (6.10). Hence we will call the above polynomials the *generalized Faran mappings*. We will identify polynomials and monomial mappings in the sequel.

There exist other optimal polynomials for some degrees. For example, the polynomial

$$x^{7} + y^{7} + \frac{7}{2}x^{5}y + \frac{7}{2}xy^{5} + \frac{7}{2}xy.$$
(6.17)

As we can see an optimal polynomial can have rational coefficients, but as we will see later in Proposition 6.21, optimal polynomials never have irrational coefficients.

It is sometimes easier, in this context, to think of the estimate (6.13) as

$$N(p) \ge \begin{cases} \frac{d+3}{2} & \text{if } n = 2\\ d(n-1) + 1 & \text{if } n \ge 3. \end{cases}$$
(6.18)

One way to construct new polynomials in $\mathcal{H}(n, d)$ is to multiply or divide by s. That is, p = p' + p'' = 1 on s = 1 if and only if p' + p''s = 1 on s = 1.

Definition 6.5. If p = p' + p'', we define

$$X_{p''}(p) = p' + p''s, (6.19)$$

and we will generally drop the subscript and call this *operation* X.

One mapping constructed by successive application of operation X is $s^d \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)$. We note that this is the only homogeneous mapping in $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$.

Proposition 6.6. Suppose $p \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)$ is homogeneous, then $p = s^d$.

Proof. First we note that $p(x) = s(x)^d$ when s(x) = 1. By homogeneity, $p(tx) = t^d p(x) = t^d s(x)^d = s(tx)$ for all t. Hence $p = s^d$.

Definition 6.7. We let $\mathcal{W}(n,d) \subset \mathcal{H}(n,d)$ be the set of polynomials gotten by

$$X_{p_1}(X_{p_2}(\cdots X_{p_k}(1)\cdots)),$$
 (6.20)

that is, by finitely many applications of operation X to the polynomial 1.

Unfortunately there do exist polynomials in \mathcal{H} , which are not in \mathcal{W} , for example the Faran mapping (6.10). This fact can be easily checked directly. For polynomials in \mathcal{W} we have the following proposition.

Proposition 6.8. If $p \in \mathcal{W}(n, d)$, then $d \leq \frac{N(p)-1}{n-1}$.

Proof. Each application of operation X cannot decrease the number of terms. If we apply operation X to a top degree monomial, we must gain n - 1 new monomials. Hence by induction on degree we can see that $N(p) \ge d(n-1) + 1$.

We show that we can construct all $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ by a procedure of dividing out s from s^d , i.e., by reversing (undoing) an operation X. I.e., we note that if p is in the form (6.12), then by Proposition 6.6

$$p_d + p_{d-1}s + p_{d-2}s^2 + \dots + p_1s^{d-1} + p_0s^d = s^d.$$
 (6.21)

This is because the left hand side is homogeneous. Hence, we can start with s^d , and by division as above arrive at p.

Using Theorem 6.4, we can give a crude bound for certain polynomials and demonstrate the method that we will apply in Section 6.3.

Lemma 6.9. Suppose $n \ge 2$ and $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$. If p contains a monomial in one or two variables of degree d, then

$$d \le \frac{2N(p) - 3}{2n - 3}.$$
(6.22)

Proof. After renumbering we may assume that p contains either x_1^d or $x_1^a x_2^b$ where a + b = d. We "pull back" by the generalized Faran mapping (6.15) of degree

2n-3. Call this φ . Note that φ contains a term x^{2n-3} . And further $N(\varphi) = n$. To "pull back" we just think of φ and p as a monomial mapping and then get a polynomial $\varphi^*(p)$ in two variables of degree (2n-3)(d). Since all coefficients are positive, we can see that $N(p) \ge N(\varphi^*(p))$. Hence applying Theorem 6.4

$$d = \frac{\deg(\varphi^*(p))}{2n-3} \le \frac{2N(\varphi^*(p))-3}{D} \le \frac{2N(p)-3}{D} = \frac{2N-3}{2n-3}$$
(6.23)

We can now give an elementary combinatorial proof of the conjecture for small degree or codimension, for $n \geq 3$.

Theorem 6.10. Suppose $n \ge 3$ and $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$. If $d \le 4$ or N(p) < 4n - 3, then

$$d \le \frac{N(p) - 1}{n - 1}.$$
(6.24)

Before we prove this proposition we will need the following useful lemma.

Lemma 6.11. Suppose $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$, then there are at least n unique monomials of degree d.

Proof. First write p-1 = q(s-1) for some polynomial q. Now identify the terms of degree d, then $p_d = q_d s$. It is an easy matter to see that such a p_d must have at least n terms.

We observe that if p(x, y) is such that $p \in \mathcal{H}(2, d)$ and $d \geq 2$, then there exists a mixed term (monomial depending on both x and y). This can be seen by just plugging in x = t and y = (1 - t) and expanding. We also note that if we set k variables to zero in $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$, then we get a polynomial in $\mathcal{H}(n - k, d)$.

Proof of Theorem 6.10. What we will prove are the following four statements. Suppose that $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$.

- (i) If N(p) < n, then d = 0.
- (ii) If N(p) < 2n 1, then $d \le 1$.
- (iii) If N(p) < 3n 2, then $d \le 2$.

(iv) If N(p) < 4n - 3, then $d \leq 3$.

The contrapositive of Statement (i) is easy. When $d \ge 1$ there must be at least n distinct monomials of degree d, by Lemma 6.11.

We call terms of the form x_i^k pure terms, and we call monomials depending on at least 2 variables *mixed* terms. By pulling back to the one-dimensional case in n ways (by setting n - 1 of the variables equal to zero), we note that there must be at least n distinct pure terms. If d = 1 then all the terms are pure terms and p = s. We may therefore assume that $d \ge 2$ in proving the rest of the statements.

If no pure term is of degree at least 2, then p = s as above. We may thus assume that the monomial x_1^a occurs for some $a \ge 2$. By setting all variables except x_1 and x_j equal to 0, we see that a monomial $x_1^k x_j^l$ must occur for $2 \le j \le n$. Hence we have at least n - 1 mixed terms. Counting also the *n* pure terms shows that $N(p) \ge (n - 1) + n$ and (ii) follows.

Now assume that $d \ge 3$. To prove (iii) we must show that $N \ge 3n - 2$. There are two cases. If x_1^a is the only pure term of degree greater than 1, then p must be equal to $x_1r(x) + s - x_1$, for some $r(x) \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$. The polynomial r has n - 1 fewer terms than p does and it must have degree at least 2. Applying (ii) shows that $N(r) \ge 2n - 1$ and hence $N(p) \ge (2n - 1) + (n - 1) = 3n - 2$. Thus (iii) holds in this case.

The remaining case of (iii) is when at least two pure terms of degree at least 2 occur. Hence we assume that x_2^b occurs as well, with $b \ge 2$. We then have at least 2(n-2) + 1 mixed terms and n pure terms for a total of 3n - 3. We want $N \ge 3n - 2$. Let us therefore assume for the purpose of contradiction that there are no other terms. For $d \ge 3$ the only element of $\mathcal{H}(2, d)$ that has at most 3 distinct monomials is $u^3 + 3uv + v^3$. Hence all pure terms must be of degree 3 and we obtain

$$p(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j^3 + 3 \sum_{i \neq j} x_j x_i.$$
(6.25)

We claim that the polynomial in (6.25) is not in $\mathcal{H}(n,3)$ unless n = 2. One way to verify the claim is to note that $p\left(\frac{1}{n},\ldots,\frac{1}{n}\right) > 1$ when $n \ge 3$. Thus (iii) holds in this case, and hence in general.

To prove (iv) assume that N < 4n-3 and $d \ge 4$. Suppose first that Lemma 6.9 does not apply; that is, there is no term of degree d involving at most two of the variables. Then we must have at least n terms of top degree, n additional pure terms, and (as above) at least 2n-3 additional mixed terms involving two variables. The total is 4n-3. Thus the Lemma applies when $N \le 4n-4$.

If $N \leq 4n-5$ then Lemma 6.9 applies and we obtain a contradiction as follows: By Lemma 6.9,

$$d(2n-3) + 3 \le 2N. \tag{6.26}$$

Including the information on N and d yields

$$4(2n-3) + 3 \le d(2n-3) + 3 \le 2N \le 2(4n-5)$$
(6.27)

from which we obtain the contradiction $-9 \leq -10$. Thus, for $N \leq 4n-5$ we have $d \leq 3$.

The remaining case is when N(p) = 4n - 4 and $d \le 4$, and it has two subcases. First suppose that $n \ge 4$. Setting in turn $x_1 = 0$ and $x_2 = 0$ we get polynomials in n - 1 variables with at least n fewer terms. Thus these polynomials must have degree at most 3. Therefore if d = 4 then the top degree terms must be divisible by x_1x_2 , and thus $p_4 = s(x)x_1x_2q(x)$ where q is homogeneous of degree 1. We can easily check that q must have all positive coefficients, and we can undo an operation X to reduce to a previous case.

The other subcase is when n = 3, N(p) = 4n - 4 = 8 and $d \le 4$. We claim that no polynomial in $\mathcal{H}(3, 4)$ has exactly 8 distinct monomials. There are only finitely many possibilities that need to be checked and we outline how to do this by hand.

If all terms of degree 4 depend on 3 variables, we undo and reduce to a previous case to get a contradiction. By a simple counting argument, up to renaming of variables, we show that $p(x_1, x_2, 0)$ and $p(x_1, 0, x_2)$ must have exactly 4 terms and be of degree 4 while $p(0, x_2, x_3)$ must have 3 terms and must be of degree 3 or less. By a study of the 2-dimensional case we see that x_1^4 must appear. One can then check by hand that the only possible configuration of degree 4 terms is $x_1^3(x_1 + x_2 + x_3)$ and reducing to a previous case produces a contradiction.

6.3 Bound for all monomial mappings

In this section we prove a general bound which is probably not sharp, but it is of the correct order. The method of proof is similar to Lemma 6.9, but will now hold for all polynomials in $\mathcal{H}(n, d)$.

Theorem 6.12. Suppose $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$. Then

$$d \le \frac{2n(2N(p)-3)}{3n^2 - 3n - 2} \le \frac{4}{3} \frac{2N(p) - 3}{2n - 3}.$$
(6.28)

Proof. Suppose we have a monomial of degree d of the form $m = x_1^{a_1} \cdots x_k^{a_k}$, i.e. $a_1 + \cdots + a_k = d$. First we prove the estimate

$$d \le \frac{2N(p) - 3 + \sum_{j=3}^{k} (j-2)a_j}{2n-3}.$$
(6.29)

As in the proof of Lemma 6.9 we let φ be the generalized Faran mapping (6.15) of degree D := 2n - 3. We then reorder the variables such that after pulling back we have

$$(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, \ldots) = (u^D, v^D, c_1 u^{D-2} v, c_2 u^{D-4} v^2, \ldots) = \varphi(u, v).$$
(6.30)

Where c_j are the constants in φ . That φ is of the above form can be seen by direct computation. Pulling back the monomial m guarantees a term of degree

$$a_1D + a_2D + a_3(D-1) + \dots + a_k(D-k+2) = D\sum_{j=1}^k a_j - \sum_{j=3}^k (j-2)a_j$$
 (6.31)

in $\varphi^*(p)$. As the sum of the a_j is d, we obtain

$$dD - \sum_{j=3}^{k} (j-2)a_j \le d(\phi^*(p)) \le 2N(\phi^*(p)) - 3 \le 2N(p) - 3, \tag{6.32}$$

and hence

$$d \le \frac{2N(p) - 3 + \sum_{j=3}^{k} (j-2)a_j}{D} = \frac{2N(p) - 3 + \sum_{j=3}^{k} (j-2)a_j}{2n-3}.$$
 (6.33)

If we let $A := \frac{2N(p)-3}{2n-3}$ and $B := \frac{1}{2n-3} \sum_{j=3}^{k} (j-2)a_j$, then we have

$$d \le A + B. \tag{6.34}$$

We may assume $k \ge 2$, and that $a_1 \ge a_2 \ge \cdots \ge a_k$. We estimate B as

$$B = \frac{1}{2n-3} \sum_{j=3}^{k} (j-2)a_j \le \frac{d}{k(2n-3)} \sum_{j=3}^{k} (j-2)$$
$$= \frac{d}{k(2n-3)} \binom{k-1}{2}$$
$$\le \frac{d}{n(2n-3)} \binom{n-1}{2}$$
(6.35)

Let $c(n) = \frac{1}{n(2n-3)} {n-1 \choose 2}$, hence $B \leq c(n)d$. It is not hard to see that c(n) < 1. Thus

$$d \le A + B \le A + c(n)d,\tag{6.36}$$

and so

$$d \le \frac{1}{1 - c(n)} A = \frac{1}{1 - c(n)} \frac{2N(p) - 3}{2n - 3} = \frac{2n(2N(p) - 3)}{3n^2 - 3n - 2}.$$
 (6.37)

To finish the proof we note that for $n \ge 2$ we have

$$\frac{2n}{3n^2 - 3n - 2} \le \frac{4}{3(2n - 3)},\tag{6.38}$$

and therefore the inequality on the far right-hand side of (6.28) holds.

6.4 Bound for large source dimension

If we assume that n is sufficiently large, we can in fact prove that if $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ and p is optimal, then $p \in \mathcal{W}$, hence the Conjecture 6.3 holds by Proposition 6.8.

Theorem 6.13. Fix d and assume $n \ge 2d^2 + 2d$. If $p \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)$ then $N(p) \ge d(n-1) + 1$. Furthermore, if equality holds then $p \in \mathcal{W}$.

Remark 6.14. If we invoke Theorem 6.12 we can change the assumption in Theorem 6.13 to $2N - 3 < \frac{2n-3}{2}\sqrt{n}$, as this will force $n \ge 2d^2 + 2d$. Better and far more complicated conditions can be gotten by combining the previous results and applying Theorem 6.13, but the utility of such improvements does not seem to be large.

Before we prove Theorem 6.13 we give a simple condition guaranteeing that $p \in \mathcal{W}$. Let $x = (x', x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}$ and define $s'(x') := \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} x_j$. We will say that p is affine in x_n if we can write $p(x', x_n) = a(x') + x_n b(x')$ for some polynomials a and b.

Lemma 6.15. If $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ and suppose p is affine in x_n , then $p \in \mathcal{W}$.

Proof. We induct on the degree d. When d = 1 the result is obvious. Suppose $d \ge 2$ and that the result is known for such affine polynomials of degree d - 1. Assume $p(x', x_n) = a(x') + x_n b(x')$. Write p - 1 = q(s - 1), then equating the highest degree parts we get $p_d = sq_{d-1}$, that is

$$a_d(x') + x_n b_{d-1}(x') = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} x_j + x_n\right) q_{d-1}(x')$$

= $s'(x')q_{d-1}(x') + x_n q_{d-1}(x').$ (6.39)

Hence $q_{d-1} = b_{d-1}$ and $a_d = s'q_{d-1}$. Therefore

$$p = p - p_d + sb_{d-1} = X(p - p_d + b_{d-1}),$$
(6.40)

and $p - p_d + b_{d-1} \in \mathcal{H}(n, d-1)$. It is also affine in x_n and hence lies in \mathcal{W} by the induction hypothesis. Thus $p \in \mathcal{W}$ as well.

We now prove two simple technical results that we use in the proof of Theorem 6.13.

Lemma 6.16. Let $p \in \mathcal{H}(2,d)$ and suppose that p(x,y) = a(x) + yb(x). Then $N(p) \ge d+1$. The monomial x^d must appear and x^jy must appear for each j with $0 \le j \le d-1$. Furthermore, p has exactly d+1 distinct monomials if and only if

$$p(x,y) = x^{d} + y(x^{d-1} + \dots + x + 1).$$
(6.41)

Proof. By Lemma 6.15 we know $p \in \mathcal{W}$, and the statement follows by induction on d.

For two monomials $m_1 = x_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots x_n^{\alpha_n}$ and $m_2 = x_1^{\beta_1} \cdots x_n^{\beta_n}$ we define the distance between them by

$$\delta(m_1, m_2) := \sum_j |\alpha_j - \beta_j|. \tag{6.42}$$

Note that for monomials of the same degree $\delta(m_1, m_2)$ must be even.

Lemma 6.17. Let $p \in \mathcal{H}(3,d)$, and suppose that $p(x_1, x_2, x_3) = a(x_1, x_2) + x_3b(x_1, x_2)$. If two monomials $m_1(x_1, x_2), m_2(x_1, x_2)$ of degree d occur in p(x) with $\delta(m_1, m_2) \ge 4$, then p has at least d + 1 distinct monomials that depend on x_3 .

Proof. It follows from Lemma 6.15 that $p \in \mathcal{W}$, and from Lemma 6.16 that p must have at least one monomial of every degree that depends on x_3 . Since $\delta(m_1, m_2) \geq$ 4 there must be at least 2 monomials of maximal degree that depend on x_3 , which gives at least d + 1 monomials.

For the rest of this section we assume $n \ge 2d^2 + 2d$. In particular $n \ge 3$. Let $p \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)$ and let N = N(p). We assume both that $N \le d(n-1) + 1$ and that p is optimal. We will show that p must be a generalized Whitney mapping, thereby N = d(n-1) + 1 and thus Theorem 6.13 is proved.

Fix $k \leq 2d$, and after renaming the variables if necessary, we may assume that p has at least one monomial of degree d that involves only the variables x_1 through x_k . We define new polynomials in $\mathcal{H}(2, d)$ and $\mathcal{H}(3, d)$

$$P_j(\xi, x_j) := p\Big(\underbrace{\frac{\xi}{k}, \dots, \frac{\xi}{k}}_{k \text{ times}}, 0, \dots, 0, x_j, 0, \dots\Big),$$
(6.43)

$$P_{ij}(\xi, x_i, x_j) := p\Big(\underbrace{\frac{\xi}{k}, \dots, \frac{\xi}{k}}_{k \text{ times}}, 0, \dots, 0, x_i, 0, \dots, 0, x_j, 0, \dots\Big).$$
(6.44)

Claim 6.18. The polynomial P_j is affine in x_j for each $j \in \{k+1, \ldots, n\}$.

Proof. Seeking a contradiction we assume $k + 1 \le l \le n$, that P_j is not affine for $k + 1 \le j \le l$, and that P_j is affine for $l + 1 \le j \le n$.

If P_j is affine in x_j then by Lemma 6.15 we have

$$P_j(\xi, x_j) = c_1 \xi^d + c_2 \xi^{d-1} x_j + \dots + c_d \xi x_j + c_{d+1} x_j + q(\xi), \qquad (6.45)$$

where q is a possibly zero polynomial in ξ of degree d-1 or less. If P_j is not affine in x_j then there must be at least $\left\lceil \frac{d-3}{2} \right\rceil$ terms by Theorem 6.4.

We will proceed to find a lower estimate for the number of monomials of p, and we must take care not to count the same monomial twice. We first count the monomial m. For each P_j where $k + 1 \le j \le l$ we have at least $\left\lfloor \frac{d+3}{2} \right\rfloor - 1$ extra monomials and for each P_j for j > k we get at least d extra monomials. For P_{ij} where $k + 1 \leq i < j \leq l$ we know that there must be at least one monomial that depends on x_i as well as x_j (keep ξ constant to see this), and thus we get least (l-k)(l-k-1)/2 more monomials that we have not counted yet.

For the same reason we can count one extra monomial depending on both x_i and x_j for each possible choice $k+1 \le i \le l < j \le n$ so we get (l-k)(n-l) more monomials.

When we add the number of all these monomials we obtain

$$N \ge 1 + (l-k)\left(\left\lceil \frac{d+3}{2} \right\rceil - 1 + \frac{l-k-1}{2} + (n-l)\right) + (n-l)d.$$
(6.46)

By our assumption $l \ge k+1$. If

$$(l-k)\left(\left\lceil \frac{d+3}{2} \right\rceil - 1 + \frac{l-k-1}{2} + (n-l)\right) > (l-1)d, \tag{6.47}$$

then p cannot be optimal. This happens when

$$(l-k)(d-l-k+2n) - 2(l-1)d > 0.$$
(6.48)

Fixing k, d and n the expression in (6.48) is concave down in l and thus must achieve a minimum if l = k + 1 or l = n. We know $1 \le k \le 2d$ and so get two bounds for n:

$$n > \frac{4d^2 + 3d + 1}{2},\tag{6.49}$$

$$n^2 > 2d^2 + (5n - 2)d - 1. (6.50)$$

Our assumption that $n \ge 2d^2 + 2d$ implies both bounds (noting that $d \ge 2$ and $n \ge 3$).

We now know that P_j must be affine in x_j for every variable j that does not appear in the fixed monomial of highest degree, and we can complete the proof of Theorem 6.13.

Claim 6.19. If m_1 and m_2 are two distinct monomials of maximal degree that occur in p then $\delta(m_1, m_2)$ must be 2.

Proof. Suppose for the sake of contradiction that p has two highest degree terms m_1, m_2 whose distance is at least 4. We rename the variables x_1, \ldots, x_n such that the monomials m_1 and m_2 only depend on x_1, \ldots, x_k , with $k \leq 2d$. Write $m_1 = \prod_{i=1}^k x_i^{r_i}$ and $m_2 = \prod_{i=1}^k x_i^{s_i}$. We may further assume that there exists an integer t such that for $i = 1, \ldots, t$ we have that $r_i \geq s_i$, and for $i = t + 1, \ldots, k$ we have $r_i \leq s_i$. We define P_j and P_{ij} as in (6.43) and (6.44) and apply Claim 6.18 to see that for every $j = k + 1, \ldots, n$, the polynomial P_j must be affine in x_j .

Let

$$P(y, z, x_{k+1}, \dots, x_n) := p\left(\underbrace{\frac{y}{t}, \dots, \frac{y}{t}}_{t \text{ times}}, \underbrace{\frac{z}{k-t}, \dots, \frac{z}{k-t}}_{k-t \text{ times}}, x_{k+1}, \dots, x_n\right).$$
(6.51)

It follows that P has two terms of highest degree $y^{r_1}z^{r_2}$ and $y^{s_1}z^{s_2}$ with $r_1 > s_1 + 1$ and $r_2 < s_2 - 1$.

For every j = k + 1, ..., n, the polynomial $P(y, z, 0, ..., 0, x_j, 0, ..., 0)$ is a polynomial in three variables that satisfies the conditions of Lemma 6.17, and therefore has at least d + 1 terms that depend on x_j . Therefore, P (and thus also p) has at least $(d+1)(n-2d) = dn + n - 2d^2 - 2d$ distinct monomials. We assumed that $n \ge 2d^2 + 2d$, so the polynomial cannot be optimal.

Proof of Theorem 6.13. By Claim 6.19 we know that all highest degree terms have distance 2 from each other. By Lemma 6.11, there exist at least n terms of highest degree. It follows that the terms of highest degree must be equal to $cs \cdot m$ for some constant c and some monomial m of degree d - 1.

Thus we can undo the operation X to obtain a new polynomial of degree d-1, with exactly n-1 terms fewer than p. The reason is that p is optimal; undoing the operation X must create a new term of degree d-1 (otherwise multiplying that term by s would get a polynomial with fewer terms than p). This new polynomial of degree d-1 must again be optimal, because if there existed a polynomial of degree d-1 with fewer terms, we could apply operation X to it and again and invalidate the optimality of p.

An inductive argument with respect to the degree shows that $p \in \mathcal{W}$. By Proposition 6.8 we are done.

6.5 Optimal polynomials

Recall that $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ is optimal if N(p) is minimal in $\mathcal{H}(n, d)$. Our main result is Theorem 6.20 below, which will enable us to prove some interesting properties of optimal polynomials, which are of independent interest, but will also make it possible to prove a bound for all polynomials in $\mathcal{H}(n, d)$, albeit not as good as Theorem 6.12. Let us denote the set of all polynomials (not necessarily with nonnegative coefficients) that are 1 on s = 1 by $\mathcal{I}(n, d)$. If we want to denote such polynomials of degree d or less, we will use the notation $\mathcal{I}(n, \leq d)$.

We will treat the coefficients of a generic polynomial of degree d as unknowns. Since for $p \in \mathcal{I}(n, d)$, p = 1 on s = 1, we can solve s = 1 for x_n and look at,

$$p\left(x_1,\ldots,x_{n-1},1-\sum_{k=1}^{n-1}x_k\right) = 1.$$
 (6.52)

As this is true for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we obtain a linear equation in the coordinates whose solutions are polynomials in $\mathcal{I}(n, \leq d)$. In the following when we endow the set of polynomials of degree d or less with a topology, it is the euclidean topology on the space of coefficients, \mathbb{R}^K for some large K.

Theorem 6.20. If there exists a continuous 1 parameter family $t \mapsto p(t) \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ and further assume that N(p(t)) is constant for t in some open interval, no such p(t) is optimal.

Proof. If there were a family, then since the polynomials come from a linear system, there is a "line" in the parameter space. That is, we can pick two polynomials pand q such that $\varphi_t := tp + (1 - t)q \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ and the number of terms in φ_t is constant for t in some small interval. We can however extend this line and it is obvious that for any t the polynomials must be in $\mathcal{I}(n, \leq d)$. If we travel on this line in the correct direction we will hit a place where at least one term becomes zero and hence $N(\varphi_t)$ becomes smaller. The only problem could arise if all the terms of degree d become zero at once. Suppose that this place is t = a, and here all coefficients are nonnegative, and further all coefficients of degree d vanish. Note that $\varphi_a \in \mathcal{H}$ (of lower degree than d) and also any monomial that appears in φ_a appears in p as well. Hence, for small $\epsilon > 0$

$$\psi_{\epsilon} := \frac{1}{1 - \epsilon} (p - \epsilon(\varphi_a)) \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$$
(6.53)

Note that $p - \varphi_a$ must have a negative coefficient since it must be a nonzero polynomial and is zero on s = 1. Hence ψ_{ϵ} is not in $\mathcal{H}(n, d)$ for some $\epsilon < 1$. Take

$$\epsilon_0 := \sup\{\epsilon \in (0,1) \mid \psi_\epsilon \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)\}$$
(6.54)

Then $\psi_{\epsilon_0} \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ and obviously one coefficient (of degree less than d) must have vanished and hence $N(\psi_{\epsilon_0}) < N(p)$. Hence contradicting the optimality of p. \Box

Let a polynomial $p(x) = \sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha} x^{\alpha}$, then let the *signature* of p, sig(p), be the set of multiindices α for which c_{α} is not zero. We will not use the following properties, but they are of independent interest.

Proposition 6.21. Fix n and d.

- (i) If $p \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)$, p is optimal, $q \in \mathcal{H}(n,d')$ for $d' \leq d$, then $\operatorname{sig}(q) \subset \operatorname{sig}(p)$ if and only if p = q.
- (ii) If $p, q \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ are optimal, then $\operatorname{sig}(p) \neq \operatorname{sig}(q)$.
- (iii) The set of optimal polynomials in $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$ is finite.
- (iv) If $p \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$ is optimal, then all coefficients of p are rational numbers.
- (v) Every polynomial in $\mathcal{I}(n,d)$ is a linear combination of optimal polynomials in \mathcal{W} of degree less than or equal d (optimal in \mathcal{W}).

By p optimal in \mathcal{W} we really mean that $N(p) = \deg(p)(n-1) + 1$, since that is the minimum number of terms for a polynomial of degree $\deg(p)$ in \mathcal{W} .

Proof. (i) is proved in the same manner as Theorem 6.20 using the convex combination tp + (1 - t)q. (ii) now follows easily. (iii) follows from (ii), since there are only finitely many possible signatures for polynomials in $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$. (iv) follows from the fact that, as noted earlier, coefficients of polynomials in $\mathcal{I}(n, \leq d)$ are solutions to a linear problem coming from (6.52). Similarly polynomials that are constant on s = 1 are vectors in the nullspace of a certain matrix with integer coefficients (just changing the 1 on the right hand side of (6.52) to a variable and moving it to the left hand side). If one considers only those columns corresponding to multiindices in $\operatorname{sig}(p)$, then the nullspace of this smaller matrix must have a basis of vectors with only rational elements (as the matrix consists of only integers) and the claim follows by another application of Theorem 6.20 by noting that this nullspace must then be only one-dimensional. This one dimension corresponds to the extra variable coming from the right hand side of (6.52). For claim (v) we just notice that the polynomial $s - sx^{\alpha}$, corresponding to the simplest operation X, (for any multiindex α) is the difference of two optimal polynomials in \mathcal{W} (one of degree $|\alpha|$ and one of degree $|\alpha| + 1$).

We prove the following simple induction lemma.

Lemma 6.22. If $p \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)$ and $p'_{\epsilon}(x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1}) = p(x_1, \ldots, \epsilon x_{n-1}, (1-\epsilon)x_{n-1})$ (where $0 < \epsilon < 1$), then $p' = p'_{\epsilon} \in \mathcal{H}(n-1,d)$ and $N(p') + 1 \leq N(p)$.

Proof. That $p' \in \mathcal{H}(n-1,d)$ is obvious. What we want to show is that p' has at least one less term than p. We look at the degree d homogeneous part of p, let us call it p_d , and show that at least two terms have to collapse when we construct p'. Since p = 1 when $s = \sum_i x_i = 1$, then (p-1) = q(s-1) for some polynomial q. q is of degree d-1 and thus $p_d = q_{d-1}s$. There is a term in q_{d-1} , $c_{\alpha}x^{\alpha}$, where $\sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \alpha_i$ is minimal. There may be more than one such term, so let α be such multiindex where α_{n-1} is maximal and β be such multiindex where β_n is maximal. Then once we multiply by s, we see we have the following two nonzero terms of p_d

$$c_{\alpha}x_{n-1}x^{\alpha}$$
 and $c_{\beta}x_nx^{\beta}$. (6.55)

Further, it is obvious that these two terms collapse in p'.

We will be able to improve our induction by one more term using the following lemma.

Lemma 6.23. If $p \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)$, $p'_{\epsilon}(x_1,\ldots,x_{n-1}) = p(x_1,\ldots,\epsilon x_{n-1},(1-\epsilon)x_{n-1})$ (where $0 < \epsilon < 1$), and p'_{ϵ} is optimal in $\mathcal{H}(n-1,d)$ for ϵ in a small interval, then

 p'_ϵ does not depend on ϵ and

$$p(x_1, \dots, x_n) = p'_{\epsilon}(x_1, \dots, x_{n-1} + x_n).$$
(6.56)

Proof. By Theorem 6.20, it is clear that p'_{ϵ} cannot be optimal unless it does not depend on ϵ . Assume it does not and call it p'. Now suppose that for an *n*multiindex γ , c_{γ} is the coefficient of p corresponding to the monomial x^{γ} . Fix certain (n-2)-multiindex α and we look at the coefficient of p' corresponding to (α, m) , the n-1-multiindex we get by concatenating m onto α . This coefficient of p' has to be constant as ϵ changes and is in fact equal to

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m} c_{(\alpha,k,m-k)} \epsilon^{k} (1-\epsilon)^{m-k}.$$
(6.57)

Substitute $y = \epsilon$ and $z = (1 - \epsilon)$ above and note that we have a polynomial q(y, z) which is constant on y + z = 1. Unless all coefficients are zero we can scale q to be in $\mathcal{H}(2, m)$. We also note that q is homogeneous of degree m, and thus by Proposition 6.6 it has to be $c(y + z)^m$ for some positive constant c. Thus for fixed α , $c_{(\alpha,k,m-k)}$ are just coefficients of $c(y + z)^m$, and hence the lemma follows. \Box

Example 6.24. An example in $\mathcal{H}(3,3)$ to keep in mind for this is the following, where variables are x, y, z.

$$p(x, y, z) = x^{3} + y^{3} + z^{3} + 3(z^{2}y + y^{2}z) + 3(xy + xz).$$
(6.58)

p is optimal, and further,

$$p'(x,y) = p(x,\frac{y}{2},\frac{y}{2}) = x^3 + y^3 + 3xy$$
(6.59)

is also optimal. Is is easy to see that p(x, y, z) = p'(x, y + z). Of course, if you collapse x and y (or x and z) instead of y and z you no longer get an optimal polynomial.

Lemma 6.25. Let d > 1, $q \in \mathcal{H}(n-1,d)$ be optimal and $p \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)$, then $N(q) + 2 \leq N(p)$.

Proof. Construct p'_{ϵ} as above. If p'_{ϵ} is not optimal then we know at least $N(q)+1 \leq N(p'_{\epsilon})$, and by Lemma 6.22 $N(q) + 2 \leq N(p)$. So assume that p'_{ϵ} is optimal for all permutations of the variables x. By Lemma 6.23, we find that there exists a polynomial r in one variable such that $r(x_1 + \cdots + x_n) = p(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$. It is plain to see that p cannot be optimal; it has at least as many terms as s^d . Further it is clear that p'_{ϵ} cannot possibly be optimal for the same reason, hence a contradiction.

If we now apply Theorem 6.4 to the result of Lemma 6.25, we get the following result. Of course, this is not as good as Theorem 6.12, but it illustrates the techniques of this section, which may generalize to the case of polynomial or rational mappings.

Theorem 6.26. If $p \in \mathcal{H}(n,d)$, then $N(p) \ge \left\lceil \frac{d+3}{2} \right\rceil + 2(n-2)$ or in other words $d \le 2(N(p) - 2n) + 5$.

6.6 Rational and polynomial proper mappings

In this section we will look at how the ideas of this chapter could be generalized to polynomial or rational proper mappings. First, we will generalize the idea of pulling back the mappings to source dimensions for which the result is known. We can prove the following result generalizing Lemma 6.9.

Proposition 6.27. Suppose that Conjecture 6.1 is true for n = 2 for rational (resp. polynomial) mappings. If $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ $(n \ge 2)$ is a rational (resp. polynomial) proper mapping of degree d, then

$$d \le \frac{2N-3}{2n-3}.$$
 (6.60)

Proof. The proof is similar as that of Lemma 6.9. However, we guarantee that the composition of f with a generalized Faran mapping φ is of the proper degree by applying a unitary matrix U to \mathbb{C}^n and looking at the mapping $f \circ U \circ \varphi$. By choosing the right U, we can ensure that f has a pure monomial of top degree. \Box

Similarly by composing with generalized Whitney mappings we can prove the following proposition.

Proposition 6.28. Suppose that Conjecture 6.1 is true for rational (resp. polynomial) mappings, for all $n \ge 3$ such that n - 1 is prime. Then Conjecture 6.1 is true for all $n \ge 3$ for rational (resp. polynomial) mappings.

Proof. Suppose $f: \mathbb{B}_{k(n-1)+1} \to \mathbb{B}_N$ is a proper rational mapping then by composing with a generalized Whitney mapping of degree k, i.e. $\varphi: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_{k(n-1)+1}$ (and a unitary matrix if needed as before), we can see that the conjecture must hold for the mapping f.

Note in the proof that if the conjecture is true for n = 3, then it is true for all n such that n = 2k + 1. However, supposing that $f: \mathbb{B}_{2k+2} \to \mathbb{B}_N$, we can still use the generalized Whitney mapping of degree k, with an added zero component to make it map into \mathbb{B}_{2k+2} . The calculation of the degree then becomes

$$d = \frac{\deg(\varphi^*(f))}{k} \le \left\lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \right\rfloor \frac{1}{k} = \left\lfloor \frac{N-1}{2} \right\rfloor \frac{2}{n-2} \le \frac{N-1}{n-2}.$$
 (6.61)

So given the conjecture for n = 3, then we get the sharp result for n odd and (6.61) for $n \ge 3$ even. Note that if the conjecture is true for n = 2, then (6.60) is better than (6.61) for n even.

Even if we do not have the sharp result for n = 2, we can use the idea of composing with a generalized Faran mapping to get a bound for $n \ge 3$. For example, Meylan [Mey06] recently proved the bound

$$d \le \frac{N(N-1)}{2},$$
 (6.62)

for all rational proper mappings. Hence, by applying the same logic as in Proposition 6.27, we get the following theorem.

Theorem 6.29. Suppose that $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ $(n \ge 2)$ is a rational proper mapping of degree d, then

$$d \le \frac{N(N-1)}{2(2n-3)}.$$
(6.63)

Proof. We compose with a generalized Faran mapping φ (and a unitary if necessary) and compute.

$$d = \frac{\deg(\varphi^*(f))}{2n-3} \le \frac{(N-1)N/2}{2n-3}.$$
(6.64)

We can also generalize the linear system arising from (6.52). For simplicity, let us for a moment assume n = 2, and let $p: \mathbb{B}_2 \to \mathbb{B}_N$ be a proper polynomial mapping, and let (z, w) be the coordinates of \mathbb{C}^2 . A general polynomial mapping then looks like

$$p(z,w) = (p_1(z,w),\ldots,p_N(z,w)),$$
 (6.65)

where

$$p_{\ell}(z,w) = \sum_{\substack{0 \le j,k \\ j+k=d}} c_{\ell j k} z^{j} w^{k},$$
(6.66)

for $c_{\ell jk} \in \mathbb{C}$. This is a proper mapping only if

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{N} p_{\ell}(z, w) \overline{p_{\ell}(z, w)} = 1 \quad \text{whenever} \quad z\bar{z} + w\bar{w} = 1.$$
(6.67)

We can solve $z\bar{z} + w\bar{w} = 1$ for \bar{w} to get $\bar{w} = \frac{1-z\bar{z}}{w}$ and plugging in to get

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{N} p_{\ell}(z, w) \overline{p_{\ell}} \left(\bar{z}, \frac{1 - z\bar{z}}{w} \right) = 1.$$
(6.68)

Treating \bar{z} as a separate variable we have a polynomial that is constant everywhere and hence all the coefficients except the constant coefficient must be zero. This will give us quadratic equations in $c_{\ell jk}$. Let us denote by c_{jk} the vector $(c_{1jk}, \ldots, c_{Njk})$. Then the equations become

$$\sum_{k=0}^{d} \|c_{0k}\|^2 = 1, \tag{6.69}$$

and a number of equations of the form

$$\sum_{j,k,s,t} a_{jkst} \langle c_{jk}, c_{st} \rangle = 0, \qquad (6.70)$$

where a_{jkst} are integers, and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the standard hermitian inner product.

For rational mappings we need to write

$$f = (p_1/q, \dots, p_N/q),$$
 (6.71)

for p_k and q polynomials. The mapping f is proper if and only if

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{N} |p_{\ell}|^{2} = |q|^{2} \quad \text{whenever} \quad z\bar{z} + w\bar{w} = 1.$$
(6.72)

Again we will end up with a set of quadratic equations in the coefficients of p_{ℓ} and q. Satisfying these equations is sufficient for being a rational proper mapping. Hence the general problem is really a problem about quadratic equations. We will look at another way to generalize this system in section 6.7.

Another way to measure the complexity of a polynomial mapping is to count the distinct monomials that appear. If $f : \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ is a proper polynomial mapping, we can write it as (using the multiindex notation)

$$\sum_{\alpha|\le d} c_{\alpha} z^{\alpha}.\tag{6.73}$$

Here, c_{α} are *n*-dimensional vectors.

Definition 6.30. We will denote by #(f) the number of distinct monomials α such that $c_{\alpha} \neq 0$.

Of course this measure of complexity is not invariant even under unitary transformations of the source. If we wanted to make this invariant we would need to take the minimum over pre and postcomposing by all the automorphisms of the source and target which leave the mapping a polynomial. It is also not hard to see that by choosing the right unitary matrix U on the source such that $\#(f \circ U) = \binom{n+d}{n}$, i.e. all the monomials appear.

A previously known elementary result that relates monomial and polynomial mappings, that has thus far not appeared in the literature as such, is the following proposition. D'Angelo [D'A88] has used the technique of its proof to prove a factorization theorem for polynomials similar to the factorization for monomial mappings.

Proposition 6.31. Let $f : \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ be a proper polynomial mapping. Then there exists a proper monomial mapping $p : \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_K$, where K = #(f), and an $N \times K$ matrix A such that $f = A \circ p$.

Proof. The crux of this argument is to show that if f has the form (6.73), then the real polynomial

$$\sum_{|\alpha| \le d} |c_{\alpha}|^2 |z^{\alpha}|^2 \tag{6.74}$$

corresponds to a monomial mapping in the sense of section 6.2. The matrix A is then constructed by taking as its column vectors the vectors $c_{\alpha}/|c_{\alpha}|$.

To see the claim, note that we can fix a z on the sphere, and multiply each element by $e^{i\theta_k}$. Then we look at the squared norm of p at $e^{i\theta}z$, for an *n*-vector θ , where by this notation we mean $(e^{i\theta_1}z_1, \ldots, e^{i\theta_n}z_n)$. Also by the notation $\alpha\theta$ for a multiindex α we will mean $\alpha_1\theta_1 + \cdots + \alpha_n\theta_n$.

$$\left(\sum_{|\alpha| \le d} c_{\alpha} (e^{i\theta} z)^{\alpha}\right) \overline{\left(\sum_{|\alpha| \le d} c_{\alpha} (e^{i\theta} z)^{\alpha}\right)} = \sum_{\substack{|\alpha| \le d \\ |\beta| \le d}} c_{\alpha} \overline{c_{\beta}} e^{i(\alpha-\beta)\theta} z^{\alpha} \overline{z}^{\beta}.$$
(6.75)

As a trigonometric polynomial in θ this has to be identically 1 when z is on the sphere. Hence, each coefficient of the trigonometric polynomial has to be 0, except for the constant coefficient which must be 1. The constant coefficient is precisely the coefficient we get when $\alpha = \beta$. Hence $\sum |c_{\alpha}|^2 |z^{\alpha}|^2 = 1$ when z on the sphere and we are done.

If f is the polynomial mapping we will denote the induced monomial mapping by M(f). As there is ambiguity in what monomial mapping we can take, we will take the unique one with the positive real coefficients.

The corollaries of this result are that we can rewrite all the results about monomial mappings by replacing N(p) with #(p) as follows.

Corollary 6.32. Suppose $n \ge 3$ and $p: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ is a proper polynomial mapping. If $d \le 4$ or #(p) < 4n - 3, then

$$d \le \frac{\#(p) - 1}{n - 1}.\tag{6.76}$$

Corollary 6.33. Suppose $p: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ is a proper polynomial mapping. Then

$$d \le \frac{2n(2\#(p)-3)}{3n^2-3n-2} \le \frac{4}{3} \frac{2\#(p)-3}{2n-3}.$$
(6.77)

Corollary 6.34. Fix d and assume $n \ge 2d^2 + 2d$. If $p: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ is a proper polynomial mapping, then $\#(p) \ge d(n-1)+1$. Furthermore, if equality holds then $M(p) \in \mathcal{W}$.

Of course we also get the corollary for the n = 2 result of [DKR03].

Corollary 6.35. Suppose $p: \mathbb{B}_2 \to \mathbb{B}_N$ is a proper polynomial mapping, then

$$d \le 2\#(p) - 3,\tag{6.78}$$

and this result is sharp.

6.7 Relating monomial and polynomial proper mappings

Let us look at how the results of section 6.5 generalize to polynomial proper mappings. We will relate polynomials in $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$ and $\mathcal{I}(n,d)$ to proper polynomial mappings. We do this by generalizing the procedure of constructing elements of $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$ from proper monomial mappings. Further, we will outline a possible approach to solving Conjecture 6.1 in the case of polynomials.

Let us for the moment work in \mathbb{C}^2 , with variables (z, w). All of these ideas generalize readily to higher dimensions. Let us first fix an integer $d \ge 1$ and call \mathcal{Z} the monomial mapping

$$(z,w) \mapsto (1, z, z^2, \dots, z^d, w, zw, z^2w, \dots, z^{d-1}w^d, z^dw^d).$$
 (6.79)

A polynomial mapping $f: \mathbb{C}^2 \to \mathbb{C}^N$ of degree d can be represented as an N by (d+1)(d+1) matrix C composed with \mathcal{Z} , that is $C \circ \mathcal{Z}$ (we will just write $C\mathcal{Z}$). Since f is of degree d, many columns of C will of course be zero. If f is a proper mapping between balls, then we know that

$$||C\mathcal{Z}||^2 = 1$$
 whenever $|z|^2 + |w|^2 = 1.$ (6.80)

Let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the normal euclidean (hermitian) inner product. Then $||C\mathcal{Z}||^2 = \langle C^*C\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle$. It is not hard to see that any real polynomial of degree less then or equal to d can be written as $\langle M\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle$ for a hermitian matrix M. We can therefore write

$$\langle C^*C\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle - 1 = \langle Q\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle (|z|^2 + |w|^2 - 1).$$
(6.81)

Q will furthermore have all the rows and columns corresponding to monomials of degrees d or larger being zero. Let S be the shift matrix

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.82)

It is then not hard to see that due to the ordering of the monomials in \mathcal{Z} that

$$\langle Q\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle |z|^2 = \langle S^t Q S\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle$$
 and $\langle Q\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle |w|^2 = \langle (S^{d+1})^t Q S^{d+1}\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle.$ (6.83)

If we let O represent the matrix such that $O_{11} = 1$ and $O_{jk} = 0$ for all other j and k. Then we rewrite (6.81)

$$\langle C^*C\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle - \langle O\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle = \langle S^t Q S \mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle + \langle (S^{d+1})^t Q S^{d+1} \mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle - \langle Q \mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle$$
(6.84)
$$\langle (C^*C - Q)\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle = \langle (S^t Q S + (S^{d+1})^t Q S^{d+1} - Q)\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{Z} \rangle$$
(6.85)

$$\langle (C \ C - O)Z, Z \rangle \equiv \langle (S \ QS + (S^{-1})) \ QS^{-1} - Q \rangle Z, Z \rangle$$

$$0 = \langle (S^{t}QS + (S^{d+1})^{t}QS^{d+1} - Q - C^{*}C + O) \ Z, Z \rangle.$$
(6.86)

This is true for all z and w. By complexifying this equation we have a polynomial in z, w, \bar{z} and \bar{w} that is identically zero and hence all the coefficients are zero. This means that as matrices

$$C^*C = S^t Q S + (S^{d+1})^t Q S^{d+1} - Q + O.$$
(6.87)

Hence we only need to search for matrices of the form $S^tQS + (S^{d+1})^tQS^{d+1} - Q + O$ which are positive semidefinite. Given a hermitian matrix Q, let us define the mapping

$$A(Q) := S^{t}QS + (S^{d+1})^{t}QS^{d+1} - Q + O.$$
(6.88)

For example, if d = 2 and $(Q)_{jk} = q_{jk}$, then $A(Q) = C^*C$ can be written as

	$(q_{11}+1)$	q_{12}	0	q_{14}	0	0	0	0	0	
	q_{21}	$q_{11} - q_{22}$	q_{12}	q_{24}	q_{14}	0	0	0	0	
	0	q_{21}	q_{22}	0	q_{24}	0	0	0	0	
	q_{41}	q_{42}	0	$q_{11} - q_{44}$	q_{12}	0	q_{14}	0	0	
A(Q) =	0	q_{41}	q_{42}	q_{21}	$q_{22} + q_{44}$	0	q_{24}	0	0	(6.89)
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	0	0	0	q_{41}	q_{42}	0	q_{44}	0	0	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	

If Q corresponds to a proper ball mapping of $\mathbb{B}_2 \to \mathbb{B}_N$, then $N \ge \operatorname{rank}(A(Q))$. The image of A is an affine real linear subspace of the space of hermitian matrices. That is, the matrices of the form A(Q) - O give a linear subspace. Furthermore, the set of matrices of the form A(Q) that lie in the cone of positive semidefinite matrices is a compact convex set. Let us call this set \mathcal{K} .

Hence the matrices that minimize N are those that are the extremal points of this convex set. A priory, these extreme points could correspond to proper polynomial mappings of degree less then d. We have, however, the following proposition. We will say that a proper polynomial mapping $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ of degree d is *optimal*, if it minimizes N for this fixed d. Let us write N(n, d) for this minimal N.

Proposition 6.36. For a fixed n and d, the set of optimal proper polynomial mappings is a subset of the set of extreme points of \mathcal{K} .

Proof. What we show is that there is no linear one parameter family of optimal proper polynomial mappings in the following sense. Fix $d \ge 1$, and let N = N(n, d). Then there do not exist two positive semidefinite matrices E and F such that for $t \in [0, 1]$, tE + (1-t)F is of rank N and corresponds to a proper polynomial mapping of degree d.

As we said before, if we are to minimize the rank of A(Q) we must be at an extreme point. We must however deal with the case where the degree drops at the extreme point. Suppose that tE + (1 - t)F corresponds to a degree d proper

mapping for $t \in (0, 1]$ and suppose that E corresponds to a lower degree proper polynomial mapping. We notice that for $t \ge 1$, tE + (1 - t)F still corresponds to a proper polynomial mapping and furthermore there exists a $t_0 \ge 1$ such that $t_0E + (1 + t_0)F$ is still positive semidefinite, and of lower rank than F. As the diagonal elements of E that correspond to degree d monomials are all zero, it is clear that these cannot all be zero in $t_0E + (1 + t_0)F$ and hence $t_0E + (1 + t_0)F$ corresponds to a proper polynomial mapping with lower target dimension and we are done.

Notice that any diagonal of A(Q) depends only on the corresponding diagonal of Q. We make the following observation. Suppose that A(Q) has the following form

$$A(Q) = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & b_1 & c_1 & d_1 & \dots \\ \bar{b}_1 & a_2 & b_2 & c_2 & \dots \\ \bar{c}_1 & \bar{b}_2 & a_3 & b_3 & \dots \\ \bar{d}_1 & \bar{c}_2 & \bar{b}_3 & a_4 & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.90)

Then notice that the vector $a = (a_1, a_2, ...)$ corresponds to a real polynomial in $\mathcal{H}(n, d)$ as each a_j corresponds to a monomial in \mathcal{Z} . To see that this polynomial is in $\mathcal{H}(n, d)$, we notice that first since A(Q) must be positive semidefinite, then $a_j \geq 0$. Second if we zero out all the off diagonal elements of Q we precisely get the corresponding proper monomial mapping. That is, if Q_d is the matrix of diagonal elements of Q_d , we notice that the following matrix also corresponds to a monomial mapping.

$$A(Q_d) = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & a_2 & 0 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & a_3 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a_4 & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.91)

This gives a completely algebraic and elementary proof Proposition 6.31 from section 6.6.

However, we get something even more striking. We notice that the vectors
$\operatorname{Re} b = (\operatorname{Re} b_1, \operatorname{Re} b_2, \ldots)$ and $\operatorname{Im} b = (\operatorname{Im} b_1, \operatorname{Im} b_2, \ldots)$ each correspond to two different polynomials in $\mathcal{I}(n, \leq d)$. For example, for $\operatorname{Re} b$, we can easily find two different Q_1 and Q_2 such that

$$S^{t}Q_{1}S + (S^{d+1})^{t}Q_{1}S^{d+1} - Q_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Re}b_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & \operatorname{Re}b_{2} & 0 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & \operatorname{Re}b_{3} & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \operatorname{Re}b_{4} & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.92)$$

and

$$S^{t}Q_{2}S + (S^{d+1})^{t}Q_{2}S^{d+1} - Q_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & \operatorname{Re}b_{1} & 0 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & \operatorname{Re}b_{2} & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \operatorname{Re}b_{3} & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.93)

Just take the superdiagonal in Q, take the real part of it, and shift it to the diagonal in two different ways. We can do similarly with Im b, and also with c, d, and all other diagonals. Since A(Q) must be positive semidefinite we find that $\operatorname{Re} b_k$ is nonzero only if both a_k and a_{k+1} are nonzero.

This means that $\frac{1}{1-t}a + t \operatorname{Re} b$ for example is a one parameter family of polynomials in $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$ for small t. To see that this is a nontrivial family notice again that A(Q) being positive semidefinite implies that $\operatorname{Re} b$ must have at least one less nonzero element then a.

Denote by #(f) again the number of distinct monomials in f, and by M(f) the monomial mapping induced by f (that is the mapping induced by the vector a above). We then have the following proposition by the above argument and Theorem 6.20. As we noticed before, $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$ is a convex set. We will say that a monomial mapping is *isolated* if it is an extreme point of $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$. Then Theorem 6.20 just says that an optimal monomial mapping is an extreme point of $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$. What we proved above is that if the vector a represents an extreme point of $\mathcal{H}(n,d)$, then all the off diagonal entries must be zero.

Proposition 6.37. Let $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ be a proper polynomial mapping. Further, suppose that M(f) is either optimal (i.e. #(f) is minimal) or isolated, then f is a monomial mapping.

The following is a reasonable conjecture to make.

Conjecture 6.38. Let $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ be a proper polynomial mapping of degree d. Suppose that M(f) is not isolated, then there exists a proper polynomial mapping $g: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ of degree d, such that #(g) < #(f).

The intuition is that if there is a nontrivial one parameter family $p(t) \in \mathcal{H}(n, d)$, such that p(0) corresponds to M(f), then it is reasonable to expect there to be a one parameter family of proper mappings $f_t \colon \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ such that p(t) corresponds to $M(f_t)$. This family f_t need not be affine, and will never be affine if f was optimal for example. If f_t exists as above, then this implies Conjecture 6.38, since we can travel along this one parameter family in the same manner as in the proof of Theorem 6.20 to produce the mapping g.

Supposing that Conjecture 6.38 is true, we take the f that minimizes #(f) for a fixed N. Then we know that this f is a monomial mapping by Proposition 6.37. By an argument similar to that in Proposition 6.27, we get the following.

Proposition 6.39. Let $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_N$ be a proper polynomial mapping of degree d. If Conjecture 6.38 is true, then

$$d \le \frac{2N-3}{2n-3},\tag{6.94}$$

and for $n \ge 3$, if $d \le 4$, or N < 4n - 3, or $n \ge 2d^2 + 2d$, then

$$d \le \frac{N-1}{n-1}.\tag{6.95}$$

Bibliography

- [Bed77] Eric Bedford, Holomorphic continuation of smooth functions over Leviflat hypersurfaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 232 (1977), 323–341. MR 58:1246
- [BER98] M. Salah Baouendi, Peter Ebenfelt, and Linda Preiss Rothschild, CR automorphisms of real analytic manifolds in complex space, Comm. Anal. Geom. 6 (1998), no. 2, 291–315. MR 99i:32024
- [BER99] _____, Real submanifolds in complex space and their mappings, Princeton Mathematical Series, vol. 47, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1999. MR 2000b:32066
- [BER00] _____, Local geometric properties of real submanifolds in complex space, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) **37** (2000), no. 3, 309–336. MR 2001a:32043
- [BG83] Eric Bedford and Bernard Gaveau, Envelopes of holomorphy of certain 2-spheres in \mathbb{C}^2 , Amer. J. Math. **105** (1983), no. 4, 975–1009. MR 84k:32016
- [BG99] Daniel Burns and Xianghong Gong, Singular Levi-flat real analytic hypersurfaces, Amer. J. Math. **121** (1999), no. 1, 23–53. MR 2000j:32062
- [Bis65] Errett Bishop, Differentiable manifolds in complex Euclidean space, Duke Math. J. **32** (1965), 1–21. MR 34:369
- [BM88] Edward Bierstone and Pierre D. Milman, Semianalytic and subanalytic sets, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1988), no. 67, 5–42. MR 89k:32011
- [Bog91] Albert Boggess, CR manifolds and the tangential Cauchy-Riemann complex, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1991. MR 94e:32035
- [Bru07] Marco Brunella, Singular Levi-flat hypersurfaces and codimension one foliations, preprint arXiv: math.CV/0701607, 2007.

- [D'A88] John P. D'Angelo, Polynomial proper maps between balls, Duke Math.
 J. 57 (1988), no. 1, 211–219. MR 89j:32032
- [D'A93] _____, Several complex variables and the geometry of real hypersurfaces, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1993. MR 94i:32022
- [D'A03] _____, Proper holomorphic mappings, positivity conditions, and isometric imbedding, J. Korean Math. Soc. 40 (2003), no. 3, 341–371. MR 2004e:32016
- [DKR03] John P. D'Angelo, Simon Kos, and Emily Riehl, A sharp bound for the degree of proper monomial mappings between balls, J. Geom. Anal. 13 (2003), no. 4, 581–593. MR 2004i:32028
- [DLP] John D'Angelo, Jiří Lebl, and Han Peters, *Degree estimates for polynomials constant on a hyperplane*, Michigan Math. J., to appear, preprint arXiv: math.CV/0609713.
- [DTZ] Pierre Dolbeault, Giuseppe Tomassini, and Dmitri Zaitsev, On boundaries of Levi-flat hypersurfaces in \mathbb{C}^n , to appear.
- [Far82] James J. Faran, Maps from the two-ball to the three-ball, Invent. Math.
 68 (1982), no. 3, 441–475. MR 83k:32038
- [Fla89] Harley Flanders, Differential forms with applications to the physical sciences, second ed., Dover Books on Advanced Mathematics, Dover Publications Inc., New York, 1989. MR 90k:53001
- [For89] Franc Forstnerič, Extending proper holomorphic mappings of positive codimension, Invent. Math. 95 (1989), no. 1, 31–61. MR 89j:32033
- [Gon04] Xianghong Gong, Existence of real analytic surfaces with hyperbolic complex tangent that are formally but not holomorphically equivalent to quadrics, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 53 (2004), no. 1, 83–95. MR 2005a:32042
- [HJ01] Xiaojun Huang and Shanyu Ji, *Mapping* \mathbb{B}^n into \mathbb{B}^{2n-1} , Invent. Math. **145** (2001), no. 2, 219–250. MR 2002i:32013
- [HJX06] Xiaojun Huang, Shanyu Ji, and Dekang Xu, A new gap phenomenon for proper holomorphic mappings from \mathbb{B}^n into \mathbb{B}^N , Math. Res. Lett. 13 (2006), no. 4, 515–529.
- [HJY01] Xiaojun Huang, Shanyu Ji, and Stephen S. T. Yau, An example of a real analytic strongly pseudoconvex hypersurface which is not holomorphically equivalent to any algebraic hypersurface, Ark. Mat. **39** (2001), no. 1, 75– 93. MR 2001m:32070

- [Hua99] Xiaojun Huang, On a linearity problem for proper holomorphic maps between balls in complex spaces of different dimensions, J. Differential Geom. 51 (1999), no. 1, 13–33. MR 2000e:32020
- [Leb] Jiří Lebl, Extension of Levi-flat hypersurfaces past CR boundaries, Indiana Univ. Math. J., preprint arXiv: math.CV/0612071.
- [Leb07] _____, Nowhere minimal CR submanifolds and Levi-flat hypersurfaces, J. Geom. Anal. **17** (2007), no. 2, 321–342, preprint arXiv: math.CV/0606141.
- [Loj91] Stanisław Lojasiewicz, Introduction to complex analytic geometry, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1991, Translated from Polish by Maciej Klimek. MR 92g:32002
- [Mal67] B. Malgrange, *Ideals of differentiable functions*, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research Studies in Mathematics, No. 3, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay, 1967. MR 35:3446
- [Mey06] Francine Meylan, Degree of a holomorphic map between unit balls from \mathbb{C}^2 to \mathbb{C}^n , Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **134** (2006), no. 4, 1023–1030 (electronic). MR 2006i:32017
- [MW83] Jürgen K. Moser and Sidney M. Webster, Normal forms for real surfaces in C² near complex tangents and hyperbolic surface transformations, Acta Math. 150 (1983), no. 3-4, 255–296. MR 85c:32034
- [Nag66] Tadashi Nagano, Linear differential systems with singularities and an application to transitive Lie algebras, J. Math. Soc. Japan 18 (1966), 398–404. MR 33:8005
- [NN57] A. Newlander and L. Nirenberg, Complex analytic coordinates in almost complex manifolds, Ann. of Math. (2) 65 (1957), 391–404. MR 19:577a
- [Pin75] S. I. Pinčuk, The analytic continuation of holomorphic mappings, Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 98(140) (1975), no. 3(11), 416–435, 495–496. MR 52:14371
- [SS03] Emil J. Straube and Marcel K. Sucheston, Levi foliations in pseudoconvex boundaries and vector fields that commute approximately with ∂, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 355 (2003), no. 1, 143–154 (electronic). MR 2003h:32058
- [Sta96] Nancy K. Stanton, Infinitesimal CR automorphisms of real hypersurfaces, Amer. J. Math. 118 (1996), no. 1, 209–233. MR 97h:32027
- [Sus73] Héctor J. Sussmann, Orbits of families of vector fields and integrability of distributions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 180 (1973), 171–188. MR 47:9666

- [Tum88] A. E. Tumanov, Extension of CR-functions into a wedge from a manifold of finite type, Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 136(178) (1988), no. 1, 128–139. MR 89m:32027
- [Whi72] Hassler Whitney, *Complex analytic varieties*, Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, Mass.-London-Don Mills, Ont., 1972. MR 52:8473